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COMMUTATION.

Information was received by Sherift Bogart from the Executive De-
partment on Thursday, June 8th, notifying him that the Governor had

commuted the sentence of Grorge E. CROzZIER to 1 mprismlment for life.

He will therefore be immediately taken to prison, and no further effort,

it 18 understood, will made to obtain a new trial.
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Fanny H. Crozier.



-

_- ;'le‘_ Fel _ 1 -
' 3. ‘.. GE. I e 1

r _' Iy # P
# oy i
Y + . _hj,-l h
F . i)
Ly b L Ir -‘."-\,HJ I.- 2

i "r.!"'.:l' ’ _-‘ L ot . ._:-.- A "._ :.“-,.-'I_:'_.:-'-. 3 iy -_ | ; N Sonsis i | | “
i ﬁl::ﬁl'll-* q;‘: 3 | - . .- :rIJ 3 'lr W ":::-.'-';-..-"'r '--. I. . "- 3 . '.-;_-_-__- L e it I'_ 3 --I_"__ o B T '-'I"_' eteer S L R ; LI 'r r S "
i ¥ L ¥ ; H e AU U . i Ité TAY !-. T '+ £

- ’
R

' -: ks ".:-;-L.:nh T .-".I‘ n BN, )
- _':'-:qr. -'tll_;b.f_-:t._r_l' ::"k' -.._. ll]. .'*-\. ”I.I,
G Ry T s s L:;_i_, b ST RN,
R b

R T .-ﬂ:".:' )
rﬂ'“#1 - Y

_1'.1‘___1 : *f.-‘: ._ : j':-‘.- - ek
TRUR N ARG
.';I. t._lﬁ\-.F'-"".';j.".,‘t ! -

e
-4.5"
'.I.-:e i

Ll
L S T :
Jen r:"?g*.f "F

{,:..1‘?,,,

y
iy

I_-
{5 o
T |
T

oY ol {1
s

i .A."-‘ Ijéi-:'l_*l'__ .l 1 I
] :' b .f\..l":__ T 3 i !
[ L I . o 1] N

h-‘- g ‘-' I: H it e
P S
Wiy .

t '.:;1 T ek -




CROZIER TRIAL. 5

- e — - - — s e B R SR LS B SRR SFoGTh G BN W @R — - e — - W - - ———— B - - - —— ——

GELEORGE E, ( 'ROAIFR.

Greorge E. Crozier was born in Benton in 1833, and is the youngest of two S0NS,
the only surviving children of Adam Crozier. His mother was Amy Southerland,
daughter of Joseph Southerland, and gra.ndda.ughter of David Southerland, the
pioneer of Potter. His ancestry on both sides were pious and moral people, from
whom it would not seem posslble that he should inherit any criminal tendencies.
The Croziers are a Scotch family, who ca.me as emigrants from their native country
in 1801, and settled in the town of Seneca. They were mdustrlous, religious and
exemplary people. David Crozier, the elder brother of George E, Croziér, is one of
the most worthy and highly respected citizens of Benton. George has never been
regarded as a man of the same solidity and gravity of character with his brother !
but previous to this affair nothing has indicated to the public that he was otherwise
than a man of fair integrity and moral rectitude. He has always had a somewhat
light and trivial bearing, has found his principal social pleasure in children and
youthful persons, and has never developed the stern and sober dignity of character
which belongs to his Scotch ancestry. = None could have believed him capable of
the awful crime of which he has been convicted; and if he is truly guilty, it reveals
an astonishing depravity of moral sentiment in a most unlooked for line of descent.
[f the weakness of his human virtue cries back to pre-natal conditions, it is the best
and only excuse for the atrocious deed with which he is charged. If it is the reck-
less perversion of a character naturally as good as the average of human society,
there is little to soften the severity of the judgment that must be visited upon him
by the fair verdict of the world. |

His counsel, Hon. Daniel Morris, about April 20th, presented a petition of 800 names
to Gov. Tilden requesting that George E. Crozier’'s sentence be commuted to impris-
~onment for life. The Governor gave him a respite till the 16th of June, and post-
poned his decision on the application for commutation,

George E. Crozier has constantly maintained his innocence, and insists that his
wife must have taken the poison by mistake or through a design to escape the pain
and distress of a cancer in the stomach. .

I



6 EVIDENCE IN THE
FANNIE H. CROZIER.

The wife of George E. Crozier was Fannie H. Becker, the niece and adopted
daughter of William Becker, She was married in 1855, at the age of nineteen, and
was a dutiful, decorous and loving wife. She was attractive in person and charac-
ter, and was justly and highly esteemed. The fact that she was making preparations
for the wedding of her son Frank, her only child, when seized with her fatal illness,
makes it difficult to believe that she wantonly or willingly destroyed her life by
deliberately taking poison to that end. That she loved her husband as she loved her
child, the testimony of her last hours gives ample proof. While she felt that she had
all the needed moral and spiritual preparation for death, she was not ready, in view
of her relations to her family and the duties that lay before her.

Her sudden demise was no ordinary surprise and no ordinary grief to her friends.
trer fine previous health, her ardent attachment to her family, and her usually
happy and equable temperament, made it difficult to realize as well as difficult to
‘account for. And hence the dark suspicions that speedilv arose, which have since
involved her husband in the terrible peril which confronts him.

, . MINERVA DUTCHER.

This young woman is the oldest of several children of Nathan Dutcher, a labor-
ing man, who has recently moved to the West. Nothing has called public attention
to her except her connection with this case, which may be as much her misfortune
as her fault. The reader will gather frcm the incidents of the trial enough to form,
perhaps, a just opinion of Jher culpability in this case. |



Minerva Dutcher.
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TRIAL OF GEO. E. CROZIER.
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I'he sudden death of Fanny H. Crozier on the 29th of July, 1875, with the cir-
cumstances preceding and attending the same, gave rise to suspicions that she had
not been fairly dealt with. The early and almost immediate renewal of intimacies
which had existed for some time between her husband, George E. Crozier, and
Minerva Dutcher, a young girl of the neighborhood, imparted a voice to these suspi-
cions, which grew louder and louder. The intimacy did not break off; and the
comments of the community became so distinct that District Attorney Henry M.
Stewart was impelled to make enquiries, which resulted in a resolution on his part
to direct a legal investigatign of the causes which led to the death of Fanny H.
Jrozier., Under his direction, Coroner Frank Tompkins, of Penn Yan, empaneled
the following Jury, citizens of the immediate neighborhood in Benton:

Samuel B. Gage, Almon C. Mallory, D. M. West,

John B. Lovejoy, William P. Scofield, Thomas W, Smith,
Aaron Laird, Peter C. Anderson, Daniel Millspaugh,
Henry Van Orden, John W. McAlpine, D. D. Hodge.

This jury met at Benton Center ¢n Thursday, October 28, 1875, to take the testi-
mony of Prof. Towler of Geneva, to whom the stomach of the deceased had been
taken for analysis; and by him it was proved that Fanny H. Crozier had come .0
her death by the administration of*drsenic. The inquest was adjourned to the Court
House in Penn Yan, and continued through Friday, Saturday and Monday following,
and again on Wednesday of the same week. Six of the jurors rendered a verdict
that Fanny H. Crozier came to her death by poison adminisiered by ber husband:
four believed that she died by poison administered by some person unknown; and
two that while the evidence was not conclusive of the guilt of George E. Crozier,
it points suspiciously to him as the cause of her death.

George E. Crozier was therefore taken into the custody of the Sheriff, to await
the action of the Grand Jurv, which met on the 22d of November foliowing. Henry
Collin of Benton was Foreman, and J. Warren Brown of Jerusalem, Clerk. They

presented an jodictment charging George E. Crozier with mwurder in the first
degree. Hon. David Rumsey, the Judge who presided at this term of the Oyer and
Terminer, adjourned it to the 6th day of March, 1876, for the purpose of this trial.
and an additional panel of 24 jetit jurors was drawn for the adjourned term.

The Court convened for the adjourned term on Monday March 6th: Hon. David
Rumsey Presiding Judge, Hon. Andrew Oliver County Judge, Joel M. Clark and
William C. Williams Justices of Sessions.

District Attorney Henry M. Stewart conducted ihe case for the penple assisted
by Edwin Hicks. Esq., of Canandaigua, Ex-District Attorney of Ontario county.
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Morris & Leary, of Penn Yan, conducted the defense, assisted by Samuel H.
Torrey, Esq., of Rochester, former U. S. District Attorney in New Orleans.

Forty-seven jurors were called, of whom nineteen were peremptorily challenged
on behalf of the people, and nine by the defense. Otherswere excused on the ground
of conscientious scruples against capital punishment.

The following named persons were upon due examination, accepted and sworn
in as the Jury:

Solomon D.-Crittenden............. Mo} Fover P, Pulver . 1458, .. Barrington.
JOoBn A LERDBORY . ... ool i e SOEREY . L ISR N JRNG. . o v e s Potter.
JOBD Wl L5 200G e Jerusalem. | John B. Miller ............. Barrington,
PR TR R B O T AR Jerusalem. | Thomas B. Curtis...............Starkey.
VWETHEI O WY AINOTE: o oo on e s 4 Starkey. | Claytqm Semans.............. .. Torrey.

BINOEY BNOPE i shis iy onsonni Potter. | Petergm. Dinturfl .........c.iii... Potter.

The first day of the Court was consumed in empaneling the jury, and the trial
opened on Tuefsday. March 7.

TUESDAY FORENOON.

The Court conveued at 9 o'clock, and the little court-room was soon filled to
repletion by eager spectators, curious to witness the spectacle of a man on trial for
his life. The jury were ushered in by their special custodian, looking bright and
cheerful—a good-looking and more than respectable specimen of a rural jury, com-
posed chiefly of substantial farmers. The prisoner, Mr. Crozier, was soon brought
in and seated himself by his counsel.

Several witnesses for the People Wem called, but not being present. District
Attorney Stewart began his,

Opening Address

to the jury. He gave thelegal detinitions of and distinctions between the different
degrees of the crime of murder; and dwelt forcibly upon the exceptional magnitude
and heinousness of taking human life in the cold-blooded®, premeditated manner of
the poisoner. He alluded to the fact that he had heard it said it was difficult to
convince a jury in Yates county of the guilt of an accused person in such a case as
this, or on circumstantial eyidence, but he could not and did not believe that a jury
here would be wilfully oblivious to the evidence as presented. If, he said, strong
and conclusive circumstantial evidence would not be accepted by a jury in such a
case, then it would be impossible to have justice done or any guilty administrator
of poison convicted, for such diabolical work is invariable done in the dark—
stealthily, secretly, silently. The indictment charges the prisoner with administer-
ing to the deceased white arsenic, on or about the.15th day of July, 1875, from the
effects of which she became ill, but partially recovered. On the night of the 27th of
July, she was more seriously attacked, and the next day a physician (Dr. Barber)
prescribed for her, regarding the trouble as Gastritis, Subsequently Dr. Barber
prescribed again, giving or sending some white powders, which the accused took in
his possession. Further medicine was sent; and finally, on the 29th of July, ensu-
ing Mrs. Crozier died. The theory of the prosecution is that the accused substituted
arsenic for the white powders sent as a medicine by the physician, and this they
propose to show by circumstantial evidence.

" When, said Mr. Stewart, we look for an adequate motive for the commission of
such a terrible crime on the part of the husband to a loving, pure, and faithful wife,
we find it in the fact of his illicit infatuation with another woman which had
thoroughly perverted his moral nature—an intimacy which had become scandalous-
ly notorious in his neighborhood—and to more fully and unrestrictedly indulge
that base passion he deliberately took Mrs. Crozier’s life. The facts were then refer-
red to in reference to the postmortem examination, and Prof. Towler’s analysis of
the stomach and liver of the deceased, and the discovery of white arsenic there, in
ample quantities to destroy life. |
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MRS, SARAH J. TOWNER

gworn on behalf of the people, and testified: That she knew George E. Crozier and
Fanny H., his wife; they resided in Benton Center; was present at the death of
Mrs. Crozier; ‘she died July 29th, 1875; Mrs. Bushnell, Mrs. Squires, Dr. Barbér,
Mrs. Ann Truesdell, David Crozier and wife, George E. Crozier and his son, Mr.
Towner, Walter Becker and wife, Mr. and Mrs. Armstrong and Miss Emma Arm-
strong were also presenf when she died. Mrs. Bushnell, Mrs. Beécker, Mrs, Trues-
dell, Mrs. Mariner and myself assisted in laying out the remains. (No cross-
exaamination.)
ROBERT POOL

was called and sworn on behalf of the peo ple and testified: I have charge of the
cemetery at Benton Center; in October, 1875, I exhumed the remains of Mrs. Crozier
under the direction of Coroner Tompkins; there were present when the body was
taken from the grave, Dr. Barber, Samuel B. Gage, Elder Mallory, Mr. Towner, Dea.
McAlpine, Dr. Waddell, Henry Woodhull, and others; the coffin was taken from the
grave and opened; Dr. Waddell then removed a portion of the stomach and the
coffin was then closed up and put back in the grave and covered up; we then left
and were gone about fifteen minutes when we returned with the Coroner and Dr.
Waddell; we opened the grave again and Dr, Waddell went down into the grave,
and removed a part of the liver. 5 AR e |

& i HENRY WOODHULL

gworn for the people safrs: I assisted Mr. Pool in exhuming the bod} of Mrs.
Crozier. (Mr. Woodhull’s testimony was substantially the same as that of Mr. Pool.)

DR. FRANK TOMPKINS

sworn for the people and testified as follows: Am a physician: reside in Penn Yan:
am one of the Coroners of the county; about the 18th of October, 1875, I was
summoned to the grave of Mrs. Crozier, in Benton, for the purpose of disinterring
her remains; my examining surgeons, Drs. Barber and Waddell, and the jory ]
empanneled. Mr. Pool and Mr. Woedhull; and others were Eresent; I had the grave
| c?ened and the casket removed from the grave, and the body opened and a portion
of it removed; Drs. Waddell and Barber performed the operation; we intended. to
remove the stomach, but removed the lungs and heart, supposing it to be the
stomach; we went to the grave a second time and removed the stomach and a portion
of the liver; these portions were delivered to me: I put them in a jar and sealed
them and delivered the same to Prof. Towler of Geneva, for analysis: the remainps
were much de_compoﬂed and very offensive. o ’ % | vri Ol &
- Cross-examination—I summoned the jnry before going to the cemetery; purchased
two new fruit jars in Penn Yan before going to Benton, in which to place the
stomach; personally superintended the disinterment; Dr. Waddell removed  the
stomach and liver under my direction; by mistake the heart and lungs were re-
moved the first time; upon discovering this we returned to the cemetery and
procured the stomach and a portion of the liver, &
-~ Re-direct—The liver was in a collapsed state; removed about one-eighth of its
bulk for analysis. |
DR. JAMES M. WADDELL

sworn for the people: Am a physician; on the occasion spoken of by Dr. Tompkins

I was ordered Ey im to remove the stomach of Mrs. Crozier; by mistake 1 removed

- the heart and a portion of the lungs, instead of the stomach: when we discovered
the mistake we returned and procured the proper organs from the body. . =

SARAH J. TOWNER

re-called and further examined by Mr. Hicks—Have known Mr. and Mrs. Crozier
from childhood; live about two miles from their house; went to Crozier’'s July 27th,
1875, to make a friendly call; found Mrs. Crozier in bed, sick; when I went there
George was sitting on the porch; I asked him where Mrs. Crozier was, he said, “‘in
there” pointing to the bedroom, (The witness then gave a detailed statement of the
location of the various rooms of the house.) I went into the bedroom: found Fanny
in bed; she appeared to beé in great distress and was vomiting; I placed my hand
on her stomach: George approached and said, “don’t touch her there, it hurts her
there”; I heardher vomiting before I went into the bedroom; I remained about one
hour; I think defendant took the vessel containing the vomit and went out with it.
The contents of the basin appeared frothy with a bluish or gravish cast: Gea, was

. B
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out and in once or twice while I was there; I think I proposed giving her some
bran-water ; Dolly Crozier came in while I'was there ; she vomited two or three
times while 1 was there : she complained of a burning sensationin herstomach, and
a great pain in her back ; she had her hand on her throat ; she said she had worked
hard all day and was so sick at the stomach ; I saw & liquid in a tumbler or tea-cup
on the bureau or stand ; I think he, Crozier;, gave her a teaspoonfull of it ; saw her
vomit after taking the medicine ; George went back to the stoop and set down ;1
asked him why he did net have a doctor ; he said it would be of no use, it would do
her.no good : I asked Fanny why she did not have a doctor; she said George
would’nt ; I went to him the second time and asked him why he did not get a
doctor ; he did not say anything in reply, but went into the bedroom : George was

ale and he acted somewhat cool towarga me ; he seemed excited ; he was in the
hedroom every few minutes while I was there; when I went home I left Mrs. Dolly
(rozier there : GeorZe said hecould take care of Fanny himself and it was not
necessary for me to stay ; I went to the house again on Wednesday morning.

The Court here took a recess to 2 P, M. | | Ty oo

Tuesday Afternoon.

Direct examination was continued by Mr. Hicks.—I got there Wednesday between
eight and nine o’clock ; Mrs., Squires was with me ; Mr, and Mrs. David Croizer were
there ; I asked Fanny how she felt, she said about the same ; I remained about half
an hour ;' when I left- Mrs. Squires and Mrs, Crozier were there; I thought she
appeared weaker than she did the night. before ; saw no medicine given her at this
time ; I went to Crozier’s again Thursday morning at about 8 o'clock ; Mrs. Walter
Becker went with me ; we found Ann Truesdell, Mrs. Squires, Dolly Crozier and her
husband and George and hisson there ; she appeared very much worse : said she was
thirsty and called %0’1’* ice ; ghe said my stomach and back hurt mie 8o ; her voice
seemed unnatural but quite strong ; she daid she could'nt see, but knew my voice.
The pupil of her eéyes was contracted and looked dull; she died shortly after two
o'clock ; before she died she called for George and said to him, oh, GeorgeT love
you so much, and he said there there don’'t worry about that now, and she replied:
I am not worrving George : he sat on the side of the bed ; he spoke in rathera loud:
tone of voice 7 on Thursday morning she was very weak and prostrated ;do not think
she was able to get up at thistime'; her body was spotted ; her limbs were purple up
to the joints ; there was purple spots on her face at times ; her hands were cold and
clammy ; I was there when Doctor Allen camie, a short time’ before she ‘died ; he
requested that she be removed into the parlor where she could get'more air ; George
ag_pmved_it: can’t say é'uﬂt what he said ; sHe was taken into the ‘parlor ; after Mrs.

ier's death I saw eor%é’go' into the pantry ; he went in and came directly out
and went to the burean in the bedroom ; e’ asked if they wanted any jewelry and
he said if not he wanted to lock the bureatt drawer; 'and kept' it loeked ; his right
hand was partially closed when he ‘¢ome out of the pantry.  1knew Minerva
Dutcher ; have known her folir years ; shé is about 18 yvears of age. = :

_The defense objected to any investigation of any criminal intimacy between the
defendant and the person mentioned as immaterial, unléss it is shown that it was
b}r\ought to the knowledge of his wife, and was the cause of controversy between
them. K. CHRARIL o
Prosecution proposed to prove acts of improper intimacy between the defendant

i1 B

and the person named, and neglect of his wife. Decision reserved. . |
_ Cross Examination by Mr, Morris. —1I claim to be an aunt of F&l}nyﬁ, though she
was the adopted daughter of my sister ; the first time I was at Crozier's, George said
he had been to the Doctor’s and got some medicine ; he said to me that I could tell
the Doctor to come up : [ got word to.the Doctor and he went there at once I sup-
Posed : Tuesday evening when I was there she said she had worked hard the day
efore, and had eaten some berries and onions for'supper; I theught it strange at the
timme that he should lock the burean drawer. oda ovil boodblid |

DR. GEORGE M. BARBER

Sworn for the people and testified : Am a physcian ; have practiced medicine for 10
vears ;: know George and Mrs, Crozier; have been their family physician about seven
vears ; was present at the disinterment of the body of Mrs. Crozier in October last ;
I did not go back to the grave the second time : [ assisted Doetor Waddéll the
first timne ; on the 15th of July Mr, and  Mrs., Crozier called at. my office ;
I enquired and learned she had a difficulty of  stomlach; 1
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prescribed for her; I prescribed a solution of bismuth ; gave her three or four
Dover powders and some cathartiepills, @nd ‘told heér to take the solution three or
four times a day, and the pills one at night. On the morning of July 27th, George
came to me and said Fanny was siek again; I saw her in the evening of that day; I
*%;ggo George to take to her some powders of sub-nitrate of bismuth; about noon
‘came and said his mother was no better and wanted me to send her some
more medicme:; I sent some of the liquor of bismuth reduced, to be taken every
half hour, until she became easier; I went to see her on the evening of that day;
Mr. or Mrs. Towner came for me; I got there about 9 o’cloek; I found her suffering
from inflammation of the stomach, with rapid pulse, skin ‘and' throat dry; very
sensitive over the pit of the stomach; she said she was taken the night previous
with vomiting: she vomited while I was there; she vomited a pint or more of mat-
ter; some one present expressed surprise at its peculiar appearance, it being blué;
George said, that is nothing; is it? he said he had seen the same before and
asked me if I. hadn’t, .. I prepared a prescription. of ten drops tincture
aconite, ten ipecac and one-quarter grain morphine; a teaspoonful to be taken every
half hour: left the medicine on the table; I think she vomited two or three times
while I was there that evanin%; I went there again at 9 or 10 o’clock next morning;
I found she had vomited less frequently, but still complained of pain and heat in her
stomach and back, and thirst; she complained very much; she had been Eurgi.n
from about 3 o'clock; 1 was there about'bg,erhalf hour; she was taking the
powders every four hours; 1. recommended they be discontinued; I prepared a
solution of aconite and water; fifteen drops toa teacupful; I think to be taken each
hour; I left it on the table; George was in the room at the time; I went there again
Thursday morning at 6 o’clock; David came for me and said Fanny was worse; I
found her almost pulseless; a difficulty in speaking, her tongue partially paralyzed,
loss of vision, pupil very much contracted, could not see across the room; extreme-
ties were cold; pain and heat in her stomach and back, extending to her bowels; I
thought she was in a dying condition; everything indicated dissolution; I remained
there till after her death; George said Fanny was very restless during the night,
and he had thought best to give her.one of the Dover’s powders: about noon Thurs-
day George and I were at David’s barn; David came out and said Fanny would not
last long, and Geerge said to me, if Fanny died he didn't want any examination
made of her body, as she told: him in case of her death she never wanted her bo
cutup, as another young ladies’ was a few years ago. Arsenical poisoning produces
inflammation when taken in nous doses: nausea and burning sensation in the
the stomach and throat, rapid pulse, dry, hot skin are the prominent hsgm toms of
arsenical poisoning, and sometimes paralysis, blindness and purging; Mrs, Crozier’s
health was gquite good prior to 15th of July. g
 Cross-Examination by Mr. Morris—Fanny stated to me on 15th that she thought
the cause of her sickness was eating cucumbers; on the 27th she attributed her
sickness to overwork, and eating berries; one of the symptoms of oning by
arsenic is defect of sight and ultimate blindness; an overdose of bismuth would tend
to increase the inflammation; on Wednesday mominge the vomiting had ﬂwi
ceased; I then made up three or four more powders, to '

1Ismuth

_ given every four hours;

also left tincture of aconite in solution: I found her worse on Thursday morning;
dying from ordinary inflammatory disease we ‘don’t find -.ar-ﬂgqtted appearance asin
case of death by arsenic.: Mr. Morris proposed to show the declarations of deceased
that she had a cancer: !5 ounce aconite would produce death; I prescribed 4 a drop
in a teaspoonful of water: sub-nitrite of bismuth' is a sedative and used to allay

inflammation; a fatal dose of arsenic is from two to four grains.

DR. JAMES H. ALLEN,

Sworn for the people and examined by Mr, Stewart: Am a physician and su n
of 20 years' practice: reside at Gorham, Ontario Co.; was present at the d of
Fanny Crozier: T 'went there a short timne before she died; found her in a d; con-
dition; T did not know what ailed her; we could not account, after talking with Dr.
- Barber, for the vomiting and pain in the stomach and logs of vision, and pain in
her back; suggestéd that she be moved into the parlor, which was done; the sym
toms of arsenical poisoning are ﬂamea.--pdiﬂ in the stomach, vomiting, pains in the
back and all over the system, and sometimes convulsions and burning sensations;
aconite is given as an antiphlogistic and sedative: there is arsenic in the crude bis-
muth. but it is eliminated in its preparation as a medicine; I use it in cases of stom-
ach difficulties, GBI v A 1 TR L B | ~
* Court adjourned till 9 &. M. Wednesday.
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Cross-examined—Have known Georg'e E. Crezier three or four years; have made
no special study of the effects of poison; an overdose of aconite inflames the stomach
—also an overcf:)se of bismuth; Mrs. Crozier recognized me when I went to see heron
the day she died; suggested to Dr. Barber that a small dose of morphine be given her
to alleviate pain; did not examine the patient to diagnose the case, as she was then
in'a dying condition; would not prescribe sub-nitrate of bismuth or aconite in cases
of acute inflammation of the stomach. |

DR. GEORGE M. BARBER,

Recalled and further examined by Mr. Stewart—Wednesday morning I left the
powders and solution in a teacup on the table, and left directions to those in the
room how they were to be given; George and Mrs. Squires were in the room: I had
a package of thisg sub-nitrate of bismuth in my office, out of which I gave medicine
to other patients, and it had a good effect. | |

- Cross-examined.—The effects of the medicine were not (glood in the case of Mrs.
Crozier; I purchased the sub-nitrate of bismuth of Dr. Bordwell ; when I fixed the

wders and laid them on the table George was standing within a few feet of me ;

have known George Crozier seven or eight years; he has had the nervous affection
about the eye, the same now as when 1 first knew him; I think I did not give direc-
_tions about the medicine to any particular person; George and Mrs. Squires were in
- the room at the time, _ | i |
| ‘DR. JOB S. STEVENS,

Called and sworn on behalf of the people, and testified as follows: Am a physician
and surgeon; reside in the town of Milo; have practiced medicine about 30 years;
am a graduate of Geneva Medical College; sub-nitrate of bismuth 18 in common use
as a medicine; it is usually given in gastric difficulties; it is supposed to be a sedative;
I have never known any poisonous effects to be %roduced_ by it; we understand that
the process of manufacture entirely eliminates the arsenic: arsenical poisoning pro-
duces a burning sensation in stomach and throat and vomiting and prostration; the
tongue and mouth become parched; the vomit is frequently dark colored: inflam-
mation of the stomach may produce purging or constipation; aconite is a vegetable
reparation; the medical effect is to relieve irritation; 14 drop might be given every
- half hour without bad effect. L CID G DI | LT 3
Cross-examination by Mr. Morris—Inflammation of stomach will produce
vomiting, and may purging; it is not usual for death to result from that disease
alone in three or four days; if ifritants were added, inflammation would be in-
creased and death hastened; an overdose of bismuth will act as an irritant; aconite
-~ becomes a local irritant in overdoses; I wouldnotapply aslarge a dose of an irritant -
where there ig acute inflammation; bismuth taken into the stomach of a person in
" 'good health would produce irritation if taken in an overdose; poison taken into the
- stomach is taken up and passed into the blood and eliminated; inflammation renders
the stomach more susceptible to poison; when the absorption is greater than the
“elimination, injurious results follow; the books say that tincture of aconite in over
«doses is very poisonous, and produces prostration and dimness ot sight.

PROF. JOHN 8, TOWLER, -

‘8worn for the people, and examined by Mr. Hicks—I am Professor of Chemistry
and Toxicology in the Medical College of Geneva, and Professor of Mathematics,
&ec., in the University of Syracuse; have been a practical uhen}ist_ since [ entered
- Jife as a man,  Dr. Tompkins brought to me a - jar, sealed: said it contained the
- stomach and. part of the liver of Fanny Crozier, on the 19th of October last. 1 was
requested to make the proper analysis for the investigation of poison. On examin-
- ing the contents ef the jar I found the human stomach and a small piece of liver. 1
fonnd no contents, except that the viscus was covered inside with a dark,slimy sub-
stance. The viscus is the sac or bag which contains the contents of the stomach.
In one part; as large as my hand, the mucous membrane of the stomach was detach-
ed. I found in the slimy material a white powder; also in one corner of the
stomach a round lump, nearly as large as the egg of a hen, composed of mucous
~membrane and blood, mixed with this white-lﬁ»wdﬂr._ 1 obtained a number of specks
of this white powder and examined them with a microscope, and obtained a few
crystals of arsenious acid, or white arsenie, .. I scraped . off a jsmall portion of thé
dark, slimy substance, placed it in an evaporating dish, applied pure hydrochloric
acid, heated it to a boiling temperature, and then placed in the mixture a coil of
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copper wire. The wire immediately became corroded with a dark-colored coating.
[ then took this coil out, placed it in water, washed it well,~repeating the water
often,—then placed them in sulphuric ether to dissolve the fatty  substance; then
put them on blotting paper and driéd them in the sun : then placed them in test-
tubes and applied heat. After the application of heat there was a distinct arsenical
smell, which the chemist can always recognize. ' There was produced white vapor,
which attached itself to the inside of the tube. - I then applied the heat furvher:
. down, between the little spires and the white deposit in the tube, and applied heat
below, and drove the deposit higher in the tube, near the orificg. 1 broke off apiece
containing the white degosit, and have several specimens with me. (1 7ANiaTm)
| The specimens were here produced by the witness.| "

These specimens all show the crystals of arsenious acid when placed under the
microscope: other parts I placed in pure nitric acid in anevaporating dish and boiled
down the nitric acid so as to oxidize the arsenious acid and convert it into arsenic
acid; T added a drop or two of water and a drop of a solution of nitrate of silver.
By this process I obtained a brick-red deposit. ~All these steéps indicate the presence
of arsenious acid in the stomach in this slimy material. is was a prelimina
experiment. 1then repeated the same experiment with a portion of the liver and
obtained the same results and have the specimens with me. The liveralso contained
arsenious acid. I then took most of the stomach and poured upon it a quantity of pure
hydrochloric acid and heated it nearly to a boiling heat, having a tube connected to
collect any of the vapor which might., over it; After cooling, 1 filtered the
liquid portion and poured into the vessel a quantity of water and filtered that also.
I had a large quantity of solution highly colored, most like dark tea. 1 passed
through this liquid a current of sulphate of hydrogen gas for some time, This pro-
duced a precipitate of a dark color. After I got all the precipitate 1 could, 1
allowed 1t to become heated; again set it aside, and then filtered through a paper -
filter, receiving upon the paper the deposit. ' I knew that this depeosit on the paper
must, of necessity, contain a deposit of sulphide of arsenie, having found arsenious
acid before. 1 knew the deposit I had, if it contained sulphide of arsenic, was
soluble in sulphide of armonia, and that the sulphide of bismuth was not. Thus,
therefore, pouring a dilution of ammonia upon the paper I obtained a solution which
] supposed must be a solution of sulphide of arsenic. I evaporated this solution to
dryness. It was of a darkish yellowish color. The color of sulphide of arsenic is
bright yellow. Iacounted for thisdark color from the fact that it contained organic
matter. I treated it with mitric acid,which decomposes the sulphide of argenic and
changed it to arsenic acid. ~ Still I had the dark color. I then proeeeded according
to best method directed, and took the dry material. - White arsenic is almost in-
soluble; arsenic acid is not. White arsenic is sometimes crystalized; arsenie acid
is not crystalized. I took this mixture, after being boiled several times with nitric
acid,which decomposed the sulphide of arsenic and converted it into arsenmic aeid,
and I evaporated it to dryness. I then mixed it with & quantity of pure carbonate
of soda, rubbing up with a bone spatula. Before mixing it I weighed it. * The dry
arsenic acid weighed more than a drachm. I mixed the mixture with carbonate of
soda, rubbed out the dish well'with these powders, and placed the mixture ina por-
celain crucible, I placed that crucible, half filled, on the top®of a clean fire, and
heated it to redness.and added now and then a few more particles of nitrate of soda.
By this process we get an arseniate of soda,with no organic material. This material
is in the purest form for perfﬁrmin%the next operation, namely, Marsh’s test, which
consists in mounting a vessel half ‘filled with water and pure sulphuric acid, and
using pure zinc, so as to make hydrogen gas. As soon as it Operated longenough I
lighted the gas, and it produced a flame. I tried this flame to see whether it was
pure. Iallowed the flame to play upon a poreelain dish, and found not the slightest
mark of arsenic—proving that there was no arsenic in my materials. Iadded a so-
lution of arseniate of soda. Soon after the lame became of a lavender color. "I
allowed the flame to play upon the 'evaiﬂrating dish, and produced large specks of
metallic arsenic, and obtained the specks in abundance, " A large qnﬁntiqy‘ aped;
but I had a sufficiency. T took some of the specks and applied nitric acid and bot-
tled it—thus converting the metallic arsenic into arsenic acid—and evaporafing 1t to
dryness, applied two drops of water and a drop of nitrate of silver. a'.!'u_i obtained
the red brick deposit, indicating the arseniate of silver.' All these experiments show
the presence of arsenic, e . :

I performed, first Branch’s process. Second, the Sulphur process, and third
Marsh’s process. I have specimens of with me of metallic specks and of arsenious
acid obtained both from the liver and from the slimy material in the stomach.

[The specimens were here produced.] I produced arsenious acid crude from_the
stomach itself before I made any experiments. = It was unabsorbed. . In the slimy
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material I found some bismuth, and in that I found arsenious acid, crude, unab-
sorbed, Arsenious agid is the lower oxide of arsenic. Arvsenic acid the higher.
Only arsenious acid crystalized. I have made five or six experiments with sub-ni-
trate of bismuth, but did not find arsenic in any form whatever. When arsenic is
taken into the stomach it is taken into the circulation and that is what we call
absorption. I also produced white arsenic from the liver. That shows that death
was most likely produced by its being absorbed. | ;
~There are 60 grains in a drachm ; five grains of arsenic, I should think, would
certainly produce death; less might. ¥ X
Cross-examined by Mr. Morris—I did not weigh the substance brought to me by
Dr; Tompkins. 1 found in the jar brought me viscus of the stomach, the slimy
material and a portion of the liver; I preserved it all and analyzed it: I now have it
at the college: it is too offensive to bring here; in my analysis 1 used hydrochloric
acid, zinc, water, nitrate of silver, and nitric acid; 1 probably used a dozen vessels
in my analysis; no one assisted me in the analysis; 1 never allow any interference:
I have never found any arsenic in sub-nitrate of bismuth; have analyzed five or six
specimens by the same process.I nsed with the stomach, and found none, -
- Court took a recess until 2 P, M.

- ——— - T - + - e e e———m————

Wednesday Afternoon.
KEMMA CROZIER '

sworn for the people testified: Am the wife of Frank Crozier, the son of the pris-
oner; was marrvied August Sth, 1875, and have lived at the house of defendant since;
before my marriage I lived with my father, David Armstrong, one mile south of
Crozier’s; I remember a conversation with George in regard to Fanny's death; he
said he was afraid she had taken arsenic; said he had some in the house for the
purpose of killing rats: said it was in the pantry and he went, after her death; to
gee if it was there, and it was all gone, ang he was afraid she had taken it; he said
he was afraid she had done it because she was afraid she had acancerin herstomach,
and if she had, she was going to put herself out of the way; this conversation was
three or four weeks after her death; I had a conversation with the defendant in jail
as to what I could testify to here: he asked me if Fanny hadn’t ever told me she
would take arsinic if she had acancerin her stomach; T told him she hadnot, and he
asked me if I wouldn’t say so; he was speaking in reference toswearing asa witness
here: he asked me if I wouldn't swear for him,and I told him Iwould tell the truth,
if that was for him; when I told him I had not heard her say so, he asked me if |
wouldn't-say she had told me s0; he said if 1 would only swear for him, I never
should want for anything; the conversation about the arsenic in the pantry was
before Mrs, Crozier was taken up. |

Cross-examination—My maiden name was Emma Armstrong; have not talk
with my father upon this subject; at the time of the eonversation in the pantry
there was rumors gothg around about Fanny’s having been poisoned; George asked
me if I had heard the stories going around, and then he said he was afraid she had
taken arsenic because she smcf she was afraid she had a cancer in her stomach, and
if she had she would put herself out of the way; he said the arsenic was kept In a
vial or bottle on 4 shelf in the pantry; he found the vial but there was nothing in
it; have not talked with my mother frequently on this subject; have said that I
wanted justice done. B |

o (i} lom ha ISAAC N. GAGE, .
sworn for the people ; I reside near Bellona in the town of Benton, about a mile
from the prisoner’s house. Between the 10th and 24th of last July the, prisoner
came along where my son and I were at work on the road. He appeared consid-
orably excited and said York’s dog came out at him when he came along. He said
he was going to kill the dog and had the stuff to do it, and took a small vial out of
his pocket of a whitish color. He said he had got so he didn’t care for anything:
I should think it was a 4 or 14 ounce vial.

BLOOMER R. GAGE,

sworn, testified to the same occurrence as the last witness.
SR U Y GHARLES T. FITCH.

s‘woi-n for the ;;]eopla, testified—Am R. R. agent at Bellona Station; know the
defendant. On the occasion spoken of by the last witness Crozier came to me and
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said York’s dog had come out at him and frightened him, and he wanted to borrow

my revolver to shoot the dog.
SARAH 8. TOWNER,

recalled and further testified as follows : I have seen Geo. Crozier write and
hand notes to Minerva Dutcher at several different times during the past year. |
cannot give any month ordate. I have seen him hand notes to her in the Baptist
Church at Benton Centre ; he sat behind her in the choir and wrote notes and
handed them to her. I noticed her particularly because the rattling of the paper
annoyed me. I have seen him conversing with her 3 different times in the gallery:
when 1 went into the gallery they separated and he went and sat down. These
things occurred the year preceding Mrs. Crozier’s death.

Cross-examination—I can’t state time when first note was written ; but it was
within the past year ; best of the choir were present : my husband, David Crozier,
George Crozier, Walter Becker, Ann Truesdell, Mrs. Mallory, Mr. and Mrs. Towner
and myself composed the choir. Mmerva Dutcher was not a member of the choir.
Minerva sat at the right of George; several persons were between them. He passed
the note to her in a book ; the first note he wrote and folded and put in a hymn
book and shoved it to the-end of the seat. Minerva took it and opened it. The
third occurrence was about the same thing ; I thought he acted a little sly in passing
the notes. These occurrences were quite a while before Fanny's death.

CATHERINE SQUIRES.

if

sworn for the people and examined by Mr. Hicks: 1 reside in Benton in this
county, nearly one mile and a half from the prisoner., I was first informed of
Fanny’s illness the Tuesday night preceding her death. I went there Wednesday
morning. the 18th July. Mrs. Towner went with me. I think Mrs. Dolly Crozier
was in the room when we went there ; but no other person. Fanny was sitting up:
and Dolly was making her bed. She sat up long enough for her beéd to be made ;
and we helped her into bed. She was very weak., Iremained there until after ner
death., They had no nurse or servant about the house. 1 was there when Dr.
Barber came Wednesday morning. George was also there, There was a stand, a
bureau and a closet in the bedroom : the closet stood at the foot of the bed ; the
stand at the head of the bed ; the bureau was on the north side of the room. Wed-
nesday morning I observed a teacup on the stand with a teaspoon init. I saw no
other medicine at that time, I gave Mrs. Crozier the solution in the tea cup from
time to time, according to directions. There was other medicines given her ; in
the form of a powder. 1 saw no powders whileé I was there, in the bedroom ; the
Doctor came there soon after I arrived, on Wednesday. He called for a teacup,
that was standing on the stand, and asked me to throw the contents out ; and get
some water, Idid so, and he prepared asolution and gave me the directions. Mgrs.
Crozier asked the Dr. if she could have some ice water : he told her she could have
ice water ; or ice to hold in her mouth : they had no ice <« and the Dr. told George
where he could find it ; just before he started for the ice I said to him is there in the
tea cup all the medicine there is to be given? George said no, there is
powder to be given ; but don’t have any thing ‘to do with the powder :
no one has any thing to do with the powder but myself ; I prepared the powder ;
Fanny had vomited before the ice was spoken of ; sﬁe spoke frequently and said, 1
am 50 sick at my stomach ; she appeared to be in great distress ; when she vomited
[ held the vessel for her ; sometimes she raised herself up on her elbow and some-
times I lifted her up ; the matter vomited was a darkish color, rather peculiar 1
thought ; I cannot describe it ; the defendant came back with the ice before noon ;
George Crozier gave her a ﬁowder about noon; I did not see him prepare it ; he
came out of the pantry with it prepared; before giving it he said it was time to give
her the powder; he had a teaspoon with scraped apple in it; he gave it to her; I saw
her take 1t; he stayed in. the bedroom only long enough to give her the powder; I
next saw him at dinner; after taking the powder her symptons were retching and
vomiting: she vomited two or three times after taking the powder; she then com-
plained of great burning in her stomach and distress in her back, and called for
water fre?]uently; she vomited about a teacupfull;it was of greenish color; did not at
this time hear him say anything to his wife; he paid no attention to her during these
paroxysms of vomiting; another powder was given her by George between 614 and "
o’clock that night: George gave his wife no attention whatever between the time of
giving the powders:.-before the second powder was given heard George say it was
time to give her another powder, and he would go and fix it; he went into the
pantry and I into the bedroom; he was gone five miinutes or more; then I went into
the pantry where he was; the pantry is off the dining room; George stood a little
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south of the window; when I went in I saw George standing in front of the shelf;
as [ went up to him he took up a teaspoon in his hand and turned partially around
from me; he turned from me and I turned and looked into the dish-cupboard and
passed out into the bedroom: I did not say anything to him, nor he to me: 1 observed
an apple there that he had scraped from, and that was all I saw; saw him wipe off
his knife he had scraped apple with: he wipe, it on" his pants: he came out of the
pantry in a few momeuts and gave her the powder; she swallowed it after a good
deal of exertion; he asked her to take the powder; he said then, Fanny you must take
your powder; she said, oh, George, I can’t take it; he said, you must take it; she said
she eould not swallow it, it sticks in my throat: after she had taken it he gave her
some water and said how did that taste? did it have any taste? She said a little; he
sald she must swallow it down, she should never chew her medicine; his manner
was rather cool: I thought indifferent; he spoke in rather a loud tone of voice; he
sat on the stoop a' good deal of the time that evening and smoked; after taking the
powder Fanny vomited a little; she still complained of a burning in her stomach
and bowels and in her back, and called for water: I think she vomited three time,
after taking the powder—not throwing off any thing but a watery substance with-
out much color toit; George took the bowl containing the substance womited to a
light in the sitting room and looked at it and said ‘“‘she didn’t vomit that up this
time;"’ after the second powder was given she appeared very weak and prostrated;
she spoke and said, “Aunt, I don’t know but my time is nearly come, or almost
come; I didn’'t know I was going to die o soon; I don’t feel ready to die.” She said
there was many things she would like tosay and do; then she said ‘“‘Frank, Frank,
m&r dear boY' Frank, I love him, I'love you all.”” Then George came in and she said
“(veorge, I love you too.”” He said, ‘‘there, Idon’t want to liear any more about
that,” and passed out; he came in again, and she said, ‘‘1 don’t feel hardly ready to
die vet,” and he said, well you are as ready as any one for death; he said something
4 e effect, that “1f sue wasn’t ready to die. he didn’t know who was;” he didn’t
manifest any sorrow, or any [-eling; after he left the pantry to give this powder, 1
went back then for the purpose of fooking‘ around a little; I did not find anything; I
stayed there Wednesday night; did not go to bed; she grew worse very rapidly;:
about 11 o’clock there seemed .0 be a marked .change in her countenance; it
seemed to have a purplish cast. and her eye bglls were swollen and red: don’t think
she vomited any after 10 o’clock; purging commenced more rapidly than before at
between 10 and 11 o’clock that night; I got her up about 2 o'clock in the mornin
to brake her bed; with my assistance she stood up long enough to turn around an
sit down in a chair; after I put L:er back into her bed, she spoke and said ‘“‘are you
ﬁittin%' here in the dark; why don’t you have a li_ght ?” there was a lamp standing
near the window, and one near the door in the dining room: she lay quietly a little
while and then said ‘‘turn up those lights and make it light —it is so gloomy without
a light,” I said there are two laymps burning one by the window and one by the door;
she rubbed her eyes and said *‘it is my eyes;” I took the lamp and held it up near
her and noticed there was no expression in the eyes; don’t think she saw it much;
don't think she distinguished personsafter that;George lay on the lounge in the sitting
room; I informed bim of her condition; she said ‘“‘my feet are cold; ” I went to the
bed and found her feet and hands quite cold, a death-like cold; T commenced rub-
bing them, and found her limbs also quite cold; I called George and said, ‘‘George
you had better get up and help me rub Fanny for she is quite cold:"” he got up and I
think rubbed her feet a very little and then said ‘‘cover them up, they will %]et
warm,’’ and went back to the lounge; I inquired if they had any mustard, and he
said ‘‘yes, but it will not do any good;” after that she failed very fast, and between
% and 4 o'clock I went to the lounge and told George to go and call Mr. and Mrs,
Dayvid Crozier and Mrs. Truesdell; he went after them, and Mr. and Mrs. Crozier
came in a few moments; Mrs. Truesdell soon after; he wasasleep when I called him;,
during Wednesday 1 don’t think she could walk without assistance; Wednesday
morning George said he wanted to go away a little while; he wanted to get a man
to split rails for him; about 9 o’clock he said, ‘“‘Fanny 1 am going down to Mr.
Harris’, and you must not be uneasy about me;” and she said,“‘no, I won’t be uneasy
about you;"” she died about 2 o’clock Thursday; before life was extinct George put
his hand on her forehead and on her chin and closed her mouth; Mrs. Becker told
him to take his hand away from. her mouth; she gasped two or three times after
he closed her mouth, and expiredsoon after. R 48

Cross-examination by Mr. Morris—I attended the funeral of Mrs, Crozier; it was
on Saturday; 1 did not see any powders lying on the table, at any time; I gave the
medicine in the teacup; I first saw George give Fanny medicing on Wednesday—
not far from noon; don’t remember of seeing him give her medicine more than
twice; 1 think George went away somewhere after giving her the first powder; he
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brought ice back with him; Mrs. Dolly Crozier was there that afternoon; I had a

conversation with her; she said she ¢* thought Fanny had a hard row of -it;” when

he was In the pantry preparing the powders, 1 suspected him.of doing what he

ought not to do; I suspected himof giving her poison; I did not tell a.nfr one of my.
suspicions: I had suspicions before I saw him preépare the pewder in the pantry: I

had suspicions as soon as [ went there—from her appearance; Fanny vomited often
between giving the powder in the afternoon and evening: donot think George saw me

when I went to the pantry; he saw me when I went up to his side, and took  the
spoon and turned from me; his turning away from me seemed singular: 1 went in
to see what he was doing; my suspicions drew me in there; I don't know as 1 cared
whether he saw me or not: 1 had no objection to his seeing me; I didn’'t make
much noise—I had slippers on; it was between 3 and 4 o'clock that 1 called’ George
to go after David and Dolly Crozier; Frank had gone away to get a hired girl, and:
got back about 1 o'clock; when he came back he ate a bowl of bread and milk and
went to bed; 1 heard him ask after his mother; Frank said, ‘“‘how is mother 7" I did

not say anything in reply; he understood it himself; when he passed his hand on
her forehead and chin I thought it was singular, because there were others that
conld have performed that duty if she had been dead; George told Frank, when he
asked aftor his mother, that she was about the same; Fanny had said to me, ‘don’t
tell Frank I am any worse—he feels bad when there is anything the matter with
me;” when Frank went after the hired girl he took a young lady with him, and be-
fore he took her home he drove up in the front yard and made the inquiry of how
hi?i mother was, and George said, ‘‘ Now, Frank, come right back and go to
bed.”’ ’ | P

FLORA BUSHNELL,

sworn for the people and examined by Mr. Hicks—Reside in Benton; know the de-
fendant; have known Fanny Crozier since she was twenty months old; reside about
two miles from Crozier's; learned of Fanny’s sickness Wednesday evening; went
there about 9 o’clock Thursday morning; when I arrived found Mrs. Squires, Mrs.
John Truesdell, Mrs. Towner, Mrs. Becker and Mr. and Mrs. David Crozier; George
Crozier and Frank were about; found Fanny in the bedroom:; she was not removed
to the parlor until afternoon; when I went in I went up to her and took hold of her
hand; said, ‘‘don’t you know me?’ she said, ‘‘yes, I know your voice, but can’t see
youdistinctly:"’ the pupil of her eyes seemed dilated; there was a redness about the
white of the eye, and there seemed to be no expression to it; her countenance was
bloated and swollen; I asked her how she felt, and she said, ‘“Oh! I am dreadful
sick!” I asked her ‘‘where ?” and she said, ‘‘in my stomach and back and all over;”
[ stayed at the house until she died; the defendant was out and in the bedroom; she
was taken into the parlor about half-past 1:; the subject of her death was mentioned
1 the family; I had a conversation with Fanny after this; George was in the bed-
room at the time; whilst he was there she spoke to Frank as he stood at the footof
the bed; she spoke to Gteorge and said. “Oh George, I love you ever so much!” he
sald, ‘“there, there! don’t trouble yourself about that!”. I don’'t remember the exact
words; she said a good deal, but I could not tell at what part of the conversation
(teorge was present; she said to Frank, when the defendant was there,
*Oh, Franky bhoy! Franky boy! how many times I have prayed for
you, that dyou might be a good boy ;. be kind to your father, for he is
growing old; oh, how many prayers I have offered up for you.—I hope they will be
answered !"” ‘I have known Minerva Dutcher three or four vears: have seen acts of
t‘amiliaritﬁr between her and the defendant, more particularly the last spring and
summer: have seen them whispering in church and walking together; have seen. it
at the Sabbath school; Miss Dutcher was in her class and George was libravian; he
would stop to whisper with her every Sabbath, and oftener than once have seen
them walEing together from church alone; when Fanny was at church she always
rode—sometimes with David Crozier, in a two-horse wagon, and sometimes with
Frank,—and have seen (George go away with Minerva a number of times, and leave
his wife to go with the others: it attracted my attention and ocecasioned remarks
among the people; have seen it both in the day-time and in the evening, ~

JOHN 8. TOWLER

re-called and further cross-examined by Mr. Morris—I don’t remember stating. to
Mr. Torrey at Geneva, when you were present, that I had made an analysis of the
stomach and part of the liver and found traces.of arsenic; I did not state that I
had made a camﬂlete analysis of . the stomach and liver, for 1 had not then done it:
{don’t pretend that I have all the arsenic found here; but I have a large quantity
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here; a large (uantity escaped and some of it isin the form of arsenious acid,
arsenic ac;ig,‘ arsenate of silver, and sulphide of arsenic; I can’t detect arsenie
with the naked eye, but can with the microscope; when you and Mr. Torrey were at
Geneva you asked me about the quantity and other little questions; I answered
your questions as briefly as T could; I gave you all the information you asked for;
when the stomach was placed in my hands I found a large portion, as large as half
my hand, on the inside of the stomach, the mucous membrane had been detached so
that light could be distinguished through the tissue: I found a large ball, solid and
compact, as large as a hen’s egg: it had no covering, it was streaked with a reddish
color, and a darkish color intermixed on the outside; in some parts of it 1 found
white powders; this ball entered into my analysis; T could not judge whether it had
been a healthy stomach during life: 1 thought the ball was the detached mucous
membrane mixed with blood and the powder. | |
Re-examined by Mr. Hicks—I stated that I obtained the results, and afterwards,
at my leisure, converted all into arsenic ac¢id; when I had done that 1 removed the
organi¢ material by a process I described yesterday, in order to perform Marsh’s
test; I had satisfied myself that there was arsenic everywhere, but had not shown
1t by that process; nor had I got the results in a form that 1 could weigh them; I
had not completed the analysis until Washington’s birthday: after the preliminary
examination I had the entire amount in the shape of yellowish sulphide of arsenic
mixed with organic material, and could not perform Marsh's test without eliminating
the organic substance; each speck I have exhibited here contains enough to make
all the experiments with; I found no adhering tumor or fungus in the stomach: atter
the session of the grand jury I went through Marsh’s test process, got the quantity.

' BLIZABETH A. TRUESDELL

sworn for the people, examined by Mr. Hicks—Am the wife of John Truesdell; live
nearly across the road from the defendant; have known Crozier for twenty-five
years; think Mrs. Crozier was 87 years of age; I first learned of her sickness Tuesday
afternoon and went to her house about sundown: the doctor arrived while T was
there; I remained until about half past'10: T gave her a teaspoonfulof the medicine
out of the teacup on the table; did nof give her any powders; she vomited several
times while T was there; she seemed to have a great deal of pain; she vomited three
or four times while T was there: George carried the substance vomited out once, and
handed her a glass of water at her request; went there again Wednesday mornings
she was still vomiting; she complained just the same; went there Wednesday morn-
ing at 7 o’clock; Géorge wag around the house; saw him in the room; wasthere half
an hour Tuesday afternoon; saw Crozier give her a powder at that time; he said:
** Fanny, it is time to take your powder, how will you have it ?"; she said ** I 'will
have it in scraped apple™; after taking the powder I saw her vomit; George carried
the basin out-doors; saw no powder given Wednesday morning; after dinner Wed-
nesday I went in and stayed about an hour; T went again on Thursday morning
about 5 o'¢lock, and stayed all day: when T went there she was very much worse;
her fingers were purple to the second joint, her hands and feet were cold; she could
notsee me very well, she said; said she thought she was gétting blind; as soon as 1
got there I heated the soap-stones and put them to her feet: some of us constantly
rubbed her; quite a good deal of the time George sat on the side of the bed and
rubbed one of het arms; she told me about the 15th of July, when she was sick,
that she came home from chureh and ate a fried cakeand drank a glass of lemonade
and ate the peel; did not say who gave the lemonade to her; said she went to bed,
slept till about 11 o'clock, then waked up with a feeling of heaviness and pain in her
stomach: vomited three times before daylight; I know Minerva Duteher; she worked
for me the summer of *74; she came the first of April and stayed till November; she
came to our house the first 6f March, 75, and remained till about the 15th of Au-
%'uat; I have noticed attentions between George and Minerva Dutcher; the first time

thought of these things was when she was at our house in June; 1874; 1 was In-
formed that people were talking about them, and that made mé watch them; I saw
that he liked to talk with her pretty well; he would come to our house and go
around to the back door. and sit in the door and talk with her; as soon as he went
there I would go there; he would come generally in the, morning; he did not come
when the family were not there; I fm-h’ig him doing so; when I heard the stories T
spoke to him about it, and told him he must never come there while T was away;"T
spoke to Minerva about it a great many times; T recollect of the occasion when he gave
her a letter; it was last summer, before Mrs. Crozier’s death: Mr.Crozier came down
there where we were all sitting on the stoop; he asked me where my husband was:
I told him ‘‘in the cellar;” he said he would go and see him ; he went around the
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house, and Minerva got up and went through the house to the kitchen; I got up and
took my baby and went out by the weil; they were both by the cellar door ; he was
talking to my husband; Minerva was by the side of the cellar way; she went and
got a drink of water and got back to the cellar hefore I got to the well; Theard him
say, afterwards, that he gave her a note; it wa. at the church he said it; he was
brought before the church. and that was me: fonad; I don’t know that I charged
him with it, unless it was before the commiitce « /'the church; a year agoé this past
winter I had a conversation with George about his giving Minerva presents; he had
%’ven her a ring; 1 told him that 1 ha§ told Minerva she had got to give it back,—
that as soon as 1 saw it Ithought 1T knew where it was from; that I considered it very
umproper for any married man to be giving presents to a young lady, and that any
wife would feel deeply hurt; have had a number of conversations with George in
regard to Miss Dutcher; have seen him sit and talk with her at singing school; have
seen them standing by the window at the church, talking ; about six weeks after
Fanny’s death I saw them in the gallery when ‘' theére was no one else there; they
separated immediately as I went in; the winter beforé Minerva came to our house
have seen George and she walking from church together a good many times; Mrs.
Crozier would be with her brother-in-law and his family; I have spoken to George
about his wife being unhappy; I said that no wife would like to have her husband
paying attentions to young girls—that it made a wife unhappy; I think he made no
reg!y; I know Minerva was at Crozier’s the day after Fanny’s death; I know of Geo.

| u.r% Minerva to his house about two months after Fanny’s death; she went there
Saturday evening; (teorge went after her ; I know he was home that night; she
remained until Monday night; Frank and his wife were there before George brought
Minerva there; they went away when she came; Miss Dutcher’s mother was there
Monday; Crozier took her home; George and Minerva did not go to church Sun-
day; after Minerva left. Frank and his wife went back to the house.

Cross-examination by Mr. Morris—I first heard something said about George and
Minerva in June, 1874: I then told George people were talking about him and Mi-
nerva, and she was a poor girl and had notging but her character and he must never
come there when 1 was away; he said he cared no more for the girl than he did for
other girls, but as long as she was a respec(t‘;:.{ﬂe girl he should speak to her and pay
attention to her as he did to others; when I spoke to him about the ring we were
talking about people talking about the girl and him; I said, “‘people talk a good
deal,”’ and said he gave her presents, and I spoke of the ring in particular, and I told
him as soon as I saw it I thought where it came from, and questioned her, and she
confessed that he gave it to her, and the ring disappeared from her finger, and he
said she did give it back; Minerva would be at work at a table in the woodhouse and
he would come and sit down and talk to her; it was always in day-time; Minerva
used generally to sit in the gallery at church; she had a right in our seat always,and

was perfectly welcome there; as a rule George was always at Sabbath school; he was
librarian. | 3f |

Tuesday evening when T was there T told Dr. Barber Fanny said she had been
working very hard and had eaten berries and onions for her supper, and she said.,
“And that is not all 1 have done, either.” Wednesday afternoon when I went there
Frank was preparing to go to Phelps and get a girl; Fanny said she was goi’nﬁ to.
send for Nellie McCarthy. Thursday morning George came to my bedroom window

and rapped on the blind and said, “ Fanny is worse:;” I said I would come as quick
as 1 could.” : | | ~

. Re-direct. examination by Mr. Hicks— When I went there Wednesday Fanny was
in the bedroom alone; she was standing up: she had been purging; I said, “‘you
should not have got up alone;” said she, ‘I had to;” I think George was sitting on
the stoop at the time: she was very weak; she sat down on the bed, and 1 helped her
get back in the bed and covered her up; don’t know of his ever bringing any other
wng woman to his house after her death; I have seen him give notes to at least

wo young ladies; saw him pass notes to the two Miss Manbies; they are young
ladies; I think it was over two years ago; I cannot name any young lady that I have
seen him walk with as often as with Minerva Dutcher; have seen George pass notes
to other than single ladies in the gallery: he was accustomed to do it.

FLORA BUSHNELL

recalled and further cross-examined by Mr, Morris—I don't know what George and
Minerva said when they were whispering together; thought it was a circumsgance
against them, certainly when it was so frequent as I had seen it. '
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MINNIE TRUESDELL.

SWOrn on beha.lf of the people and exammed b M1 Hicks—Am the daughter of
John and  Elizabeth Truesdell: am 13 years ol . know George Crozier and Minerva
Dutcher; knew Fanny Crozier; recoller't when Mmerva. Dutcher lived at our house;
while she live there have . noticed defendant’s coming there: have seen him and
Minerva talk together; he talked with her some every time he came: Minerva did:
the work in the morning in the back part of the house in the kitchen: there is an
outside door to the kitchen: that is out of the view of his house; a, person could neot.
be seen at the kitchen door from his house: have seen: defendant go around  to the
back door; have seen George and. Minerva there talking together: last summer 1
know of hlq coming there when father and mother were away; when I saw them
she was in the wood-liouse, .and he was going away  from the back door;he had
been there 8 or 4 minntes: | saw him going around toward the back door as I was
coming away from Uncle David Crozier's: when I went into the house I went back
through into the w oodhouse: father and mother were in Wyoming county; don’t
know of . his coming more than once;. the vear; before father and mother “ent to.
Rochester. and were gone nearly a week; Miss Dutcher was at our house at that time;
don't remember whether George came there or not; have seen George talkmg to
Minerva in the kﬂ:t,hen don't know how many tlmes | |

: CHARLEB 'fRUESDELL

sworn for the people. and e\ammed by Mr. Hicks—Am the son of John Truesdell;
[ know of the occasion when the defendant and Miss Dutcher had an interview at
the rear of the house bw the cella,r it was on the ¢roquet ground; T saw him hand
her something: I would not Bag at it was! T'did not see it; I was 3or 4 rods off;
It was not a basket: it was nothing—only ﬁome‘thmg, I saw hini put his hand mto
hers, and then she puthers in her pocket.

Cross-examination Ly Mr. Morris.—1 saw him put his  hand tewards her; she
moved her’s towards ]fum saw thelr hands tnufh

MRS, JAMES M. LOWN ~ ¢

sworn for the people and examined by Mr. Stewart— Reside in Benton have known
defendant by sight 12 or 14 years. The attention of the witness is called to a conver-
sation with the prisoner in relation to the state of his (bmzwr 8 mmd,) in referem
to his wife, and women in general.

My, Tmey objected to any testimony in regald to: w(mlen kmd exbept his w1fe
or the Dutcher girl. Ob,]mtmn sustamed

DA'VID W EE:T

;‘ 1 B
Il i

sworn for the people and testified as follows: I am an usher at the Baptlst church
at Benton Center; know the defendant and Minerva, they attend church there: 1
recollect an occasion when I observed an intimacy between them at the church;

she was seated in the house and got up and left pretty soon after the services coms-
menced; she left the audience-rooin and seated herself against the partition  in the
hall; Cremer was sitting behind the stove on the opposite side; he took a piece of
paperout of his pocket a.nd wrote ~about 10. -minutes, and put it in his pocket; he
then took out a pwce of bufi paper and put it in & siuging book and sat and wrote 10
or 15 minutes, and put that in his pocket; he went out and handed it to Minerva as
he passed out; he stayed out a few Jouinutes; came inand conv ersed with her a few
minutes, and came in and took his seat; at this time she gat on'a seat in the entry,
it was 31; the Sunday sery ice. the next day after Miq Crozier's furleral

Cress-examination—Den't rethember: the text or the sermon or the hyms sung;
George sat about as near me asthe judge: I sat the same as I donow; and he sat the
sunie as the jurvmen: she sat the same as the county clerk did: I was wawhms
him: that was a part of my business: I have seen the text, ‘it is well to wateh;’
thought it was my duty: I thought it was marvelous that he should swrite on whim
paper under the circumsmn( esy hecircumstances were writing to'a young woman,
his wife having been buried the day before: ) have seen reporters write in (‘hm‘ch
in New York years ago: they did not give it to a women though: have seen prisoner
write on paper in church hefore; have carried papers tmm " Elder Mallory to the
choir; don’'t know what he wrote: I was watr'hmﬂ' him all the time; thought it was
my mission; have taken a pretty active part in this matter aga.lnst Mr. Crozier; 1
did notwatch the people; 1. Fad enough to do to watch (ieorge Question— You
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were a spy ? Ans.—Yes, 8ir. Haw not been called .;upon by Elder Mallory to look
after the flock; I have interested . niyself in this, matter a good deal; 1 was on the

Coroner’s jury and was sworn o do it.

Re-direct.—I was called as a witness at the church meeting: it was an investi-
gation in reference to Mr, Crozier and Minerva Dutcher it involved this letter.

. WILLIAM BALL

sworn for the people—Attend the Baptist church at. Benton Center; I know Min-
erva Dutcher; I knew of the death of Fanny Crozier; her funeral was on aturday: I
‘was at church next day; the prisoner and Minerva were there: 1 saw Crozier come
out from behind the stove and hand Miss Dutcher a paper; then he stepped outside
the door;she sat on a bench in the entry; saw him comé in again in a few moments,
and step up to her and say a few words, and pass into church and git down.

Cross-examination—I know Henry Kinyon of Bluff Point, who was a jurorat
the last court; I did not approach hima and talk with him about this matter: he
approached and commen talking to me; he told me he was a juror after he had
spoken to me. '_ ' N e Dot P Sy ey

. ; DAVID ARMSTRONG, - re ' | o - _.J
sworn. for the people and examined by Mr. Hicks: Live in Benton ; knew Fanny
Crozier; know the prisoner and Minerva ; her people live near my house.. I have
seen intimacy between the prisoner and Minerva during the last three years, Since
1872 it has attracted my attention considerably. I observed it more particularly on
the way from church home. Since 1872, have seen them start from. the church
together and walk on the way alone; I could not enumerate the number of times;
have noticed them going to church ; he would go by my house frequently in the
morning as early as 9 o'clock; he would go alone until he got to Dutcher’s ; and some-
times go by the house and halt until a girl came out of the house who looked like
Minerva, and joined him. Have seen George go past my house and before he got to
Dutcher’s Minerva would ¢ome out, go a lititle ways an _halls' until bhe came up, and
then go along together. I saw David Crozierand his wife on the forward seat of a
democrat wagon with Fanny onthe hind seat at church.  1saw George and Minerva
start off from the meeting house first, David got his team and started behind them :
Fanny was on the back seat alone. They went thirty or forty rods and overtook
George and Minerva. ' Fanny says: ** George, come and ride with me;” he shook his
head and refused. They drove on and George and Minerva walked on together.
Think this was in the summer of 4. Ge@rfe ‘generally distributed the Sabbath
School paper in the Sunday School and usually closed up where Minerva sat. A
short time after Mrs. Crozier's death 1 saw George get his horse and buggy and
take Minérva and her mother home, Have seen George go to Dutcher’s house while
Minerva was there. After Mrs. Crozier's death 1 was passing there one night and
‘he had David Crozier’s horse there. Saw George when he was going home with this
same horse. T remember an occasion ‘when he and Mrs. Crozier were at a ‘picnic
at Crosby’s woods; it was a year ago. About thetime of the close of the pienic
Fanny was packing up her thingsand George -came to her while she was packing up
and she sa,i(f’ : *‘ George, you have been playing around with the girls all day ; now
come and help pack up the things;" he said, **shut up your hog hole or I will jab
this right down yvour throat,” ke had a roll of jelly cake in his hand ; he raised his

- voice somewhat and appeared excited. DD IHEON) CHNEN aoiw Ia989 T
- Orossg-examination by Mr. Morris—Am the father of Frank Crozier’s wife; what

T Have talked about this matter, has been against Ggorge; L' 'don’t know ‘as I have

had any private walk with a lady since I was'married; have seen George walk with
Minerva a great many times. S irmeny o
" "SARAH E. MOOX

sworn for the people: ' Live at Benton Center; know the defendant and Minerva;
knew Fanny in her life time; recollect the occasion 6f aSunday School Convention
in Crosby’s woods; it was about a mile and a half' from my house; T was not there;
‘saw George Crozier that day as I was going home from &n;y father’s; my husband
wag with me; it was the 5thday of September, after.F'aé.fn’ﬁ{{ sdeath; saw George and
Minerva come out of the woods and pass by us through a little lane; the convention
was not being held in those woods; T have seen them walking together before ‘and
since Mrg, Crozier's death; during the fair saw them ‘ride by ‘togéther; have seen
thein pass oni Sundays and on ‘Weelk days. ' 174 OF 4 DRVGRA DS ROOA Roiye
Cross-examination—They came out of 4 piece of woods between where I was and

L
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where the convention was held ; in coming from the convention they would not
naturally come through those woods. ' T thought it looked a little curious ; thought
~ ‘there was impropriety in it. I thought they came that way so that folks would not
see them. s | it g
GREORGE E. MOON,

sworn for the people and testified as to the same occurrence as related by the last
witness. g |
CORNELIA BARBER,

sworn and examined by Mr, Hicks —I was present at the Sabbath School Association
in September last in Crosby’s woods. Saw George Crozier and Minerva Dutcher
there. I saw Minerva leave ; she went a little westward from where I was, She
started alome ; in a few minutes George started in the same direction; this was
perhaps half an hour after the service commenced, = = X ey B

Cross-examination—Neither of them would have to go in that direction to go
home. | |

‘ EMMA CROZIER,

vecalled for the people: I remained at Crozier’s after Fanny’s death ; George
said they had got to have a hired girl ; he spoke of Minerva after he had hired her
and said he had hired her. I told him I had rather she wouldn't come ; and asked
him if he would not give it up and not have her come ; and I would try and do the
work alone with my husband’s help ; he said he had got her trunk there and was
roing to have her come and there wasn't any use of talking any more about it ;
eorge brought her there—the latter part of August or the first of September.
" Cross-examination—1 did not hear my husband 're&]ueat George to get a hired
girl, ' I told my husband with his help I thought I could get along alone; think we

L3

talked some of having a girl; was married just one week after Fanny's death; was

married on Friday and went to Crozier's the next Tuesday.

&
£
'

CARRIE EDPMUNDS,

sworn for the people; know George Crozier and Minerva Dutcher; Minerva lived
with her mother about thirty rods from our house; have seen attentions paid to her
by George ; don't remember of any thing uuatil after Mrs. Crozier’s death, I have
obsérved him calling there at the house quite often after stopping in the road and
she going out and talking with him; have seen him stop and go into the house; he
usﬂﬁy went there in the afternoon or towards evening or just at evening ; have
seen them riding together during the winters that are passed: he remained in the
house an hour or two as nearly as I can judge; sometimes saw him go ; but did not
see him go, away ; once I think I knew the family were absent ; at this time I saw
him go; but did not seé him go away; have seen them sitting in the same seat.at
church not long after Fanny's death. ‘ d sodion ~

~ Cross-examination—Don’t regard it a familiarity for a gentleman to sit be side a
lady in church ; I don’t know of George having sewing done at the Dutcher’s; he
went there more than occasionally; three times a week would be more than occa-
gionally for a married gentleman. . | ’ | ‘3 3.

| | B ’ | - EMILY BECKER,

sworn for the people and examined by Mr. Stewart—Live at Benton Center and
. attend the Baptist Church; know George Crozier and Minerva Dutcher; I was
present when Fanny Crozier died; as she was gasping I remember his rubbing her
* faoearnd closing her mouth; it was before she had-expired. 1saw nothing to call for
any such action; at the timegshe was in her last struggle and gasping for breath
putting his hand under her chin had the effect of ¢losing her mouth,. i

sworn- for the people; reside in Benton; know George Crozier; have seen Minerva
Dutcher; have seen attentions paid by Mr. Crozier to Muw_rva: my attpnt{qh was
first particularly called to it in ¢ e winter of '74, at church; it was at a donation; he
waited on her at supper that evening. Mrs. Crozier was present; he went to supper
with Minerva, Fanny did not go out to supper; George and Minerva were together
before going out to supper; there were remarks made about it. . I haﬁé seen George
pass a note to her in the gallery of the church: it was before Mrs, Crozier's death; he
wrote for some time during the service on a piece of pag;er‘:. folded it put it in a
singing book and shoved it to her. She took it out of the book and putit in her
pocket. I afterwards saw her take a paper from her pocket and read it. i

L
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Cross-examination—At the time these notes were passed Mrs. Crozier sat in the
chioir in front of her husband; George sat in one end of a seat and Minerva in the
other; George never wrote and passed a note to me; I mean to say that George and
‘Minerva went to the table together at the donation: Minerva did not 'have Mrs.
Truesdell's child to take care of at the time; I know of George asking his wife to
supper: she did not decline; I thought it a remarkabie occurrence for'a married man
to take this young woman to the table and leave his wife: I counsidered it improper
in treating his wife the way he'did that evening; I know the reason why his wife
did not go to supper with him was because he took Minerva; when he asked her to
%o shé said, ““let us wait and go to the next table;” he replied, ‘' no, I am going to
ﬁiﬁ table, and if you want to go to supper with me come along;" Min‘ei"&af_étdog by

Hﬁ'ﬁﬁ’l the mq]e 3,t11f;_hé t:mle

+ Oross-examination by Mr. Morris—Minerva didn’t take his arm; she walked
along the aisle behind him; he asked her to go with him: can't give her words.

sworn for the p,woﬁle and examined by Mr. chks-Reslde in 'Benton; know George

L

Geeman and Ainiarys Siclior RS2 lived at our house in the summer of *72.and

| ing together a good deal at church during the last
pmmer she lived with me; 1 saw a good deal of this on different. occasions; she

ived with me, and as we were getting:ready to _go home from church,I often found

er in conversation with George in the vestibule or on the steps: it attracted my

t-,fn-tim;l; I spoke to Minerya about if; it continued during the summer. of 78; I
{

.

attention; 1 spok IO KR | Duea aring
didn’t notice ?fao much afterwards, as I wasn't looking for her to go home with us.
B L i o o it N A A e o l By ol it

sworn for the people and examined by Mr. Stewart—Last fall 1 resided in the Penn
Yan jail; 1 was put there for leaving my wife; know George E. Crozier; he was in
the jail at that time; I remember thewocecasion of the examination before the coroner;
during that examination I saw George show a #?gtrgjt or photograph: 1 think he

said it was Mrs. ]Dutcher’s girl; T th .ll hé said if ‘he ever got :l;llg he should marry
her: he spokeof her swﬁﬂr%.!aefg the Coroner’s inquest on that oceasion, .
if.-';:.iﬂz?ﬁ&:é.imlnagﬂaﬁw%;.;... i '? our ‘months; have not provided f,@wlay wife
since; know Frank Crozier; had a conversation |

remember stating to h

other's: Iy Memory 1s 00f YKy good. . - .
s : ' 1 Y ¥t nm”’ . .

it g lf}ﬂl' the people and eﬁmnﬁm %tIeWart—-—-I was an inmate of the jail last
tall, when the inquest was being held; saw Lrozier exhibit a picture or photograph;
ui‘w aday or %wo after the inquest; he sai iman ave it lt)o him; _lgepbﬁitl:.?; qgas
the BIPCR B0 Sty e Mt it T gxer et o I

tcher girl; he said, ‘“that g or me t
am going to marry her;’ Cole, t present... ...

Cross-examination.—Did not see Frank brinﬁ the picture there; knew nothing
about it except what Crozier said; I didn’t come here to tell what I was in jail for,
and am not going to; I have been in jail before; I did not state to Crozier that he
never exhibited Miss Dutcher’s picture to me,—no, sir, I never did; but he wanted
{ should.

Adjourned till 8:30 Friday morning.

1
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ELIZABETH COLE

sworn for the people and examined by Mr. Stewart—Reside at Benton Center; have
known the prisoner six years and Minerva four years; I attended school with Mi-
verva Dutcher about two years; George was drawing wood past the schoolhouse,
and I noticed every time he went by she made an especial excuse for Eoing out; she
went out where he was, and once he gave her a note; she came in and in a few mo-
ments; she read it; this occurred a good many times—perhaps a dozen; these occur-
rences took place all winter; since then have seen them very intimate together; first
{ noticed two notes; she went to singing school with him; this was four years ago
this winter; I have geen him give her notes at church; I have seen them talk to-
gether at church, but never heard what he said; I have seen him speak to her a
good many times, and they would be very close together in th_e entry way, their
gshoulders almost touching; after anybody came in he would go right out; after he
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had been out a llttle while she had a nete te read; I ha.ve seen that a good many
times.

Croaﬂ-exammed——Am nearly 21 years old; I havestood near gentlemen; Idid not
think there was any impropriety in it because they were single; I never stood so
near & married man as to touch him, because 1 consider it against the rules of
proprlety '

MRB VESTA A, A“JDREWS

"sworn for the people and testified as follows:: I live one-quarter mile south of
prisoner’s house; have known the prisoner nineteenor twenty years; I had an inter-
view with the prisoner the second Sabbath after his wife’s death, at the Baptist
church, in which the death of his wife was the su tJect of the conversation; my
husband was with me; he approached us and asked if I had heard the stories ‘that
were around;: I told him we had; he had not until a day or two before; when he
went down to Mrs.Truesdell’s, and she told him the story was fhat Minerva Dutcher
had poisoned Fanny; I told him T did not hear it in that way—that I heard that he
had poisoned Fanny: he made no reply to that; he said also, that Minerva could nos
“have poisoned her, for she hadn’t been in the house that summer; he said if she had
been poisoned ¢he poisoned herself; he also made the remark that she told him a
few weeks before she was taken sick that she didn’t think she would live a great
while, and he said “ Why ! why ! why do you think so?’ she said, “Oh, I don’t
think T shall live a great while:” he said then he- thought of a bottle of laudannm
‘that was in the cupboard, and he went and looked for it and it was nearly all gone.

and he asked Frank what had become of it, and he didn’t know, and that he then
took it and put it away; he said some one in the Baptist church had started the
stor}v;., and he would like to find out; he should put them through to the full extent
of the law; he said he had set Uncle Dave Bushnell on the track and he thought he
should find out; then he said he had become so hardened he did not care what he
~said, or what he did, and if he should see the whole Baptist church Bmlnng

| hwould not turn over his hand to save the whola dum’d th.mg |

f.

EIJZABETH A, TRUEBDELL,

'-'-u.-

racalled for the prosecution; when I had the conversation with Mrs. Crozier wherein
she stated “that is not all I had done,” it was a casual remark and we went right
onto other conversation. She told me she had been to Mr. Remer’s. She had done
“all her own work up to the time of her sickness.’ I was at the donation party spoken
of. Fanny did not say any thing about a cancer in her stomach at any of the con-
versations spoken of during her sickness and in connection with the same.

DR. F. TOMPHKINS

| roéalled and further testiﬁed——PemnB taking doses of laudanum are stupefied:
a state of coma, ensues; coma is a state of stupefactmn, insengibility, or deep aleep
the symptoms remain the same until the person dies.

people here rest. »

. ;!?’"
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Opening the Defense.

D. Morris, Esq., then opened the defense, in an address to the jury.
He said that the prisoner at the bar stands accused of a very grave crime, and it is
the duty,of the jury, in justice to him, to be entirely unprejudiced in the case—
quoting the well defined and well settled legal maxim that an accused person is to
be presumed fully innocent until clearly proven guilty by eompetent legal evidence.
He then cited authorities to show that a higher degree of evidence is required in
criminal than in civil cases; and where murder is charged, the fact must be legally
established that it 4s murder as well that the accused is guilty of such murder.
The District Attorney in his opening has referred to two classes of evidence—
positive or direct, and presumptive or circumstantial; and he has even claimed that
the latter class may be the strongest evidence. This is a sophism. A fact may be
true or hot a lie, but the witness undertaking to detail it may be untrue. -

In this case we are confined exclusively to presumptive or uircumstantiatvi-
dence, .and of this there are three _classes-_-—ﬁt.:'st, violent presumption; second,
probable presumption; and third, rash or weak and unwarrantable presumption.
[Of each of these classes the counsel gave pertinent illustrations.| There is often
gﬁeat (}tanger in relying upon even probable circumstances, and legal history fully
shows it. | | |

In this case, we have merely the third class of presumptive evidence—the ver
weakest and most unreliable, as legally defined. [A case was here cited, in which
an innocent English lady was tried, convieted and executed because she was found
standing over the slain body of a friend, holding in her hand the bloody dagger with
which .the fatal crime had been committed. After her execution it was clearly
ascertained that another person had perpetrated the murderous deed, and had fled .
unseen upon hearing the appijtigcfl of the friend. This fact illustrates the great
danger of relying upon circumstantial inferences,] | |

In this case before you, gentlemen of . the jury, it is in evidence, and we admit,
that Fanny H. Crozier came to her tieajzh,l:!y,a.raenical_ poison. But we shall show
you that not the accused, but the wife, terminated her own life by voluntarily taking
that poison. We shall show you that she thought she had a cancer in the stomach;
that she was apprehensive of dying therefrom, and despondently and desperately
took her own life; that she had been heard to declare she would; and B1513.1; her
husband, at her request, and upon the pretext that it was needed to destroy rawms.
purchased arsenic in Penn Yan in March, 1875, and gave it to his son to deliver to
her. We shall demonstrate the nature of the peculiar ball or e¢yst found by Prof.
Towler, in the stomach of Mrs, Crozier after her death, and show how that eyst long
delayed or prevented the fatal absorption of so much arsenic as was found in the
organs of the deceased. We shall also place George E. Crozier upon the witness
stand and have him testify in his own behalf; and you are to regard himn as a com-
petent witness—as fully so.as any:and we further assert that we shall clearly show
to you his unimpeachable character. We shall also show, upon the evidence of
Prof. Lattimere, an expert ¢chemist of Roechester, that bismuth frequently contains
arsenic, and that of five specimens, procured in Penn Yan, which he has recently
analyzed, he found arsemic in each specimen. |

Further, we shall produce here the identical vial of arsenic which Mis. Crozier
‘had and from which she took the poison, and shall show, from her own diary, in her
own handwriting, an entry made there that she on a certain date had purchased two
ounces of arsenic. , | Tk *

Finally, the jury should reserve any full opinion upon the merits of this case until
the evidence for both the prosecution and the defense is completely before them;
and if there shall then remain»any reasonable doubt of the guilt of the accused,
they are both morally and legally under the sacred obligation to give him the full
lﬁgneﬂt of thatdoubt by acquitting him of the grave criminal charge brought against

11, . j ] 1. : &1 MOV ¢ : iy i 4 '

ELIZABETH A. TRUESDELL

recalled for the prisoner and examined by Mr. Morris—1 attended the donation party
spoken of; it was in December, ’74; the prisoner and Minerva were there; at the
supper table I sat next to George Crozier on one side and Minerva sat the other side
of my husband; I requested her to go to the table to help take care of my baby: 1]

2
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zot up and left the table before the rest got through with supper; when they passed
around the coffee my little girl was grabbing after things, and asked the girl to sit
the other side of me, so that my husband could help me; no I was wrong; in the
first place she sat between me and my husband, and I asked her to sit the other
side of me so my husdand could help me take care of the baby; then that brought
Minerva next to Mr. Crozier; I took my little girl and daughter Minnie and came
_back and sat between my husband and Minerva: I never had any conversation
with Fanny particularly about a cancer in her stomach; I saw George when he came
into the supper room;: he sat down by me; Minerva was with him; Minerva got up frora .
her seat beforell'left the supper table and went and sat where George was: I saw the cir-
cumstance of George placing his hand upon Fanny's forehead and chin before she died ;
George stood at the head of the bed and I at the left; I thought she wasdead ; he passed
his hand under her chin and closed her mouth: did not see any indication of life at that
imstant; 1 did not note particularly whether it was gently or rudely done; I just no-
ticed the simple act; there was an exhibition of life; afterwards heard Mys. Becker
speak to him in connection with that act; and he removed his hand in consequence
of what she said, I suppose. O M il sl i

DAVID CROZIER.

affirmed for the prisoner and examined by Mr. Morris—I am' a brother of the prisoner; '
we reside about one hundred feet apart:; he has always lived there; they were not
accustomeg to keep any servants; 1 remember when Fanny was taken sick; it was
on Mondag evening preceding her death; I was there the next day, and my wife
also; 1 went there after I heard she was sick: [ think I saw medicine on the stand
or sewing machine; I think it was given. - | . SEE PR S 4

| Witness here shown a diagram of the house. which he pronounces correct. |

There is a cupboard in the woodhouse; 1T went to the house with my wife and
Mrs. Truesdell, since George was incarcerated. in jail, to examine or look if we could
find any substance in a paper or phial: there was a phial produced from the cup-
board; I was not in the woodhouse at the time—had stepped outside the doer; saw
the vial at the time. [Witness shown a vial.] Think it is the same that was
tound; I took it and handed it to Mrs. Truesdell, and saw her give it to you [Mr.
Morris]at vour office; George walked to church as often as he rode, at certaiu sea-
sons of the year; he had been a member of the choir, but was not at the time of his
wife's death; has been librarian of the Sabbath school a number of years; knew
Minerva Dutcher; she sat in the gallery, near thé choir; George liked young com-
pany—was very fond of it, and seemed to enjoy it: very fond of both sexes; it had
always been so since he had got to be a young man, or since he was married; he
seemed to be a8 voung as any of them; 1 don’t know that I have ever seen him pass
notes: he was much addicted to writing in the choir on Sabbath; I have seen him
write a long time, and double up the paper and put it in his pocket; this has been |
his habit ever since he hasbeen a member of the church: there has been no difference
in his mfnner in two or three or four years; so far as I know George and his wife lived
pleasantly together: think I had opportunity for knowing; think he was particu-
larly indulgent to his family in many respects: I think he went beyond his means
many tines getting things for his'wife and son; I know he did the churning and
milking ‘and such things: it was usual for Fanny to ride to church and George to
2o on foot ever since they were married. o ' o

Cross-examination:—-1 did not find the vial; it was produced to me on the 3d
day of February: the house has been oceupied since Fanny's death; the cupboard
was open to-every one, and has been ever since Mrs. Croziér's death; I did not look
into it before February: we found in it some empty match-boxes. a basket—there
were other things in it: all I can say is, this looks like the same phial found there; I
have seen George pass two notes: he might have passed notes to Minerva frequently
and I not have seen him; saw him pass & note to. Alberrt; Towner and one to Mrs,
Jennings, | Bt . *. B arititah

RUTH M. TRUESDELL

sworn for the prisoner and examined by Mr. Morris-—Reside i Benton, directly op-
posite the defendant’s: after Mrs, Crozier's death- I went to the house with Mrs.
David Crozier for the purpose of making an examination; we found the vial inthe
bottom of a basket in a cupboard in the woedhouse; David Crozier was also present;
I took possession of the vial and delivered it to you. [Witness shown vial.] That
resembles the bottle we found. ATIHT | |

Cross-examination by Mr. Hicks—We were looking to see if we could find any-
thing that would throw any light on this ('aae, T went there at the | reguest of Mrs. |
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David Crozier; it was last February; do nqg$ remember that anything was said by

Dolly to me after leaving the house until we found the vial; we looked around in
the pantry first: we didn't do anything in the pantry, only look around; we took the
things out of the dish eloset, so we could see; we took down some ofthe dishes and

the rest we removed so we could see around them; we foand a half-ounce vial; it
contained a white substance, I took it home, and afterwards gave it to Mr, Morris;

there were other other vials there: there were one or two that contained white sub-
stances; I dind’t think it was necessary to take them; we were looking for arsenic
or anything else; Mrs. Crozier told me what was in the bottlés we did not take; she
did not know what was in the largest bottle; one was labeled “‘sugar of lead:’ think
we went to the bedroom from the pantry: we then looked a little in the bookcase,
and from there went to the clothes room; I didn't logk muech among the books; Mrs. -
Crozier looked a little; did not take many of the books down: we all went into the
clothes room; on one shelf we found flannel sheets-——found things on all the shelyes; '
sonee Of them I took down and some Mrs. Crozier moved; we next went to the cheese
voom; I don’t know as we expected to find any vial there; we looked around on the
shelves; then we went back to the woodhouse; we went through the woodhouse at
first, as we went into the house; Mr. Crozier went for a light, and before he got
back we were looking in the cupboard; think we went right to the cupboard when
we went into the woodhouse: Frank and his wife occupied the house at this time;
did not see them there that day; we both looked into the cupboard. and Mrs. Crozier
had the basket and I took the bottle out; when I found it I said ‘““what is that ?"
Mrs. Crozier said something, 1 don'tt know what, nothing had been said to me
about going to search the house from the time of Fanny's death until this particu-.
lar day: Mrs, Crozier asked me to search the house; she said her husband wanted
her to speak to me about it and see if I would do it; she said she tbought iy ought to
be done to see whether there was anything there that would throw light on it; she
wanled some one to go with her that was out of the family; did not tell her I would
go at this time, for I thought I couldn’t go; after considering the matter T thought
I ought to go, and next day went up and told her so, ang the next day we went
over and made the search; at first I thought if I went it would make hard feelings
among neighbors, but my anxiety to find out what there was in the house overcame
my scruples and 1 went; we did notlook in any other place after we found the
bottle in the cupboard. ' I | |

The court took a recess to 2 p, M,
" ELIZABETH A, TRUESDELL

recalled and further examined by Mr. Morris—Fanny never told me of any suspi-
cions she had had of a cancer in her stomach: she said, **if 1 had to suffer like that

DAVID CROZIER

recalled aud further testified—Fanny never said anything to me that she had a can-
cer in her stomach, nor in my presence; I couldn’t say positively that I ever did
hear her say she had a cancer; T have heard her talk upon the subjeet; Mr. John
Truesdell and, I think, Ann Truesdell were present at the time ; it was two or
three vears ago: think she said, “‘put herself out of the way;" this remark was made.
in reference to the contingency of a cancer in her stomach.

MARTIN W. BARDEN

sworn for the defense and exanmined by Mr. Morris—Reside in Benton, about 106

rods from prisoner; T remember being at Crozier's about the middle of July: last:
did not see the prisoner; saw Mrs, Crozier: she lay on a couch when I went in; she
ot up and I inquired for Mr. Crozier, and she sa,igl he wasn't home; she told me she.
was sick—wasn’t feeling very well; she said she did not know what was the matter,
that her stomach hurt herbadly; she prepared and took a white colored medicine in

water while I was there: she said she was feeling badly and knowed not what ailed
her, but if she had a cancer in her stomach as some other women did, she would
take something to kill or cure it: she took something at this time; it was & whitish
powder that she took in water. | | 2 o 9 |

DOLLY W. CROZIER

sworn for the prisoner and examined by Mr. Morris—Am the wife of David Crozier;
{reorge and his wife's domestic relations were pleasant as far ag I know; in regard

10 his conduet and manner don’t know of anything wrong, any more than a great
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many; they didn’t always think alike- any mgre than other people; I never heard
Fanny say anything about a cancer in her stomach; George came over after me
early Tuesday morning and told me Fanny was sick, and I went over to do up
the work; I stayed with%xer Wednesday night; George waited on Fanny a number
of times; emptied the bowl when she had vomited; there was nothing in his manner
that attracted my attention; Tuesday night Fanny told me that she would rather I
would not hold her head when she vomited; about 8 o’clock Wednesday morning;
George got up and said he would take careof Fanny and I could get some rest; I
came back about 6 o’clock, when it was time to do the work in the cellar: I saw
Fanny sitting in a chair in the sitting room Wednesday morning at 9 o’clock; did
not see her up after that day; was there Wednesday evening; but saw no one give
her any medicine; the Doctor was there on Tuesdoy evening: George came for me
- at 4 o’'clock Thursday morning; found Fanny very much worse; I am quite sure she
did not vomite Thursday morning; Mrs. Squires was taking care of her then: did
not keep a servant; she has told me she had rather do her own work, and at other
times heard her say she could not afford it; was after donation spoken of; think
George and Fanny went with us in a sleigh; George 'said to Fanny they want us to
come and eat at their table; she spoke at the door and said ““George, don’t let us go
to this table;” he said ‘‘they want us to;” I turned away and he went in, and Fanny
turned back; I heard her say that she ought to have gone with him; it was not that
night I heard her speak of it; I went to George’s house after he was shut in jail,
with Mrs, Truesdell, at your (Mr. Morris”) request: we made an examination of the
pantry, but sound nothing that attracted attention; found a bottle labeled ““Sugar of
Lead” in the pantry; we looked in the cupboard in the wood-house and found a
bottle of white powder (witness is here shown a bottle and said it resembles the one
found;) Miss Truesdell took charge of the bottle and delivered it to me: I went
there to search for a particular thing;I want to see if there waslany thing there that
this case was about; George walked to churchasoften as heroad; George was ver
fond of children and seemed to be delighted when he was with them;I used to thi
he was as much a child as any of them; he was very fond" of young .people and
young girls. .

Cross-examined by Mr. Hicks—Since four years ago, have heard things said
about Minerva and George; about his walking to and from church with her, and
flirtations in church; I waited on Mrs. Crozier while I was there; don't remember
any act of George waiting on his wife aside from empting the bowl; I did not see
her up after Wednesday morning; during the inquest.l was at the house to search
if T could find any thing to throw light on the subject; I was looking for white

wder; found this bottle of Sugar of Lead; 1 was looking for some posion; found a
ttle of white Eowder that was not labeled; Mrs. Mallory took charge of it; we
then searched the burean; we found a bottle of white powder: Mrs. Mallory took
this also; in February Mr. Morris told me to make a more thorough search, and get
- somebody outside of the family to %0 with me;we wereé looking for something that
would tell; when I found the last bottle it occured to me that it might have been -
put there since the first search; heard ¥rank say his father had reason for think-
ing that it might have béen put there since the last search; we went from the pan-
try tothe bookcase and from thence to the ¢lothing room; I moved the bed clothes
to the-clothes-room. (Mrs. Crozier here fainted and was removed from the court
room.)' Further cross-examination deferred.

DANIEL MORRIS

appeared for the prisoner and testifled—Miss Tsuesdell passed the two bottles ex-
hibited; I have retained them ever since, until they were passed on to the clerk of
the court; I procured a smgple of bismuth in each drug store in Penn Yan, with the
name of the druﬁgist endorsed upon the paper. and passed them over to Prof.
Lattimotre of Rochester; I went to Dr. Barber to inquire if he had any of the bis-
muth in' His possession that he had given in this case, he said he had none.

' FRANK CROZIER,

J

affirmed for the prisoner and examined by Mr. Morris—Am the son of the prisoner;
in the Spring of 1876; my mother requested my father to get some arsenic for the

urpose of killing rats; before that she sent by me for some and 1 forgot it; 1 was at
Benn Yan with my father when when he got it; he handed it to me at Mr. Perking’
store; and I took it home and gave it to my mother; she %Jut part of it in a vial and
the remainder in some bread and stuff; and I put some of it in the coal bin and some
down cellar; (witness is here shown bottle); the bottle my mother put the arsenic in
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was about the size of that one; don’t know what she did with the bottle; I went out
of the house at that time; I learned of her being sick the Monday evening before she
died, after tea; between half past five and six o’clock; she went into the pantry and
took a bottle about the size of the bottle she put the arsenic in containing a white
powder and put some water in it; she stirred it up and took it; I asked her what she
was doing; 1 then went out and hitched up; and she and I went to Mr. Remer’s
don’t know, whether or no, she vomited before she started; she complained of her
stomach; said she felt sick at her stomach; on the way to or from Mr. Remer’s she
said she thought she had a cancer in her stomach, that she was taking stuff from the
doctor; she said before she would be eaten up by a cancer as some folks were, she
would take stuff to put herself out of the way; this conversation was Monday. even-
ing, going to Mr, Remer’s; after she returned; she took some more of this white
looking stuff; she went out, back of the house, to the cistern and vomited after she
took it, I thought she took the second powder from the same bottle as the first;
I saw her take a white powder Tuesday morning; then she laid on the lounge a
minute and went out back of the house and vomited again; I know my father went
to Dr. Barber's Tuesday forenoon; the medicine he brought from Dr. Barber was
powders; I went to Dr. Barber’s that day; shortly after dinner, and brought a bottle
of medicine he put up for her; it wasaliquid; I went to Phelps Wednesday morning,
after a hired girl ; she came the next day: her name was Nelly McCarthy; I took a
book to my father after he was in jail; it contained two photographs; the book was
a diary kept by my father. | _

[Witness is here shown photographs and identified them as the same brought to
his father by himself and says they are picturesof his mother and Nelly - MeCarthy ;
witness is here shown a book purporting to be the diary of Mrs. Crozier] I know my
mother’s hand writing; the attention of the witness is called to entries under date
of March 7th 1875; and pronounced it to be in the hand writing of his mother; also,
the attention of witness is called to enteries under date of each Sunday of March,
April, May, June and July and entries under date July 1Ith, 12th, 13th and 14th
also an entry without date at the bottem of page marked one (1) W_hl(}h reads as
follows; ‘¢ two ounges of arsenic twenty cents.”’) These entries, I think, are all in
my mother’s hand writing.  When my mother said she would take something to
make way with herself; I told her not to; I told her I did not want her to take any-
thing to kill herself, she said there wouldn’t -anybody ever know it; and 1 told her
they would; I told her if they did it would be laid to my father or me; she said there
would not anybody know it; I didn’t know she had any white powder; only that
arsenic; I did not put the bottle in a basket in the wood house. ' Before my mother
died, I noticed powders folded in papers on the south side of the pantry in a sauce
dish or a tea saucer; there were three or four left after mother’'s death, and I threw
them in the stove; I was at the jail with my wife when she had the interview with
my father; heard part of it; he told her he wanted her to tell the truth; father and
mother lived as pleasantly together as anybody; don't remember whether it was my
father or mother that requested me to go to the doctor’s on Tuesday and got medicine;
I got back from Phelps about one o’clock Wednesday night and asked mother how
she was feeling; she said about the same; father was lying on the lounge. Was
present when my mother died; I did not notice that my father put his hand mupon
my mother’s forehead and chin; I told my father that I thought the work was too
hard for my wife and that she wanted a hired girl; he said he didn’t know where he
could get anybody: he brought Minerva Dutcher there ashort time after; just before
bringing her he told me he had hired some body to come and help do the work;
he brought Minerva there Saturday night and she stayed till Monday night; about
dark and then she left. |

Cross-examined by Mr. Hicks—I was first engaged to be married to Miss Arm-
strong four or five years ago; were making some %);‘eparation for our marriage, when
my mother was taken sick; mother had talked of going to Geneva that week for me
to get my wedding clothes; she and I had talked the matter over; and she was en-
 termg into my plans ‘with a good deal of cordiality and pleasures; we went to Mr.

. Remer’s to get some money in contemplation of my marriage; my mother requested

me to get some arsenic along in April or the first of May; she said she wanted it to
kill rats with; when my father got the arsenic my mother said the rats’botJJEIBd
- her so and ate up everything in the cellar; so that she could not keep anything to

eat; she told him she would like to have him get some arsenic to kill rats. with; he
said if he did not forget it he would get some; he said to me at Perking’ store before
he forgot it he guessed he would go and get that arsenic; he gave it to.me in the
store after he got it and said there was the arsenie I could take it and give it to her;
I gave it to her shortly after I got home; about as soon as I gave it to her she put
part of it in a bottle and part of it on some bread and I put part of the bread in the
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coal bin; and a paxt of it, down  cellar; I don’t remember that I swore before the
gra.hd_ jury, ° the rest was put in a vial or bottle and she put it in fhe bureau
drawer;”’ I think it was true if 1 swore to it; I saw her go into the bedroom with the
bottle containing the arsenic; I saw her take some white substance, Tuesday night:
she was in the pantry: she poured it into a spoon from a bottle: she did not take the
bottle from the pantry: she put it in a tumbler with some water; stirred it up and
drank it; it was the color of milk and the powder looked as though it was dissolved;
it changed the water white; I say she drank that right before me in the pantry; she
brought a bottle from the bedroom; I saw her put the powder in a spoon and put it
in water and drink it; she stirred it up and was just going to drink it when 1 went
out; she, was putting it to her lips when I went out to hitch up to go to Remer’s::
1t 18 four or five miles to Remer’s: we stayed at Remer’s long enough for me to go
in and get what I went after: she did not go in; we got back home about nine o’clock::
_have heard mother complain of her stomach before—said she felt a burning sensation;
‘a something crawling: after we came back from Remer’s she took a bottle 'and took
~some more stuff; it looked like the same bottle; she was in the pantry: she had the bottle
“when I went in the room: I don't remember to whom I told the circumstance I say she
took the vial from where she put the vial that contained arsenic: I thought nothing of
the arsenic then, although she had taken a vial from the bedroom where she had
put the arseni¢; 1 did not say anything about it or think of 1t atter she told me she
was going to put herself out of the way. ,
- After she told me, going to Remer’s, that if she had a cancer in the stomach she
would put herself out of the way, and I told her not to d¢ it, 1 saw her take this
stuff, and never mentioned it to any one until just before they took her up, I don’t
remember to whom 1 stated it, or who was present, or when it was; I did not swear
before the grand T;ry that mother tried to vomit coming home from Remer’s, ]
don’t remember that I said anything about it to my father or to my wife, David
- Crozier or his wife, 1 did not tell the doctor when my mother was sick that she
said she would take poison herself; I loved my mother; I knew she had spoken of
taking poison within the same week, and I did not tell of it: I did not think of it:
I knew the further eircumstanée that I*had seen her take something that was white,
but did not mention that: I have been to the jail to see my father frequently since
he has been there, I know my father did not have a picture of Minerva Dutcher in
~the jail, because he never took a picture with him; he told me hedid not; I know he
did not have a picture of Minerva there, because I found it in the bureau drawer; 1
- will swear that he never had her picture there, that 1 ever saw; after mother’s
death Minerva Dutcher came to my father's house, and my wife and 1 left: I sup-
pose she stayed there until Monday night; after she went away we went back; at
th_ed interview in the jail between father and my wife I did not hear all that was
Question by Mr, Hicks—I understood you to say that your mother used half the
arsenic you brought home that night? Answer— Yes, sir.
Q. One-half of it for rats? A. Part of it. | |
Q. You answered me ‘‘one-half.”’—Did your father not touch you? A. No, sir.
Q. Do you swear he did not ? A. Yes, sir. |

Q. Did you swear before the grand jury-—speakiug of the arsenic—*“about half

of it was used the next day by mother on bread and butter, and the rest was put in
avial 7 A. I don’t remember. o |

Q. If you did swear so, it was true? A, 1 don’t remember. .
Q. Was it true. if ' vousaid So? A. Yes, siri if 1 said so it was true.

JOHN TRUESDELL

“sworn for the prisoner and examined by Mr. Morris—I, knew Fanny Crozier in her
~ life-time; have heard her speak of a cancer in the stomach; she said if she had one
and knew she had to die with it, rather than suffer for weeks and months she would
take something to end it at once; we had been telling her about a lady that had a
cancer whom we had been to visit; I once heard her allude to the condition of her
gtomach—said she had a turn of the old trouble in the stomach; I was at the dona-
. tion party at the Baptist church; there was nobody with George when he came in:

he sat down next to his wife; when I went to the. table Minerva was holding my
little girl; my wife requested me to remain and help take care of ner; she asked
‘Minerva to change places with her so I could hold the child; after they changed
places Minerva was next to George; George was always in the habit of carrying on
with any one who would carry on with him, no matter how small they were; it
was his way whenever he was in company; I was at the Sabbath school pienic in
the woods 1n October; George and Minerva were there; 1 did not see either of them
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(" lea,ve-, think George sang in the choir on that oceasion: George and Fann 8 family
~ relations were pieasa.nt so far as a.nythmg I ever saw : I knew them inti-
. mately.: -

Cross-examination by Mr. Hicks—My attention was not partmularly attracted to

Minerva at the donation: George sat next to her at the supper table a portion of the
time; she got up and took the seat next to George; at the time of the conver-

sation in reference to cancer, I supposed Mrs. Crozier made the remark in reference
to what we had been saying.

DA'VID CROZIER

reca.lled a.nd further examm#d by Mr. Morris—I would not say posmvely that Fan-
ny ever said she had a cancer .in her stomach; I heard her make the remark, ‘If I
had a cancer, and knew I would die with one, I would take something to put my-
~gelf out of the way before I would suffer and die by inches,” as some one died
that she mentmned 1 have hea.rd her complain of pain or frouble in her

- gtomach.

' Cross-examined by Mr. Hicks—I think there was a company present when she
"made this statement in reference to a cancer; it is my opinion that it was the same
occasion alluded to by Mrs. Truesdell; I had no idea from what she sald that she

Lantemplated smclde
DR. GEORGE M BARBER

recalled for the prlmner a.nd examined by Mr. Mﬁrns-—-—Durmg the Iaat alckness of
Fanny, David spoke to me in reference to her having a eancér in her stomach; it was
not in the presence of Fanny; I remember the Sabbath school gathering in Crosby B
~ woods: saw the prisoner there; did not see Minerva; when I was going there I saw
Minerva—she was alone in the highway, going north from the woods where the
pﬁcnn “?(Eil.s held; it was on the direct road to Benton Center, 10r1:y or fifty rods from
the Woods, 3
7 Cross-examination, —The fivst time Mrs. Crozier was sick I, think bhe told me
' ghe thought it was caused by eating cucumbers; the second time she said she thought
it was bre ought on by hard work and eating ben ies and onions; I have been her fam-
“ily physician for seven years, yet in all that time she had never mtlmat.ed to me that

~she had a cancer; T ’(;01(1 her I regarded it dyspepsia..
| DAVID BUSHNELL

sworn for the prisoner and examined by Mr Morris—I reside near Berton Center:
wad at the Baptist chureh the Sabbath after Mrs. Crozier was buried: saw George
there; he sat behmd the stove on the north side; I'sat in the back slip, next to the
alley; I think I sat nearer to George than Mr. West' did; I' did not observe George
- «going out of the church during serviee; did not oo him wrlt.mg, I didn’ t miss him
from the church at all during the service. "
(ross-examination by Mr. Hicks—1I bélong to that church: T go thEre for the

: purpose of hearing the ?rea.chmg I 'was' paying strict attention to the preaching
.that Sunday; the seat l was in was" at mght angles with the seat wlnch George

- oceupied,
MA'RTIN w. BARDEN

re¢alled for the rmoner and further testxﬁed—*—At the time I called at Crozmr 8 Fan-

ny said that if she was sure she had a cancer she would take something to kill or

~eure it; she took a white ﬁubatam,e at the time; she put it in a tumbler with a tea-

Eoonful of water; it was in connection with that a.ct that she ma.de the remark
18 Was, between the mlddle and twentieth of last July.,

Cross’-eia,inined by Mr. Hu,ks—-—She was lymg on the lounge in the dining  room

when I went in; she got up in a sitting position; she only ste%?ed from there to the
stand while T was in the house; on the stand there was a tumbler and some water,

a vial and a teaspoon : 1 think it was a white powder in the vial ; she tip this
vial up and-poured some of the powder into the spoon and put it in the tumbier; she
stirred it up in the water and it looked milky rwhite; I think the first I told this was
to Mr. Morris; I did not go to him voluntarily and tell it; T don’t know how he hap-
- pened to know I knew it; Mr. Morris was the first man I told it to, and I told it to

him to-day: Lwas subpeenaed last Friday: nobody knew until to-da what I know
about this; I kept it close to myself as a secret; it was drawn out of me a.gamst

my will,
Court adjourned until Saturday morning at 9 o’clock.
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ALMON C. MALLORY

sworn for the prisoner—have been the pastor of the Baptist church at Benton Cen-
ter for twenty-four years; knew defendant and his wife; they attended church
there. Witness was then asked to state the text from which;he had preached each
Sunday from April 18th, 1875 till July 1875, (for the purpose of identifying the diary
of Mrs. Crozier; the diary was then offered in evidence and was excluded, with the
exception of page one), | |

GEORGE E. CROZIER

sworn in his own behalf and examined in his own behalf—examined by Mr. Morris:
I am the prisoner; am 42 years old; I remember the last sickness of my wife; I ad-
ministered to her the precise medicine the Doctor prescribed; did not add anything
to it; Ileft the Sabbath School gathering spoken of before  the services closed; no
one was with me; I went directly to the graveyard where my wife was buried; after
that I saw Minerva Dutcher coming up t%; road from Sherwood’s towards the Cen-
ter; after I went in and got a drink at James McAlpine’s well she was eoming up
near the corner of the graveyard, just at the entrance; there was but one; our
direction home was the same: we walked together probably one-half or three:quar-
ters of a mile: we separated about a quarter of a mile east of where her father
lived; all T know is that I met her at the time I speak of; had made no agreement
to meet her; had not expected to meet her; 1 was at the Baptist church the Sabbath
after my wife's funeral; I positively did not write a note to Minerva that day; I did
not give her any paper or writing; I did not administer to my wife any medicine or
any substance of any kind except-what the physician prescribed; I handed her
water when she called for it ; I did not give any poison of any character, not to my
knowledge; 1 do not remember putting my hand on her chin; have no recollection
of that particular circumstance; I remember rubbing her forehead and face at her
request; at any time when I was preparing medicine in the pantry, did not know of
Mrs. Sguires’ coming in; have been affected with this nervous difficulty ever since
I was 8 years old. e W ko | |

‘Cross-examined by Mr. Hicks:  When I met Minerva Dutcher I had gone, oh,
perhaps fifty or sixty rods from the graveyard: I did not see her until 1 came out of
the gate at K/Ir McAlpine’s yard: saw her at the Sunday School Convention; I left
the vention towards night, alone; 1 went there with my girl that was living with
me; there were six or seven of us in the wagon: I walked back part of the way
with Minerva Dutcher; I left the grave yard where my wife was buried and met
Minerva Dutcher; I did not purchase any poison in April; 1 got some in the spring
at Mr. Wheeler’s drug store; 1 gave it to. my son at Mr. Perkins’ store; I don’t know
what arsenic is; I never saw any. to know it, until yesterday; I bought some at
Mr. Wheeler’s but did not see it; | went in and asked him for it; I knew it was a
~ powder; I bought flve cents worth; there was not a very large quantity:; I asked
tor five cents worth of arsenic; didn’t know how much five cents would buy; told
- him what I wanted it for; I got it of Mr. Wheeler himself; I got it the first day of
May; I did not carry it home myself, because I gave it to my boy; I had other things
to carry; was not so loaded that I could not carry five cents worth of arsenic; I ex-
pected to go home: there was no reason why I could not earry it; had it in my hand
when I went into Perkins’; 1 once gave Minerva Dutcher a ring; 1 took her to my
house after my wife died; she staid there with me from Saturday till Monday night;
my son and daughter-in-law left: I was at the Baptist church the Swnday after my
wife died; but don’t think I spoke to Minerva, |

Re-direct—by Mr. Morris: At the occurrence near Bellona, when York’s dog
came out, I had a vial in my hand; it was saugar of lead; T'got it of Miles Lewis;
Mr. Davis, a barber; suggested my getting it. to make a lotion to clean off the dan-
druff from my scalp; I obtained it that same day: 1 got the riRE that I gave Min-
erva Dutchér in a package of prize candy; I think I paid twoshillings forthe package
on the railroad from Canandaigua to Phelps: I found this riug in it and gaveit to
Minerva; she returned it to me; [ did not have Minerva Dutcher’s picture at the jail at
any time; did not present a picture to anybody at the jail and say it was Minerva;
at the jail T had my wife's picture, and Miss McCarthy’s; Frank fetched my diary to
me and Miss McCarthy’s picture was in it; the pictures of my wife and ﬁ'elly Mec-
Carthy were the ones shown by me at the jail. ha _

SAMUEL A. LATTIMORE NS 15 Ol 11 9T

sworn for the prisoner and examined by Mr. Morris—Have been Professor of Chem-
istry in the University at Rochester since 1867; am acquainted with the substance
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called sub-nitrate of bismuth; am acquainted to some extent with the medical au-
thorities treating of that substance; am acquainted with the ** United States Dis-
pensatory” and ‘‘Taylor’'s Treatise on Poisons™; they are both regarded as standard
works, . Mr, Morris divided to me five packages of sub-nitrate of bismuth; T anal-
yvzed each of those packages, and found arsenic in them: I procured Rochester
specimens of sub-nitrate of bismuth of druggists of respectable standing there; 1
found arsenic in them. 4

'

DANIEL MORRIS

took the stand and testified: There was no change of the puckages that were in nmy
possession from the moment I obtained them at the drug stores until I gave them to
the Professor; not a particle was added to them.

PROFESSOR LATIMORE

again appeared upon the stand: The analysis made was what is called a qualitative
analysis—not a quantitative examination; there was a difference in the specimens.
- Cross-examined by Mr, Hicks: I received these .._gackages from Mr. Morris three
weeks ago; there were five of them; I analyzed each separately; sub-nitrate of bis-
muth is a manufacture: it is not the bismuth in its natural state: it depends entirely
upon the manufacture of the article as to the guantity of mineral arsenic it con-
tains; T have a knowledge of the process of manufacture; it is a very complicated
one, owing to the general presenee of arsenic iu the ore and other minerals. The
process described in the U. S, Dispensatory is directed to the elimination of arsenic
and other impurities: the outline of the process is that the metal is dissolved in
nitriec acid, converting, at the same time, any arsenic that miay be present into
arsenic acid; it is possible that this combines,with the bismuth, forming an arseniate
of bismuch; by treating with water the nitrate of bismuth and the arseniate of
bismuth are decomposed: these should be carefully manufactured so as to leave
the sub-nitrate in a state of freedom from arseniate of bismuth or arsenic
acid; the ore 1is first roasted for the purpose of eliminating the arsenic; 1
have never made an examination of sub-nitrate of bismuth to find arseni-
ous acid: I don’t know the quantity of bismuth analyzed, nor the quantity of arsenic
produced: I obtained fromeach Package' of bismuth produced a large number of spots:
[ was astonished at the result; 1 did not produce it in crystaline form; I found no
such quantity in any of the packages as would endanger life. | |

DR. CHARLES WOODWARD

sworn for the prisoner and examined by Mr. Morris: Have been a physician and
surgeon since 1850; am acquainted with sub-nitrate of bismuth; the books c¢aution
us particularly as to its purity or impurity, as it contains arsenic; the time ranges
from a few minutes to several days, for a large dose of arsenic taken into the
stomach to become sufficiently absorbed to destroy life; ineach case it depends upon
the absorption; 1 heard Professor Towler speak of finding a ball in the stomach:
could not learn the nature of that ball from his deseription. 'The doctor was exam-
ined at length as to the effect of poisons upen the human system. L]

DR. HENRY W. NICHOLS

sworn for the prisofierand examined by Mr, Morris—Have practiced medicine thirty
years; the largest share of my practice has been.in New York City: practiced a year
in South Carolina; four years in the army and the last ten years in Rushville; grad-
uated at Geneva; have never had a case of arsenical poisoning: am familiar with
same authorities in reference to some cases: the limits for death from arsenical
poisoning is from two hours to sixteen days; the average time set down is twenty-
our hours. | i 55 X AR * P |

Cross-examined by Mr. Hicks— My reading upon this subject is very recent; we
post up cases like lawyers do; have never practiced law; don’t ' know how lawyers
post up, only as 1 suppose; it is a fact that arseni¢ taken mto the human stomach
produces death very soon; within a few hours: arsenic is an irritant poison; it acts
pretty directly on the nervous systemx and produces more or léss numbneéss and
sometimes narcotism; five grains of arsenic s a poisonous ' dose; fifty grains would
kill ten persons. Dr. Nichols also gave a detailed ‘account of effécts of poisoning
by arsenie. F i O Cyaasy ot 9 —Y ot ]
.- NELLY MC CARTHY

affirmed for the prisoner a.nd_exaliimed iby- Mzx, Morris—1 feéide at 'Ph.-elps; know
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George Crozier; I went te Crozier's about one hour before his wife died and remained
about six weeks: soon after her death I saw some powders done up in the pantry n
a saucer on a shelf; don’t know how many there were or what became of them.

Cross-examined—No one requested me to go into the pantry and see if there weve
any powders: can’t tell whether there were three or four, or a dozen; T did not
speak of it to any one: the first that I thougbt of it I received a letter from George.
asking if I had'seen any powders there.

Court took a recess till 2 p. m,

FRANK CROZIER

re-called and further examined by Mr. Morris—I was at the Baptist church the
Sabbath after my mother was buried: 1 sat two or three feet from my father in a
seat right in front of him; did not see my father write anything on that occasion:
~ did not notice his getting up and going out of church during service; father came

into church after the opening prayer and after the second hymn, and before the
sormon had commenced. S N S | | |

Cross-examined—1I set directly in front of my father; I turned around as I heard
some one come in; most always do, rols

g4 1
'

HORACE UNDERWOOD,

Joseph Long, Rev. A. G. Mallory, O. P, Guthrie, John Truesdell, Dr. Barber, and S.
B. Gage, were called and sworn on behalf of the prisoner and testified as to his
general good character in the community in which he lived.

GEORGE E. CROZIER .

re-called and further examined by Mr. Morris—On Tuesday morning 1 went to Dr.
-~ Barber’s and got six or eight powders . for my wife; the powders the. Doctor left
' afterwards, were left on the table; he gave the directions to me; I put them in the
antry with the other powders: the note 1 gave Minerva Dutcher at the school
1ouse was not written by me: if my memory serves me right, Dr. Barber ordered
me to give the powders In water: she said she would rather I would give them in
something else, as she could taste them, and then I gave them to her in sugar, and
she asked me to give them to her in scraped apple, and I did so; 1 always fixed the
powders - in the pantry where they were kept; they were all white, excepting one,
and that the doctor called Dovers powder; after Frank requested me to get a hired
irl, I inquired in Penn Yanif they knew where I could get one; I rode home with
r. Manby's people, and at Benton Center I went on home on foot and overtook
Minerva’s mother, and asked her where 1T could get' a hired girl; 1 wanted to know
if Minerva was at home; I did not go to Minerva to hire her, T went and saw her
father and told him 1. wanted to hire Minerva if T could get her—and I wanted to
know the price, and he said he could not tell, he would see what the work was; he
wanted to get some wood, and T drew the wood to him, and she was to work and
ay for the wood; she came and stayed until Monday night and I took her home.
went to Dutcher’s after my wife's death; they were making me some shirts and
handkerchiefs, and ‘had agreed to make me some pants; I went thereto see Minerva’s
mother. I remember my son’s wife being at the jail and talking with me; I did not
say to her in substance, or in precise language, tijlat if she would swear for me she
would not want; if 1 said anything to her or anybody on the subject 1 told them to
swear t0 the truth, let it be what it would; [ don’t remember having asked her if she
heard Fanny say she had a cancer in her stomach; my wife had spoken to me about
having a cancer in her stomacn a number of times; I have heard her say she was
afraid she had a cancer; she said she had a gnawing pain: she had had it a long
time; she said she was afraid she had a canecer; it seemed as if there was something
gnawing; she complained of this four or five years; she spoke of a post mortem
examination being held over another lady in the community; she said if she was a
friend of hers they never should open her; that she never wanted to be cut to
pieces in that form: I never {mrchased-: any arsenic, except at the time spoken of
when I handed it to Frank; | never put any in the-cupboard in the woodhouse that
I know of; I never administered any in any form for any purpose; I dare not do it.
Cross-examination by Mr. Hicks—I don’t know what arsenic is; I stated to you

it was. a wder: have not told any one since I, hayve been in
jail that I did not know whether it was  a powder or a liquid; T can’t fix
the date when my wife first spoke about the cancer in her stomach; a pain in the
stomach introduced thesubject: I can’t say what was first said; I can’t state the
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conversation as it occurred; I think the first of it was 3 years ago; no one was. pres-
ent: I can’t say how many conversations I have had with her on the subject: I sup-
pose it was the first conversation that I have stated; the second conversation was
about the same thing; I can’t give the words, only she was afraid she had a cancer:
I told her perhaps she had nothing onlya pain in her stomach; she said she was
afraid it was; I think I spoke to my brother about it; can’t tell when; my son and 1
had a talk about it; I did not mention the subjéct of cancer to the physician ;I had
no fear that she had a cancer; I did not tell my counsel about this cancer in her
stomach until after T was arrested; I am very positive he did not ask me about it:
don’t know as I have said anything about it only once; I told him my wifer was
afraid she had a cancer; in regard to what 1 said to my mother-in-law, if 1 said any-
thing, I told her to tell the doctor; I can’t tell as David and 1 talked on the cancer
q&?stion more than once; it made an impression on my mind; I never said a.nythlqg
‘about it to any doctor; she did not want me to say anything; I saw her die and sai
“no word about it to her physician: I did not think of her telling me not to say any-

thing about it when I told my counsel; I first gave the powder Tuesday morning:
I brought it in a spoon from the pantry to the bedroom; I gave it to my wife in the
water; the powder was white that I gave her; the liquid medicine stood in her room:
I gave her the Dovers powder asnear as I can tell; about half-past nine Wednes-
day night; the Doctor left some powder Wednesday on the table; I carried them
into the pantry. <4 2

WALTER W. BECKER

sworn for the prisioner and examined by Mr. Morris—Witness is shown a book:) 1
have seen this diary before, in the hands of Mr. Morris; I have been acquainted with
the hand writing of Fanny Crozier during some portion of her life; I could not
swear whether the page shown meis or is not in her hand-writing; I was not ac-
quainted with her pencil writing enough to swear either way; some portions of it
have the form of her writing: if it had been writen with a pen I might have given
an opinion; I can’t form an opinion of the pencil writing.

~ Cross-examination—The “r”’ in the word Frank dnd *‘r” in the word around are

ELIZABETH A. TRUESDELL

recalled and examined by Mr. Morrie—Havé heard Fanny speak about a tronble in

her stomach; think about 3 years ago: I don't think she ever told me any particulars:
she spoke of having pain in her stomach; George Crozier was nearly always writing
while in the choir at the church. | |

Cross-examination—Quite a good many of the choir had something td do be-
sides singing and flirtation;don’t know who ¢ommenced that additional service in
the church; have not talked with Mr. Morris since I was on the stand before: the
flirtation with the girls in the choir began more than a year ago. s

EMILY H. MALLORY

afflrmed for the prisoner and examined by Mr. Morris— Am the wife of Elder Mal-

lory: (witness is shown diary) I saw a diary at the residence of Mrs, Crowzier that

resembles that; it was after George was in jail; think it was in one of the smal),

* drawers of the bureau; there was Mrs. Crozier's jewelry and some personal things of,
Mrs. Crozier's in the drawer. | |

Cross-examination—It was during the Coroner’s inquest that I found the
diary: we looked through the kitchen and through pantry and through the drawers
of the bureau; David, Dolly and Frank were with me in the pantry; we found goda
and salts and a small bottle containing white powder in the %ureau; I made an ex-
amination of the diary to find out what was in it; didn’t know but it might be
useful; I suggested this examination: I delivered the bottle to Dr, Tompkins; he

took asample from each and gave it to Mr. Wilkinson a druggist.
~  The defence again rested. |

v

THEODORE ¥.§WHEELER

sworn for the people—I reside in this village: keep a  drug store: the prisoner has
traded at my store occasionally in the past 2 years; I have no reccollection of selling
him any arsenic within the past 18 months; we keep a register for the purpose of
making entries of sales of poisons; I have examined that book for a year back:
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there are 480 grains in an ounce; an ordinary teaspoon will hold from 130 to 150
grains of arsenic. | “

HENRY C. COLLIN

sworn for the people—I was the foreman of the grand jury by whom the defendant
was indicted; Frank Crozier was sworn before that jury on the complaint against
~ his father; he then swore that he saw his mother take a teaspoonful of white
powder in the pantry before going to Mr. Remer’s. he swore that she was sick and
did not know but she would vomit before she got home, (on the way home:)

. . J. WARREN BROWN,

Caworn for the péople and examined by Mr. Hicks—1I was the clerk of the grand jury

that found the in(i)ictment against Mr. Crozier; I took part of the minutes, and in-
tended to takethem correctly; Frank swore that part of the arsenic was used on
“bread and butter and the rest put in a vial or bottle, |

WILLIAM T. REMER

sworn. for the people and examined by Mr. Hicks—1I reside in the southeast part of
.. Benton, five or, six miles from the defendant’s; recolect Frank and Mis. Crozier
coming to my house the Monday before she died; I saw and talked'with her; saw

nothing unusual in respect to her appearance and health.
DR. FRANK TOMPKINS

recalled and further testified on behalf of the péople—Mrs, Mallory gave me two
bottles containing white substance; I delivered a'portion of their contents to Mr.
« John Wilkinson, a chemist: At At | '

e o JOHN WILKINSON

sworn for the people and examined by Mr. Hicks—Reside in Penn Yan and am a
druggist and chemist: Doctor Tompkins delivered to me two powders for analysis;
the sample from the large bottle was carbonate of magnesia: contents of the other
bottle were lac sulphur. |

*ERNEST BORDWELL

sworn for the people and examined by Mr. Stewart—Have been a clerk in my
father’s drug store for about three years; the night of the 16th or 17th of February,
Mr, Morris came into the store and asked for five grains of sub-nitrate of bismuth:
I put some up on the 24th of February from the same package and sealed it up and
the next day took it to Prof. Towler at Geneva: 1 got some from Mr. Wilkinson's
store, which I also took. TR 248

| | EDWARD C.  WILKINSON

SWOI:n—-Am a dr_u%gist; Mr. Morris obtained a, package of sub-nitrate of bismuth:
Idelivered a sample from the same package aftewards to young Bordwell; I sealed
it and delivered it to him. e | |

./« PROF. JOHN TOWLER

recalled and fnrther testified—I obtained from Eirmest Bordwell two packages of
sub-nitrate of bismuth: I subjected each of them separately to the same analysis as
used in making the analysis of the stomach for the investigation of arsenie acid:
by this process I failed to get any crystals of arsenic acid. using the same process
by which I obtained innumerable crystals from the stomach: I failed to obtain any
trace of arsenic: I deteymined therenpon  that there was no arsenic in quantities

}ha'l; could be discriminated.
; i 4 i i &

. SARAH J. TOWNER

- recalled and further exaniined by Mr. Stewart—Went to Crozier's  last spring and
took dinner; aftar dinner I had a burning sensation in my stomach; Mrs. Crozier said
she would give me some magnesia and produced a vial; am acquainted with the
hand writing of Fanny Crozier; have corresponded with her ever since we were
children. (The attention of the witness is called to the entry in the diary of Mrs.
Crozier '‘two ounces of arsenie, 20 cents.”) It doesn’t look like her hand writing to
me; it is not her style of writing. . ~ | ) ol o
The people here rest.
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Swumming up for the Défense,

At about 9 o’clock on Tuesday morning, the 14th, Hon. D. Morris commenced
summing up for the defense. Addressing the jury, he reminded them of the previ-
ous suggestion of the Court, that they should hold all opinions in abeyance uutil
the evidence on both sides is fully heard. A human life is at stake here, and you
have a most solemn and important duty to perform. You are lawfully bound to
presume, at the outset; that the accused is completely innocent, until that presnmp-
tion is fully overthrown by ample evidence. " Counsel here cited legal authority to
the effect that each circumstance alleged in such a case must be distinctly proved,
and ‘“‘a thousand suspicions do not constitute proof.” We care not, therefore, what
may be the suspicions of this audience, or of the busy gossips of Benton Center,—.
the law gives the accused at the outset the full presumption of innocence; and more
conclusive evidence is needed than has been produced here to enable the distinguished
counsel from abroad ng. Hicks] to come here from another county and hound a
respectable citizen of Yates county to his death. | | |

The prosecution allege that the accused criminally caused the death of his wife
by poison, and upon them falls the burden of proof to demonstrate this. It has
been shown here, and we admit, that white arsenic was found in the stomach of the
deceased woman; and the important question for the jury to determine is,how came
tha. arsenic there? Now, is there any possibility that she either designedly or by
mistake took that poison? We assume that there is, and also that evidences are
numereus to show frequent fatal mistakes of physicians and druggists in prescrib-
ing and preparing remedies. - ‘ _. "1 g | ~

The wife of the defendant was sick, and like a frank, honest man, with no con-
cealment and no evasion or neglect, he went to his family physician, detailed her
symptoms, procured the medicine, took it home, and as the testimony shows, gave
it according to directions. We have here the evidence of the son, substantiating
his father. Has that son and only child, earnestly loving his mother and beloved
by her, turned against her,in the face of factsand in defiance of her sacred memory?
It 18 impossible, and there is in all history no such instance. A danghter possibf;f
might be thus recreant, on behalf of a father, but a son who truly loved his mother
as this one did, never could. |

After the father went for medicine, the son went and procured some. Previously
the husband had twice gone with his wife to consult Dr. Barber regarding her case.
Was this a symptom of his guilt ? TRather, it is a strong inference of his innocence.
Again she was taken ill, on the night of Monday, July 26th, and the next morning
the hustba.nd goes to the same physician and procures medicine for her and admin-
isters it. | ' | |

The suspicion of Mrs. Towner during that final illness of Fanny Crozier shows a
wrong if not a wicked and malevolent mind. Which of you, gentlemen of the
jury, if really guilty as charged here against the accused. would send for your fam-
‘ily physiecian to come and treat that wife? Would a man actuated by guilty intent.

and desiring secresy, do that ? Would or could he do the deadly act charged here.
especially if he had been uniformly kind and indulgent to that wife, as it has been
shown here the defendant was? 1In this case the physician was called and came.
and he examined the matter ejected from Mrs. Crozier's stomach. No guilty man
woiald have run the close hazard of detection, then and there, by calling in a med-
ical expert, | |

Ag?i)s, there has not been a single moral evidence of guilt in. this case. If the
defendant be really guilty, then he is the most artful, cunning and self-controlled
criminal, as well as medical expert, that I have ever seen. 1If guilty, he must
have positively known that upon the exhumation of that wife’s body. infallible evi-
dence of his erime would be found—yet thereupon he shows no trepidation and no
desire to escape, and not a symptom of guilt, | i

On Wednesday morning, July 28th, Dr.. Barber goes again to wvisit his patient.
He gave some more medicine, and he thinks he saw some symptoms of arsenical

oisoning, but he mentioned the fact to nobody. The doctor is' not on trial here:
ut if he were, and had himself committed a terrible mistake, you would not say

he was consciously or wilfully guilty.

The fair, legal presumption is, that the accused gave those remedies to his
wife precisely as they were prescribed: and direct, unguestionable. proof must be
adduced to set aside this presumption. We have not had here a scintilla of real
proof that he did not. | |
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A suspicious woman—Mrs. Towner—was there on the day preceding Mrs. Cro-
zier's death. She pretends that she suspected this defendant was giving his wife
oison; and yet she gave no alarm to any one, nor even whispered such suspicion.
‘\)’V’hat can we infer from tnat unfounded suspicion, save that it is ‘“ evil to him
who evil thinks?” Mrs. Squires was attending Fanny on Wednesday night, and
she says she had a similar suspicion. She nursed the sick woman the entire night;
the son came home during the night, but she uttered no alarm to him. If her sus-
picion had any foundation in fact or reason, would she not have told him, and ear-
nestly and excitedly cried out to him, ‘ Frank! I believe your father is poisoning
your mother ?” ' Instead of this, she quietly tells Frank his mother is “about the
same,'when he returned and asked about her condition. This suspicious woman says
that she followed Crozier into the pantry ; the door stood wide open, and she saw
him with a teaspoon of medicine in one hand, and with the other he wiped the
knife with which he had scraped the apple—and this was all she saw. Would he not
have shut the door when going in there, if on a guilty errand? or would he have
dared to undertake such a crime with friends of the family and the physician
almost at his elbow? Remember, also, that the accused himself, on the day of
his wife's death, sent for Dr, Allen, a very able physician, to confer with Dr. Bar-
ber about the wife's physical condition—something which no one who had guiltily
administered poison would do, or was ever known to do. This fact is a powerful
moral evidence of George K. Crozier's innocence. |

Beyvond question, one of the most trivial and contemptible efforts put forth in
this case by the prosecution is their attempt to dragin the fact that the accused
placed his hand upon his wife's forehead when she was in the last throes of
dissolution. It does not requive serious notice, except as showing the eagerness of
the people’s counﬁel to catch at nothing, =

On the day th: leceased died, her husband said she had stated, to him previously
that she was averse to being du 11? and cut up after burial. Gentlemen, this is
not to be construed as any proof of this defendant’s criminality, however much it

may be tortured or misconstrued; it is. instead, a perfectly natural feeling and
expression, | | |

We assume, gentlemen of the jury, that the defendant is not utterly idiotic, and
that if he were really guilty he would not have sat quietly down aftet that death,
disinterment and examination, and with no exhibition of guilty emotion, made no
effort to leave this section and eseape from justice. Thisis a moral evidence of his
innocence, -

'The counsel then cited from medical authority, showing that a large quantity of
arsenic found in the human stomach does not necessarily indicate that it killed the
person, as it may have been unabsorbed or unassimilated. Further, the fact was
stated that the analysis of a chemist—Prof. Towler included—is often unreliable;
and counsel contrasted the manner of Prof's Towler and Lattimorein giving evidence
here. The ten different analyses of sub-nitrate of bismuth by Prof. Lattimore were
referred to,showing that he found arsenie in each specimen, and that in Prof. Towler's -
analysis, by a different process, of some of the same bismuth, the latter found none. |
Gentlemen, it is utterly unsafe to rely upon the evidence of one chemist alone.
Further, the testimony of the coroner here has not shown that he took due care and
precaution in regard to the jar in which were placed the stomaeh and liver; nor has
it been shown that the zinc and other metals in the apparatus of Prof. Towler were
free from mmpurity. May not Prof. Towler have been mistaken? ‘*Who shall
decide when doctors disagree?” = Further, Prof. Lattimore is fully substantiated by
Taylor’'s work on poisons. [Extracts from which were here read, showing cases of
poisoning by impure sub-nitrate of bismuth, and that such. poisonous impurity may
be detected by ‘ Marsh’s Process.”” Doses of this medicine will therefore produce
arsenical symptoms, | Prof. Towler stated at the coroner’s inquest that he had then
made a complete analysis; afterwards he informed counsel for the defense that he
had made a complete analysis; and here he has testified that at that time he had
not fully completed such analysis.

The exhumation of Mrs. Crozier's body was made by Drs. Waddell and Barber,
They procured by mistake the first time the lungs and heart of deceased, instead of
the stomach and liver; they are reputable physicians, of years' practice, and if they
may thus err, how can we say or believe that one chemist operating alone may be
infalilble 7 | |

Dr. Waddell found, upon a second examination, an unnatural derangement of
~ the organs, the heart being misplaced—and it was this fact that had caused his error.
Now, the deceased had long supposed herself to be afflicted with cancer in the
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stomach; whether she really was or not,'such was her belief; it is in evidence here
by two witnesses. that she had declared she would put herself out of the way if she
thoughtishe had acancer; and it is credible evidence. | | T

We eome now to the motive alleged by the prosecution for comimitting the crime
charged here, 'There has not' been shown one particle of good evidence here on
this point against the dc¢cused. Not one fact is shown of anyv lack of harmony be-
tween himself and his wife; not one point that she'was neglected by him or in any
manner displeased with him. Was it an impropriety or an evidence of c¢riminal
infent that he passed notes to Minerva Duteher in the choir or stood close to her on
- the church platform in broad daylight” ; |

Men do not carry on liasonsin that public manner. . Was the fact that he chanced
to set by her at the supper table during the donation party improper? Anyone who
can so regard it, feeds himself or herself “‘out of a very small spoon.”  During
twenty, years of married life the relations between the accused and his wife were
invariably pleasant and harmonious; and we challenge the production of one other
instance of married life of that duration in which se much, harmony and happy
agreement can be shown. | | | |

It is attempted to convicet the aceused not only of murder, but of improprieties;
and it is urged, that he was seen walking homeward with Minerva i)utcher on
Sunday, and from the Convention in Crosby's woods. Can this be used as evidence
of crime, when seven witnesses have here vindicated the character of the accused
for regpectability and integrity, and there has also been no evidence whatever
against the character of Miss Dutcher ? Further, the talk was ** mere idle gossip.”
(as it has been called here by a respectable Benton clergyman); and when, it was
agitated in the'community, and Mrs. Truesdell requested accused not to call there
in her absence to see Miss Dutcher, he frankly said he would not, ar’ thuat he
‘“ thought no more of her than of any other respectable.girl.”

The incident of Crozier engaging Miss Dutcher and taking her to his house about
two months after his wife died, was, we admit, an indiscretion, in view of the
zossip and feeling in the community, but it was nothing more, and can’ afford no
evidence whatever of committing the crime of poisoning his wife.

We come now the question, where did the deceased procure the fatal poison ?
The Court will pmbnb({y charge you that vou must exclude any hypothesis that the
accused administered it wilfully or eriminally, unless a fully adequate motive is
scown. He procured medicine from the doctor, and gave it honestly and in good
faith. Previous to this, on Monday night, the son saw his mother take a white
powder for disordered stomach, and then he took her to Remer’s, came back and
sae took some more, and went out and vomited. The next morning he saw her
take another dose, and it also caused her to vomit; and he saw the bottle no more.
Cn the way to Remer's she told Frank she would ‘‘take something to put herself
out of the way.”” The idea of her takingj arsenic was not suspected by him until
atfter she died. She had previously declared she would put herself out of the way
- by taking something,” and the husband clearly had nothing to do with *‘ the
svuff” she then took, any further than to buy it at her request in Penn Yan the
previous spring.

Mr. Morris then referred to Mr. West's testimony about the accused having been
s¢en by him to pass a note to Miss Dutcher in the church on the Sunday after his
wifes's death. Mr. Bushnell saw no such note passed, and the accused says he
did not give her such a note. The prisoner is a credible witness, unless impeached.
Crentlemen, 1 am a practical physiagnomist; now. please gaze upon the respective
faces of Mr. West and of George E. Crozier! You saw both West and the accused
upon the witness stand: and we claim that the latter has by his demeanor here
manifested honesty and straightforward innocence. Compare his lineaments with
those of West, and sey if you cannot believe the accused.

Now, the point concerning the Baptist convention in the woods: A Mus,
Barber says she saw accused and Miss Dutcher leave the assemblage, and he swears
that he went to visit his wife's grave, and that he and Miss Dutcher afterwards
accidentally met; and you are bound to believe this was not a precencerted, clan-
destine meeting. If for forty-two years, as has been shown here, George E. Crozier
maintained a good and unimpeachable reputation, you are bound to believe him
now, and not permit some mere male or female gossip to blot that reputation out
o0 mere suspicion.

The young son of that deceased mother now comes here and tells what he saw

hig mother do; and if you cannot believe him, you cannot believe in human nature.
If he has not told the truth, then you cannot believe there is truth in the world.
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In the handwriting of that mother you have seen the entry in her diary of the
** 2 0z, of arsenic,” and the husband and the son says the writing is hers; while
other witnesses say they will not swear whether it ishers or not. = The supposition
has been urged here that she took magnesia; but. gentlemen, you do not know
but she may have made a mistake, and taken arsenic,.

Martin Barden has testified that he was there on the 11th of July, and saw Mrs.
Crozier take a white powder, and that she then said to him that she had a difficulty
in the stomach, and she was taking something to ‘¢ either kill or cure,’’.

The ball or cyst found in the stomach of the deceased, it has been testified here,
undoubtedly delayed the fatal absorptionof thepoison. [Counsel here defined the
three classes of circurastantial evidence of murder, as previously detailed in his
opening for the defense. | o'? & | |

In closing, counsel insisted: upon the quoted medical facts that poisoning by
aconite will produce blindness, while arsenic alone will never produce it; and
that sub-nitrate of bismuth is a great irritant upon an inflamed stomach, as well as
aconite; and both of these were administered to Mrs. Crozier. Also, that at the
beginning of her final illness, she was seized with vomiting before her husband had
given her any medicine received from the doctor. = With these facts before vou.
gentlemen of the jury, you have not only *‘ a reasonable doubt” as to the guilt of
the aceused, but you are in solemn duty bound to acquit him. The alleged ‘“‘chain
of circumstantial evidence’’ which the prosecution have offered here is deficient
in some of its most essential links; it utterly lacks a clear motive; and you cannot
under your oath accept it. In 'behalf of my client, concerning some of the wit-
nesss who have here testified against him, I would here say of them, ‘* Father.

forgive them, for they know not what they do.” .+ ;
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At 314 o’clock on Wednesday afternoon, Edwin Hicks, Esq., associate counsel for
the People, began to sum up the case for the prosecution, his argument being i
as follows : | | | | 2 itk Lar

£

May it please the Court and you, Gentlemen of the Jury—Itisa cause of cor \,#
ulation that we are approaching so nearly the close of this somewhat protracted and
most important trial. The earnest, deep-felt interest that it has created is indicated.
by the eagér, listening multitude that has thronged this court. room from its com-
mencement to this hour. -From the neighborhood where this fearful <orime was
committed, from all parts of your county, the people have gathered around and .
within this ** Temple of Justice,” to witness the progress of our investigations and
the development of the guilt, or the trinmphant vindieation of the innocence, of
this unfortunate defendant. Such has been the evidenceof the publie interest and
the popular appreciation of the importance of this trial. ‘When a erime of such
fearful magnitude has been committed, it is. caleulated to arrest public at-
tention. - e , ,

In its investigation the people should take it upon themselves to see that justice—
no more, no less—simple and exact justice—shall be rendered between the people
on the one hand and the accused on the other, that no person accused of crime shall
enter the doors of this court room without feeling that the law is to him ‘‘a shield
as well as a sword.” | : EOTT O |

Gentlemen. 1t is impossible thit you and each of you were not deeply impressed
with the due solemnity of the forinal proceedings by which you were selected from
the body of the county of Yates to sit in judgment upon the guilt or innocence of
this detendant. 'You have a solemn, a fearful responsibility to share with each
member of this Court, and with the counsel whohave had the responsible,the impor-
tant duty of conducting this trial.  In the performance of that duty you will let no
considerations of sympathy swerve you to the right hand or to the left, but with a
strict fidelity to the truth of this case, as you shall see it developed by the testimony,
pronounce your verdict., The defendant is a citizen and long a resident of your
county—to some of you a neighbor.  But when you took your seats in that jnry-
box these considerations were obliterated from mind and heart, and you were
absolved from the ties of {riendship and became the inflexible ministers of Justice.
And in your deliberations you should remember that ‘*Mercy to the guilty is injustice
to the innocent” —that clemency is an element that does not enter into the jury-box
— that it belongs to another tribunal, and there let it be exercised.

Gentlemen,l anrassailed by my learned friend with the unjust imputation that
1 have come {rom another county ‘‘to hound a citizen of Yates to his death.” We
have met here, gentlemen, upon this trial for the first time—as strangers. Never
before have I lcoked in the ftace of one of you, This defendant to me was alike
unknown. 1 feel no animosity toward him, I do not believe that a_'I&y one of you
will Le impelled to cut-weigh the testimony against him by any effort of mine,
even were [impelled to urge you todo so. At the request of your learned Distriet
Attorney, and by the assignment of the first Judge of your county, I have come to
render what assistance [ can—not in sending a citizen of Yates county unjustly to
the scaffold, but in detecting a crime, a terrible, a most unnatural crime, and if
possible to bring the guilty perpetrator to punishment. |

If you have any doubt ot the guilt of this defendant, based upon a reasonable
foundation, no man will more heartily approve of your verdict of not guilty than
I who have been thus unjustly accused. | ks |

The counsel for the defendant in this case has interposed two affirmative de-
fenses—First, that Fanny Crozier came to her death through the ignorance or mal-

4
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practice of her physician, Dr. Barber: and second, that she committed suicide.
Gentlemen, if you shall find that either of these defenses is true, make haste to
render a verdict of not guilty in favor of this defendant. _

The burden of proof to establish either the one or the other of these affirmative
defenses rests with the prisoner, and he must at least produce a preponderance of
evidence that her death was the result of the one or the other, or his conviction
IS inevitable.

In discussing the testimony, therefore, gentlemen, 1 propose to review in the
first place that portion which has been directed to those two points—asking you in
the meanwhile to hold all your judgment in reserve, as you ought, until I shall
fairly discuss the principal and all-absorbing question in this case: Has the prisoner
at the bar committed a wilful murder?

There can can be no controversy about the fact that Fanny E. Crozier died an
unnatural death. If she died through the ignorance or malpractice of Dr. Barber,
n the people have no case against this prisoner, and he should be ac-

e 15th of July, 1875, Mrs. Crozier had been in the enjoyment of her
sual health. She had conducted her own domestic affairs unaided by any Ser-
vants, ‘and for two or three years prior to'thattime she had very little or no occa-
sion to consult with her family physician. That was the date of her first sickness,
so peculiar in all its symptoms, and which made slow but steady progress until she
died. "In company with her husband, on the 15th of July she called on Dr. Barber,
and told hey symptoms to him. = She then described her disease as a difficulty of the
stomach, and attributed it to eating cu¢umbers. ' Dr. Barber madeé a prescription
for the difficulty she had deseribed, of 'the'tincture of aconite and powders of sub-
nitrate of bismuth, = Although evidence has been given of the poisonous effects of
aconite upon the human system, the pretense would be worse than absurd that Mrs.
Crozier’s death was caused by that prescription of Dr. Barber. ltis true that aconite
is a deadly poison, if taken in sufficent quantities. ' But that the tincture prepared
by Dr. Barber on the 15th had any deleterious effect upon the system of Mrs.Cr ozier
you will not believe for a single moment. ' The medical testimony in regard to the
poisonons properties of the tincture of aconite is all of the same character, and
establishes the fact beyond a question that it could not have produced death. The
Doctor testifies that a poisonous dose sufficient to produce death would be five or
six hnndred drops. It would take of this compound half an ounce to prove fatal.
Such is the evidence; and yet in the prescription of Dr. Barber Mrs. Crozier was
given 15 drop, to be taken every half hour. Could this have produced a fatal
result 7 Was aconite the cause of Mrs. Crozier’'s death?  Gentlemen, it needs only
the bare statement of the evidence for you to see at once its utter absurdity; and 1
believe you will dismiss this part of the testimony without serious difficulty.

But this does not yet acquit Dr. Barber, and leaves us to further consider his
medical preseription. SRR - |

The defendant’s counsel has directed a large proportion of his evidence to
prove, and has urged with great vehemence before you that in the sub-nitrate of
bismuth administered by Dr. Barber, combined with the tinc¢ture of aconite, the
seoret of this remarkable case is found. Satisfied as [ am-—satisfied as T fully be-
lieve vou will be before this case is closed—of the real cause of Mrs. Crozier’s death,
still I do not propose to pass this portion of the evidence by without review, ot
~only because of the earnest,] may say vehement, argument of the learned counsel in
presenting his views of it to you, but I do not intend to leave any opportunity now
or hexeafter to assail Dr. Barber as a physician who, either through ignorance or
inadvertently by malpractice, has caused the death of Mrs. Crozier. While Justice
shall acquit ﬁim of any wrong which has been so grievously laid to his charge in
this case, with unsparing denunciation, it shall lay the guilt heavily upon the
shoulders of the real criminal, to his utter condemnation.

Then, did the sub-nitrate of bismuth prescribed by Dr. Barber cause the death
of Fanny Crozier? It is not disputed that bismuth as a native ore contains a large
proportion of arsenic. But this was not the form of bismuth that was compounded
and administered to Mrys. Crozier by Dr. Barber. The sub-nitrate ol bismuth of com-
merce, and which is used by physicians in their practice, is an entirely different
- preparation, | | Roaae el | " |

Prof, Lattimore, the learned professor from the Rochester University, has been
produced as a witness for this defendant, and has told you of the nature of this
mineral,somewhat exaggerating the presence of arsenical properties in its composition
—and thus eounsel attempts to raise a doubt in your minds as to the cause of Mrs,
zier's death, Gentlemen, it is a little remarkable that upon the cross-examination
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of Prof, Lattimore, when requested to give you the process by which chemists
reduced bismuth to the sub-nitrate and prepared it for use in medical practice, he
overlooked one of the most important features of the process, and one whieh has a
very important bearing upon the very point to which "his testimony was' directed.
~ He gave eve_lgf other detail of the chemical change exeept the-‘‘roasting,” by’ which
arsenic—the drug which they seek to find—is eliminated. It was not'quite ingénuous
in the Professor thus to overlook this important fact. Every medical witness that
has been introduced proves to you that sub-nitfrate of bismuth is used in "his prac-
tice—that 1t is prescribed as a sedative—that it is not an irritant-—-that it produces a
soothing effect upon the system—that it is an'antiseptic, corrécting acidity of the
stomach, the very difficulty of which Mrs. Croziér comiplained on the 15th, and as a
remedy for whiél{ it was prescribed. PIRE SR s AN P T A |
The{ tell you also that all the arsenical propertiés which'the ore contains in its
original state are eliminated in its preparation for commerce, and that this mineral
thus prepared is in daily use by them as medical practitionere,without the least del-
eferions effects: and Dr., Barber swears that from the saine packages from whic G
compounded the pow#ers for Mrs. Crozier he preseribed for other parients, with ke
most beneficial effects. Do you believe that Dr. Barber has caused the deatl
-~ Fanny Crozier by the use of sub-nitrate ol ‘bismuth? 1Is thére sufficient evidence of
this to excuse the defendant on that ground'? =1 fooo and wobmr ©aiv s
- But the defendant has given other evidence upon® this point, as singular in
conception as it is unreliable in its ¢onélusions. The learned counsel has procured
from the druggists of Penn Yan threéé samples of ‘sub-nitrate of bismuth; and from e
the druggists of Rochester five others—eight in all—and submitted them to the
analysis of Prof. Lattimore, and he télls you that in each sample he deteeted traces
of arsenic,—what quantity he fails to tell you. He did not prosecute his laboratory
researches far enough to enlighten you upon that most vital question. It was qual-
ity and not quantity for W‘hicﬁ he was in search: Not findingenough to weigh;he can
~and does only say that there was not enough in either package to endanger human
life.  And so expire together the theory that Dr. Barber poisoned Mrs. Crozier, and
this hope of the defendant.’ Tt presented a singular defense when it was shown that
neither af the packages analvzed by the Professor was taken from that used by Dr.
Barber in his prescription for Mrs. Crozier, and when, more than all, Prof. Towler
of the Geneva Medical College, analyzed bismuth f'fmmj-the'pame pﬂ}cka;ges that
‘were .prer?enlll:ed to Prof. Latfimore, and found conclusively that they did not eontain
bl AT g brlene R o thnmemrdic. ol st Ao K, bifaian <14
~ Dr. Barber prescribed in' all ' eight ‘powders of sub-nitrate ‘of bismuth for his
“patient, all of which wére not takén, containing five grains each. 1In five grains of
sub-nitrate of bismuth Prof. Lattimore finds only ‘a trace of arsenic—not enough to
“endanger human life.  Prof. Towler with the closest scrutiny findsnone at all,while
in the stomach of this woman are found sixty grains of arsenious aeid, much of it
tmabgorbed—enough to kill twelve person |—presenting through the microscope the
invariable octahedral, crystaline form of [arsenious acid, which ‘cannot'be mis-

taken. '* il . | 1 |

Why, gentlemen, you see that there was more pure arsenic found in the stomach
of this deceased woman  than there was of the eight . powders prescribed by Dr.
Barber-—arsenie, bismuth and all! + Was Dr. Barbér the cause of Fanny Crozier's
déath?  Has it beenignorance and malpractice ? . Can  this defendant escape the
fearful responsibility of this'murder though such a . flimgy pretence as this? Gen-
tlemen, it is for you by vowr verdict to answer.... - . |

But the defendant has interposed another defense, which has more significance,
and to which I now wish fo direct your attention. ' The counsel for the defendant
seeing, as you indeed must, the futility ‘of explaining the existence of the large
quantity of .arsenic found in the stomach of Mrs. Crozier, as the result of the med-
icine she had taken, now insists that she ‘committed suicide.  This defendant—this
kind and indulgent husband, as represented by his counsel—comes into ‘court, and
to escape the fearful circumstances with ‘which his own act has surrounded
him, casts upon the memory of Fanny H. Crozier the bitter imputation of taking
her own life. RIS EITTe] elurgois aidy daivw o f-]

~ What maotive do they present, based on'any substantial evidence, for such an act

on the part of Mrs. Crozier?  She had ‘a’ pleasant home; she was surrounded by
influential, opulent and affectionate friends; herdomestic relations were apparently
all she could wish; she was indiilgent to her 6nly son, who returned to her in full -
measure his love; she trusted implicitly in her husband, whose hand was 8o soon
and 80 secretly to be lifted against her life!* Wheo ever knew a person in sane mind
to take her own Tife without some motive, eithier fancied or real ? Mental trouble,
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ceive the least credit: in the very nature of t
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care, domestic infelicity, bodily ailment or insanity, often’incite to self-destruction.
Of all the causes that lead to suicide only one is pretended in this case to exist; and
the defendant comes here to urge that this woman, to whom all the testimony in
this case gives a Christian character, was a self-murderess! She is not here to resent or
to answer this fearful imputation. On that ﬁceful Saturday afternoon,amid weep-
ing friends, in that rural cemetery, she was laid down to her dreamless sleep in the
grave opened for her by her husband. ¢ Oh, the grave, the grave! how it buries
every error, covers every defect, extiuguishes every resentment.” George E, Cro-
zier invoked its silent precincts to hide the evidence of hig guilt, and vainly thought
he wag safe. Theeye now sightless cannot reprove him—the tongue now palsied
cannot rebuke him,—and he can safely tell the story that shall fasten upon the
nemory of this saintly woman a fearful crime, and he will escape. George 1. Cro-
zier, lay not this flattering unction to your soul! The truth of this case wil_, vindi-
cate th e memeory of that Christian woman, and the Sword of Justice shall fall
where the guilt of murder rests. It shall pierce the flimsy veil of this assumed

bu:nr&cence, and lay bare the guilty heart where the gdemon of murder had its
b

- To establish the 'theory of suicide, the defense claim that Mrs, Crozier

was living under the continual apprehension that she was afilicted with a fear-
ful malady that was destroyiug 1513 vitality of her system, and that she would

eventually die from the slow and painful ravages of a cancer of the stomach. The

?gatdaztnesath&t they call for. this purpose is Frank Crozer, the son of this de-
n : |

-+ I wish it were possible in the&iust discussion of this case. to spare this witness,

now just verging upon manhood. . That the consequences of the remarkable story
he has given under the solemnity of his affirmation—he would not take the usual
oath,~—might not: follow him to the latest day of his life, His evidence cannot re-

| | gi g it must be false; and you will so
construe it.  If to any one, to Frank and the defendant alone did Mrs. Crozier dis-

- close the fact that she believed she had a cancer in the stomach; aud Frank is the

witness of her attempt at gelf-destruction. -

These witnesses are permitted to give, to sustain the theory of suicide. the declara-
tions of deceased indicating her determinaton to take her own life. No other witness
has given anything but hypothetical statements made by the deceased, that if she
thought she had a cancer in the stomach, before she would suffer as another person
had, she would take something to put herself out of the way. Such was the testi-
mony of Mrs. Truesdell, of John Truesdell, and of David Crozier; and it all related

to a single conversation when they were dis_cu-ssj.li% the suffering of Mrs. Bush, who
- had died some four years ago from the effects o

a cancer. 1 have, indeed, over-

~looked Mart. Barden, but of him by and by. |

The Court decided that such a hypothetical s.atemaent would prove nothing, and
it-bacame necessary to make more positive evidence, and Frank Crozier, the son of
the poor woman silent in death, comes to the witness box to fix this fearful disgrace
upon his mother. | | | |

He testified that he knew of his father purchasing arsenic in the spring of 1875:
that it was given to the witness to'carry home; that he gave it to his mother,who

- used a part of it the next day for killing rats, and the remainder she put in a

bottle and placedin the pantry.  Oh Monday before his mother’s death he saw her
zo into the pantry, and from a bottle similarto the one into which he had seen her
put the arsenic, she poured out a white powder,put it into water and stirred it up and
drank it. Before the grand jury-—as we have shown you by the foreman of that

hody—he testified that she took a teaspoonful of this white powder. Gentlemen,

this story is related to lead vou to believe that Mrs. Crozier deliberately, in the
presence of her son, took a spoonful of arsenic at a single dose, with intent to com-
mit suicide. I say deliberately, for there has been no pretense in the case that it
was done aceidentally, or under a mitapprehension that what she was taking was
any other substance. |

You would be struck with this singular circumstance as something very remark-

able and unnatural had nothing been added to this act, But it is entirely incredi-
hle when we pursue the testimony and filnd that she took this powder, now supposed

to be arsenic, just as she was about to start with her son to ride to Mr. Remer’s, a

distance of six miles, and back, and. that on her return she repeated the dose,—that
on the way to Remer’s she made the statement to her only  child that she thought
she had a cancer in the stomach, and before she wonld be eaten up with a cancer
she would take stuff to put herself out of the way,—that when she told him of this
he told her she must not, for it would be laid to him or his father, and she told



CROZIER TRIAL. 45

- o e

him that no one should know it,—and that on the way home from Mr. Remer’s his
mother was taken sick and vomited. |

Gentlemen, it is on this most incredible story, with the attempted corroboration
of Barden and the defendant—that Mrs, Crozier thought she had a cancer in her
stomach—that they base the defense of suicide. To no other person has Mrs, Cro-
zier disclosed the apprehension of this terrible malady. To no friend or relative,—

to no neighbor except Mart. Barden—and has never consulted any physician learned
in this special disease, nor has she ever disclosed her fears to Dr. Barber, her confi-
dential medical adviser and family physician.

Do you believe that she committed suicide? Do you believe thé story of Frank
Crozier? Do you believe that she took arsenic in the very presence of her son, to
whom she was devoted,—that she did it with intent to kill herself, and at the mo-
ment when she was starting to visit a neighbor’s six miles away in the eountry,and
in a quantity that would have produced a deathly sickness in half an hour, and

would have rendered it inevitable that her own son would have been left alone with

her in the agonies offleath before she could return ? |

Gentlemen, this story of Frank Crozier is false. Itsonly foundation is to be |

found in the probable fact that his mother, sufféring from repeafed small
doses of arsenic given by this defendant, and feeling the burning pain in her stom-
ach that has been described by the witnesses, attributing it to something she had
eaten, sought relief in the use of magnesia. which she was accustomed to take to
relieve the difficuity she sometimes experienced in her stomach. Tt is too incred-
ible for any other explanation. That a mother preparing for the nuptials of a be-
loved son, about to wed the beautiful daughter of a respectable and wealthy neigh-
bor,—an event, if there is any in a4 mother’s life which would cause her heart,
yearning for her son, to bound and throb with joy—starting with that son to go to
a neighbor’s to procure means to purchase the wedding outfit—the day set when
she should make the necessary preparation for such an event—shonld take a dose of
arsenic in the very presence of her child, with the declaration upon her lips
tha,iijs she would take her own life, is more than the credulity of man can receive
as true.

Frank is told what she intends to do; he sees the very act itself ; he makes no
resistance; he enters no remonstrance, except the gentle admonition, ‘*You must not
do 1it, for fear it will be laid to father or me.” He sees his mother in the pangs of
mortal agony, wasting away and dying, and makes no disclosure of what she has
said, of what he has seen her do, to his father, to his uncle living in the same yard,
nor to the doctors who stood by powerless to help, and uncertain of the fearful
nature of her disease. Gentlemen, this story is untrue from beginning to end.

But says the learned counsel triumphantly, this testimony is corroborated by the
evidence of Martin Barden. Martin Barden—you saw and heard him; he is a stran-
ger to me, but.in my judgment Truth shrank from contact with his tongue years
ago, and left him nothing but a fossilized lie. He tells you that in July last he was
at the house of George E. Crozier in Benton; that Mrs. Crozier was ill, and com-
plained to him of having a disordered stomach. He went there to get pay for some
work he had done for Crozier. Mrs.Crozier was lying on a couch in the kitchen#there
was a bottle of white powder on a stand, a spoon and some water. Mrs. Crozier got up,
poured some of the white powder in a spoon. put it in water and drank it, saying if
she thought she had a eancer in the stomach, before she would suffer as some folks
did she would take something that would kill or cure. = Barden treasured this story.
He had never disclosed it until the moment of his utterance upon the stand, and it

\was then, as he tells you, fairly wrung from between his lips by the' persistence of
the defendant’s counsel. ' Exit Martin Barden,—you can “‘step down and out,” with
the fullest assurance that your memory will hereafter be cherished as the champion
fabricator of the town ot Benton. ~ o b iy hloy

Such_is'the testimony on which they base their defence of suicide. But, gentle-
men, this idea of suicide is utterly inconsistent with the conduct of Mrs. Crozier
herself. She freely consulted with her physician, descrihed to him her supposed
dlfﬁcultles,_attributed her illness to natural causes, and never even hinted -or sug-
gested to him that she was fearful of cancer in the stomach. Is it credible that a
sane woman would thus and under such circumstances destroy her own life with-
out confirming her fears by consultation with her doctor? that upon the merest
fancy she would bécome a self-murderess when she yas in the prime of life and
appa,renﬂm ‘the vigor of health? But, %ﬁnﬂémeﬁ,"stﬁﬂlﬂ by that Yir.i_% _;td-side,
see how that poor suffering woman clings to life, not because she féars death but
because as she says she has so many things yet to do. The vision of "happiness from

j—l
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which she was about to awaken into fruition in the happy marriage of her son, was
still thrilling the heart so soon to cease its pulsations. The expressions of Christian
faith, the exhortations to her son to remember the burden of the many prayers she
offered for him; to care for his father now growing old; the tender solicitude and
love she so earnestly expressed for that husband from whose hand she had so con-
fidingly taken the fatal drug that was carrying her all too soon to her grave, is each
in itself evidence ‘‘trumpet-tongued” that Fanny H. Crozier was not a suicide. She
18 dead; her spirit has taken its flight; she has sunk into the cold, dark grave. Could
we open its marble walls and bid her stand forth to witness: could we call back that
sainted spirit so rudely disembodied by the act of this defendant, from its compan-
ionship with archangels in the realms of glory and ask her, she would tell you with
lips sanctified by the solemn verities of the eternal world that she did not fly in the
face of high heaven and raise her hand against her own life—that this is not a sui-
cide, but murder—ecold-blooded, cruel, deliberate, diabolical murder !

‘Gentlemen, I have no doubt of your conclusion in this case, that Dr. Barber was
not the innocent cause of Mrs. Crozier’s death, and that she did not commit suicide.
Although there can be but one alternative, I propose to@establish all that can be
requ:ire.d of the people in this case, and that the conviction of this defendant is
required bmhe evidence. The defendant’s counsel elaims that his client cannot be
guilty of this crime because the prosecution has shown no motive for its commis-
sion, and for lack of that proof the people are *‘out of court.”

It is impossible for us fo fathom the motives of men. No motive, however strong.
however overwhelming, would induce some men whose conduct is governed by a
sincere and conscientious regard for right and justice to commit a crime of the least
magnitude, much less one that would overshadow their whole lives and involve
themselves and their kindred in unutterable disgrace. Other men, upou the
most trivial and seemingly inadequate motive, will plunge recklessly into
the greatest excesses,and unflinchingly and ruthlessly commit the most aggravated.
the most diabolical crimes.  How often is jealousy on the one hand, or alienated
affection or illicit love on the other, the motive, the primal cause of some of the
most cold-blooded and deliberate murders in the annals of crime., George E. Cro-
zier had ceased to love his wife. Through some unaccountable cause he had
formed an illicit attachment for another woman. She was low-bred, of vulgar asso-
clations, and between whom and the wife he had in his heart abandoned there was
no ground for comparison. For the full gratification of his lust, to give free rein
to his licentious disposition, all obstacles must be removed between him and the
object of his new affection. | | |

The defendant’s counsel protests that nothing has been shown in the evidence to
prove any intrigues between the prisoner and the girl Minerva Dutcher, This inti-
macy, as we are shown by the testimony of Elizabeth Cole, commenced some four
years ago,when his interest in her would be manifested by stopping day after day
in. passing the school where Minerva attended.and from which she would be excused
to chat with him in the road. The intimacy K commenced at that time continued
growing more and more decided down to the very time of his arrest for this murder.
Never was a more scandalous infrigue carried on between man and woman, in open
1 secret violation of the obligations of a husband to his wife.,

Minerva worked for Elizabeth Truesdell during the summer of 1874. During this
whole summer the prisoner was a constant, visitor at Mrs, Truesdell’s; living as they
didhonly across the highway from the defendant his opportunity was ample and he
made the most of it. * His.attentions did not escape the notice of Mrs. Truesdell; she
observed them in their attempts to meet each other without detection in the wood-
house and at the kitchen where Minerva was doing her work. His visits were so
freqfllwnﬁ, his attention to Minerva of so niarked a character, that it was the gossip
of the neighborhood; and Mrs. Truesdell says; ‘“As soon as I heard the talk about it,
I told the defendant that he must not come to my house in the absence of myself
and husband.” She told the defendant at another time that he ought not to pay so
much attention to this girl, and he promised that he would stop. The defendant’s
counsel has attempted to cast ridicule upon the act of Crozier in giving Minerva a
ring, on account of its trifling value. Gentlemen, the significance of the gift was
not so much in the value as in the gizing. "It may have been only the trifling out-
ward manifestation of the burning passion within. It bore to this foolish girl all
. the intensity of his illicit love, and symbolized to her the fulness of her hopes as

much as though it were a diamond c{iister of untold value, Mrs. Truesdell called
the attention of them both to the ntter impropriety of their conduct,and compelled
Minava to glve back this token of Crozier's regard. He meets Minerva at the back
~of the house, and the conference, although lost to the sharp-eyed Mrs, Truesdell.who
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was obstructed by the mosquito bars in her progress to interrupt them,wasobserved
hy Charles, who thus describes this stolen interview: ‘‘1 remember when the
prisoner and Minerya were together at the back end of the house; he handed her
something; 1 could not see what 1t was: I saw him put his hand into hers and then
she put her hand into_her pocket.” |

[t was in those stolen interviews, when conversation would be interrupted, that
('rozier wonld carry to her his letters, which she could read and gloat over in soli-
tude and at her leisure. Nor was the period of these intimacies limited to the time
Minerva was at Mrs. Truesdell's, nor the place to her house, George was a mem-
ber of.the church and also a member of the choir. He had his seat in the gallery.
Thither Minerva Dutcher would gravitate as unerringly as the magnet does to the
pole, and here in the sanctuary ‘of God, where Christian people were wont to con-
oregate tO worship on the Christian Sabbath,where Fanny Crozier,with the true spirit
of a Christian woman, in her seat vqould listen. to the religious teachings of the
cood Elder Mallory, her husband 1n the gallery ?vould write his billets and slip
them slyly into the hands of his paramour, and whisper stolen. words of love. into
the ear of his wife's detestable rival, This was observed again and again, Sabbath
after Sabbath, until it challenged the attention and provoked the resentment of the
whole neighborhood. = It was not mere friendly companionship and neighborly chat:
‘t was the exhibition of a licentious and depraved heart: i} was was the manifesta-
tion of an illicit love, to the full gratification of which his wife was an obstaclejto
bhe removed, | | | |

But, says the counsel for the prisoner. these acts of intimacy were so public that
they must have beerl entirely innocent in their nature. Truly such as were seen
were public: but when we see such acts as these witnesses describe with this woman
on the part of a man who has a confiding wife and a child verging on manhood, in
his unblushlng intrigues, we are at liberty to give a somewhat loose rein to
our imaginations as to what may have been their relations when they were not
under the sharp eves of Mrs, Truesdell or the watchful care of the members of Elder
Mallory’s chureh. ol § 1t | i e | ranikt v

It was the custom of Crozier to walk to and from church, two miles and a half.
Leaving his wife to ride witn the neighbors, this indulgent husband would walk,
How often has he been observed by the neighbors to start for church, go past the
house where Minerva was, and loiter until she should come out and overtake him
and then they would go on together.  Leaving the church after service, he would
be in the company of Minerva Dutcher. He would walk to church and from church.
Nine times out of every ten he would go to church with Minerva, and the tenth he
would return with her., Gentlemen, imagine the feelings of Mrs, Crozier, on the
occasion deseribed by Mr. David Armstrong, when she was riding home from church
with her brother-in-law. On the way they overtook her husband in company with
Miuerva Dutcher. Mrs. Crozier asked her husband to ride, and he rmdely repulsed
her. preferring the company of this low-bred, dissolute girl. |

Let me call your attention to one or two other incidents connected with these
two persons. The counsel for the prisoner says that his client was an indulgent and
loving husband; that he never did ,wrong to his wife nor to her memory. Mrvs. Cro-
zier died on Thursday, the 29th day of July. On Saturday her friends and neighbors
conveyed her remains to their last resting place. ' George Crozier, a bereaved hus-
band, stood beside the open grave and heard the minister pronounce the solemn
words, ‘‘ Earth to earth, dust to dust, ashes to ashes,” and the last offices of love
and affection were paid to one of whom it may be said, ‘* None knew her but to love,
none named her but to praise.” f

The morrow came, the hushed and holy Sabbath—a day when all nature would
seem to sympathize with the bereaved and broken-hearted husband, and when it
would seem that he in his distress would seek her very heart for consolation. The
people, impressed with their bereavement and the solemn rites of the day before,
~assemble at the church., David West, the usher, is at his place and seats the con-
oregation. He observes that George Crozier comes in and takes his seat by the door,
Minerva Dutcher is there; she goes into the vestibule of the church. Crozier,
unmindful of the solemn services, unmindful of the occasion, the place and the day,
forgetful of his recent bereavement, writes his accustomed note, leaves the church
during the services, gives the letter to his paramour, chats a few words, and returns
to his seat. Such is the testimony of David West, and he is corroborated by William
Ball. Such was Crozier’s conduct the very day after the burial of his wife, He went
to church, not to receive the consolations of religion, not to join in the worship of
(God or to gather strength from the sympathy of friends, but to prosecute with
oreater freedom his intrigues with Minerva Dutcher.  Not even the holy sanctuary
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of Christian worship, nor the solemn services of prayer and praise—no, not even the
wrath of heaven, thundered from that Baptist pulpit, could restrain George Crozier
from the manifestation of his unbridled lust. %ulp he love his wife? Did he admin-
ister poison to her t6 remove an obstacle to an illicit love ? Was this deed a suicide
or was it'a murder? | '

In September, 1875, atter Fanny’s death, a Sunday-school conventiou was held
in what is called Crosby’s woods. Crozier went there in a wagon with his neighbors:
Minerva Dutcher was also there. ' About 5 o’clock’in the afternoon, as we are told
by Mrs. Cornelia Barber, Minerva was seen by her to leave the grounds where the
convention' was being ‘held and stroll away into the woods, not exactly in the direc-
tion of her home. A few minutes afterwards Crozier was seen to leave in the same
direction, and both went out of sight. Later in the afternoon they weére seen to-
gether by GGéorge’ Moon and his wife, to emerge from the woods in an unfrequented
place, passup into a lane, and from thence separating, he went into the nursery
grounds and Minerva towards her home: and Mrs, Moon tells you that she has often
seen Crozier and Minerva Dutcher riding and walking together both before and
after Fanny'sdeath.' There may be nothing significant in‘all this, and it may be
entirely eonsistent with honestintention’ and virtuous life,” T his testimony you
will remember the defendant seeks to explain his disappearance from the grounds of
the convention, and tells you that he left for the purpose of going to the cemetery
where his wifewas buried. * This may be true. 1t may have been his intention. If
so it was the first act of respectful regard that he had paid to her for four years
at least. But he had found Minerva Dutcher, or she had found him. Their like
animal instinets had brought them together. If he did vigit the grave of his wife,
she at least remained ' outside the portals of that sacred' resting place. They dared
not stand together above the solitary grave of that sainted woman.  They had scan-
dalized hermame whileliving, but they darved not' by their  joint presence pollute
the ground above her sleeping dust. ¥ LEAMA 4% A58 | 22 |

A large number of other witnesses have told you of the improper and scandalous
intimaeies between these two peérsons both before and after Fanny's dea h. Mus.
Towner saw them carrying on their intrigues in church. Miss Della Squires saw his
attention to Minerva and his public neglect of his wife at the donation party, and
her receiving at' his' hand the suspicious letters during church service. Mus,
Edmonds and David Armstrong saw with what frequency he visited the house of
Mrs. Dutcher after the death of his wife, Mrs. Edmonds observed his visit on one
occasion when the Dutcher family were all away except Minerva, when he pro-
longed his stay until the shadows of night cast a mantle 6f darkness if not of charity
over his indecent conduct. == D OO 9] ¥ | |

But there is another most scandalous and significant fact developed by the testi-
mony of these witnesses. * After Fanny’'s death, Frank and his wife went to his
father’s to live; They had been there but a short timie before Crozier informed Emma
that he had hired Minerva Duteher to come there to work., 'The defendant claims
in his testimony that this act was one of utter necessity—that he had sought far and
near fora ‘i hived girl,”’ but none was to be found, and that Emma, his son’s wife,
could not do the work. . But.: Emma tells you that when it was told to her that
‘Minerva was to come, she and her husband consulted fogether, and she proposed to
do the work with his assistance, to whieh he assented rather than have her come.
She told the defendant of this, and that she would rather Minerva would not come.
He rudely repulsed her, and replied that he had her trunk there already,and she
was going to come, and there was no use of talking any more about it. Emma
and her husband declined to stay in the house under such circumstances, and left,
On Saturday night, a few weeks after the death of his wife, against the protesta-
tions of his son and his daughter-in-law, and in defiance of the indignation of the
neighborhood, he brought this vile, unprincipled woman to his house, and kept her
there Saturday night, Sunday, Sunday night and Monday,with himself alone. There
was no {v’:;;l}‘\"ing' {0 ,(;]1‘i1':1;cl;l1t}§is Sunday l:'ﬁt)ljlliti% no flirtations in phe gallery, no-
passing of private notes from, one to the other. e had bher all to himself, and no
one to molest or make him afraid. Such was the eonduct of this loving and indul-
gent husband within a few short weeks of the burial of his wife. Scarcely had the
wings of the death-angel that bore her pure spirit to heaven ceased their fluttering
before George E. Crozier brought to his licentious bed this shameless prostitute to
pollute the home that had been honored by the noble and virtuous life and sancti-
fied by the suffering and death of Fanny H. Crozier. No wonder that Frank and
his wife ﬂt%t?” from the house. No wonder that the indignation of the whole neigh-
borhood was aroused, = e Fo

(rentlemen, after the coroner’s inquest the defendant was arrested and confined
in jail.. Minerva Dutcher had been produced before the coroner as a witness. She
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and acquitted herself to the entire satisfaction of the defendant, and in the exuber-
ance of his admiration for her, he had exhibited to two witnesses, who have sworn
to the fact, a photograph which he declared was the picture of Minerva Dutcher,
and that if he got out of this he would marry the girl, for she had stood up so well
for him at the coroner’s inquest. Frank Crozier was called to disprove the fact that
his father exhibited the photograph of Minerva, and it is true that he swears posi-
tively that he did not have it, for it was at home in the bureau drawer, It was not
in jail, but cherished and preserved at home, The defendant himself denies that
he had Minerva’s picture, but did not deny one word of the declaration that Cole
and White say they heard him make.

Gentlemen, was there any motive for this defendant to murder his wife? Had
his affection for her become alienated? had he found a new love, the only obstacle
to the fullest enjoyment of which poison would remove ?

But where is Minerva Dutcher? We have not seen her upon this trial. Where
is this girl, so slandered and belied, if the testimorg' of these witnessesis false? Why
has she not been produced before you? She would have been a swift witness for the
deliverance of the defendant if the testimony of the prosecution is false. If these
witnesses have told the truth, her testimony would have been deplorable, and that
explains the reason why it has been suppressed by the prisoner’s counsel.

Gentlemen, I suggested to you in the outset of my remarks, that I pro d to
leave the important issue in this case until after we had considered the a ative
defences that have been interposed and the question of motive.

In the discussion of these points I have to some extent foreshadowed what I
contend must be the inevitable conclusion upon the whole evidence.

There is little need, it seems to me, to review the testimony farther. If Dr.
Barber is guiltless, if this was not a suicide, with the overwhelming evidence that
has been given of a motive, the only alternative that remains is that George E. Cro-
zier murdered his wife by the administration of poison, as charged. in the indict-
ment. A celebrated English writer upon criminal law has said, ¢ Of all the different
modes by which death is effected, that by poison wilfully administered may he
considered as the most detestable, because it can of others be least pre-
vented by courage or forethought. The aect itself necessarily implies the most
cool and deliberate malice in the perpetration, and no provocation is allowed to jus-
tify it.” - 116

That Fanny H. Crozier came to her death throuih the effects of arsenical poison
there is no doubt, The remarkable exhibition of the result of Professor Towler's
analysis shows conclusively that she came to her death from that cause. "What
unerring assistance in the detection of crime is derived from science. By the aid of
that wonderful instrument,which was invoked in this trial, the microscope, experts
are enabled to decide whether the blood stains upon a garment are of the blood »f
animal or man, by the measurement of minute globules that compose it, magnified a
thousand times. By its aid you each had the opportunity of beholding how perfeet
were the beautiful crystaline forms of arsenious acid that demonstrate its identity
as distinguished from all other metallic substances,when a grain of that taken from
the stomach of Mrs, Crozier was placed upon the object-glass of Professor Towler’s
microscope. It gave us the most satisfactory evidence, and in a form that could
not lie. .

Now, by what agency—by whose hand—was this poison administered ? We have
no history that is satisfactory as to the sickness of Mrs. Crozier on the 15th of July.
She and her husband went to Dr, Barber’s, and Mrs. Crozier gave him a statement
of her symptoms and explained her feelings. She there stated that her sickness was
imlumedy by the eating of cucumbers, and Barber made the prescriptions to which
allusion has already been made. She made a further statement to the witness Mrs,
Truesdell, that on that Sunday when she was first taken sick she had come home
from church and ate a friedcake and drank a lemonade and ate a part of a lemon
peel. After this, and within a short time, it appears that she was affected with
vomiting and exhibited all the symptoms of arsenical poisoning, It is notdisclosed
who prepared the lemonade, but it is a fact that that of itself will not produce the
symptoms that followed the drinking of that lemonade by Mrs. Crozier. It would
be a very suitable and proper medium for the secret administration of peison.,

The defendant’s counsel asks you to believe that the defendant is innocent
because he had been with his wife to Dr. Barber’s during this sickness, and asks if
he would have done this if he was intent upon herdestruction, At thistime nothing
would have been more consistent with his guilt than this very act. His wife is
complaining., He goes with her to the family (fhysician. When his hour of trial
shall come this shall be used in his behalf, and at the same time he obtains the
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white powder that was thereafter used as the means of giving the poisen. To have
approached her with a fatal dose of arsenic while she was in the enjoyment of good
health and prostrate her in a moment would have provoked at once the most
searching investigation. '

The difficulty that Mrs. Crozier experienced on the 15th, recurred on the night
of the 27th, and continued with more or less of violence until she died. All that
human skill or love of friends could do was done to save her life. Her physicians
were baffled. Her symptoms presented peculiarities for which they could not
account, and her friends laid her im her grave, not quite satisfied that her death
was entirely from natural causes. No such death had ever oecurred in their midst
before. The smothered feeling of suspicion in the neighborhood continued to gather
volume until it broke out in an imperative demand for an investigation. The coro-
ner and his jury were summoned, and the body of Fanny was exhumed from the
grave in which George E. Crozier had thought to bury forever his awtul secret. It
is fully established, it is admitted by the defendant, that arsenic was in his house.
He had at hand the means by which this murder was committed, and it is found in
the stomach in quantities sufficient at least to kill twelve persons, as Prof. Towler
testified, for he says he found sixty grains, and from two to four is a fatal dose.
Crozier knew where the arsenic was kept, because he says after Fanny’s death he
looked for it where it was and it was not there. All the circumstances are entirely
favorable, The sickness of his wife, the necessity of giving medicine, the arsenic
in the house. I propose then to establish the fact, if I can,from the moral evidences
in this case, from the conduct of the defendant himself, that he is guilty. One of
the most significant facts that was ever given in evidence comes from Dr. Barber.
He tells you that on Thursday, before any word of suspicion had been uttered by a
single soul, the defendant tells him, as they are walking from the barn to the house,
that Fanny was growing worse; that she would not live long, and that he did not
want any examination made, for Fanny had said she did not want to be cut up as
some other persons had been. Gentlemen, who had suggested a post-mortem exam-
ination to George E. Crozier ? Why should he anticipate that one would be had?
Why did he give utterance to this most singular thought? Why? Because Crozier
knew of the fatal malady, the unnatural cause of her disease. His guilty hand
trembled with fear. Every eye that fell upon him discovered his guilty secret.
Every sound that fell upon his ear was a voice accusing him of murder. Up to that
moment he alone had possessed his secret; it then had possession of him and com-
pelled him to give it utterance. 1t was the first step taken in the invesiigation
which led to the disinterment of Fanny’s body and the consequent discovery of his
crime. George E. Crozier never called a physician during the sickness of his wife.
This ‘ loving and indulgent husband” gave her no care or attention, but carelessly
awaited theslow progress of her disease, knowing full well that it would be onward
until she would die. He sent for none of the neighbors, though within a stone’s
throw, until her condition was accidentally discovered.

On Tuesday, the 27th day of July, Mrs. Towner, a neighbor, called at
Mrs, Crozier’s. She found him sitting upon the front porch of his house, apparently
quite indifferent as to the welfare of his wife. “AsI went in,” says the witness, “‘I
said to him, ‘are the folks at home?” He said, “Yes, she is in there’—pointing to the
bedroom door. I heard her vomiting, and went in and found her in great distress
and vomiting. She complained of a burning sensation in her stomach, and of pain
in her back.” It was apparently of little consequence to him what suffering she
endured. She was in her bedroom alone, and this husband within hearing of her
distress, making no attempt for her relief. It is almost incredible in itself, but it is
not all, nor is it the worst. ‘“She complained,” says the witness, ‘“all the time of
being so sick. 1 asked George why he did not have a doctor; and he said, ‘it will
- be of no use—he can do her no good.”” Such was the first intimation to any of the
- neighbors that Fanny Crozier was at all unwell. It was discovered not by any
information that her husband had imparted, but by the accident of a neighbor’s
friendly oall. Such was his heartless indifference to his wife that he answers the
inquiry of Mrs. Towner, why he did not have a doctor, with the declaration that ‘‘he
could do her no good.”

Nobody better knew than George E. Crozier, that moment, that what he said was
true, He alone knew of the cause of the fatal malady that was preying upon the
life of Fanny, “It will be of nouse.” Yes; George E. Crozier well knew that no
antidote of Dr. Barber’s could stay the ravages of the fearful drug she had taken -
from his hand; that the disease was beyond his control; that the end of her life was
marked and nothing could save her. Sick and dying he had paid her no attention ;
he had left her to her suffering without the least evident feeling of remorse. Mrs.
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Towner consulted Fanny with regard to having a doctor, and Fanny told her that
George would not have one. This poor, suffering woman, in her distress, in her
helpless condition, seeking relief, was denied the attendance of her family physician
by her husband, who sat indifferently by, watching the progress of the disease, all
too anxious for her demise. :

Mrs. Dolly Crozier came while Mrs. Towner was there, and when they were
making arrangements for one or the other to stay through the night, they were
interrupted by the defendant, and he told them he could take care of her himself.
Such care as she would have received at his hands! Such brutality was never
exhibited before. Heedless of her suffering, heedless of the tender care woman
alone can give to the suffering, refusing to send for a physician, insisting upon
being left alone with his victim, that nothing should interfere with his oppor-
tunity to complete his awful work, are circumstances of guilt of the most indubit-
able character. *

Mrs. Towner went again on Wednesday, when the same symptoms were exhib-
ited, and she continued to grow worse and more distressed, until she expired on
Thursday afternoon. From the moment of Mrs. Towner’s first visit to the moment
of Fanny’s death he did not express one word of sympathy nor exhibit the least
emotion. When his wife, still confiding in him, still clinging in love to her hus-
band, and speaking to him with lips pale with the hues of death, she said, *“ Oh,
George,-Ilove you so much;” he repulsed her yearning heart with the cold, indiffer-
ent answer, ‘‘ Never mind that, now;don’t worry;” and the only reply she can make
i5, *° L am not worrying.” Poor woman—Iittle did she think he was the cause of all
her dreadful suffering,—that his hand had administered the fatal poison that was
ebbing her dear life away with such fearful bodily pain. '

Gentlemen, T wish to call your attention to the testimony of Mrs. Squires. She
went to Mrs. Crozier’s on Wednesday morning, and remained until after Fanny’s
death. All the symptoms described by the medical witnesses as belonging to arsen-
1cal poison continued until the last. She had the care of the sick woman during
this time. Fanny had but two kinds of medicine to take as prescribed by the phy-
sician, the tincture of aconite—a liquid in a cup that stood upon a table in the s'gck
room—and the powders of bismuth, which Crozier told the witness "she_ha,d nothing
to do with—that Dr. Barber had given especial directions to him to give the pow-
ders himself. Dr. Batrber tells you that this was a mere pretense, and untrue; but
the defendant made use of it to have himself the entire and exclusive control of the
means by which he could the most successfully administer the poison. The defend-
ant gave Fanny a powder during the forenoon of Wednesday, which was soon after
followed by the inevitable symptoms of poison; and this was the only attention he
bestcéwed upon her until evening, when the hour arrived for her to take another
powder, 889

You remember the graphic testimony of Mrs. Squires, in her description of
Crozier’s conduct. His preparing the medicine in the pantry, the length of time in
which he was secretly engaged, the fact that she suspected something wrong and
went 1nto the pantry to see what he was doing; his turning from her as she
approached, with the spoonin his hand; her search in the pantry for some evidence
of the powders, and her failure to fine any, and finally the scene at the bed-side,
when he offered her the medicine, and when Fanny said, ‘¢“Oh, George, I can’t take
it,” and he said ““You must take it;” and after she had taken it into her mouth and
said, “I can’t swallow it; it sticks in my throat,”—the heartless manner in which he
told her to ‘“‘swallow it down; you must never chew your medicine;” and then she
says, ‘“‘he went out on the stoop and sat there most of the evening.” During all this
time Fanny was complaining of the burning pain in the stomach, ard was exhibit-
Ing symptoms of the greatest distress; but not a word of encouragement or sympa-
thy did she receive from her husband, and he did not pay her the least attention, or
exhibit the least emotion. The witness says, “When she vomited after taking the
last powder, he took the basin and went out to the lamp in the sitting room, and
looked into it, and went out and threw it way, and when he came back with the
basin, he said, ‘“‘She did not vomit thatup this time.”

On one other occasion, when the matter vomited by Mrs. Crozier created some
remark by its peculiar appearance, Crozier turned to Dr. Barber and said, ‘‘that is
nothing: I have seen the same before, haven’t you?” Such was the interest Crozier
manitested in the illness of his wife. Her suffering was of no consequence. He
carefully watched her symptoms and the progress of her disease. He coolly pre-
pared the medicine containing the poison and compels her to swallow it; assures
himself by examination that she does not vomit it up; sees that his fatal work is
well done; that death is inevitable, and then deliberately returns to the front veranda
~ of his house and coolly sits down to enjoy the luxury of a cigar.
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When his wife says to him, ‘“I am not ready to die yet,” he says to her without
the least emotion, without a tear or a sigh, ‘“If you are not ready to, nobody is; you
are as ready asany one.’’ |

Gentlemen, in all the history of criminal conduct can you find a parallel to this
brutality? There lay the poor, suffering woman, his wife, giving expression to the
tenderness of her love for her husband, and he by his heartlessness repelling every
sentiment of regard. Telling him in tenderest accents of affection how much she
longed to live for his sake and that of Frankie, her dear son; and he by his manner
exhibiting only an ill-concealed impatience, allowing it to overcome his discretion by
| c'}osﬁ : %he gasping lips of the dying woman before the lingering spirit had taken
its flight.

(Gentlemen, it seems incredible, but it is authefticated by the most credible
testimony; testimony that impresses you with its truthfulness, and except in a
single reagect undisputed by Crozier himself. |

On Wednesday night Mrs. Crozier grew rapidly worse. Her hands and limbs
became cold, and she was apparently near her death. Mrs. Squires was with her
alone. Crozier was in the kitchen asleep on the lounge. The witness says, ‘I
¢ lled George to help me rub Fanny.”” He got up and rubbed her limbs for a little
while, and then he stopped and said, ‘“Cover them up; they’ll get warm,” and then
he went back and laid down. I asked him for mustard, and he said ‘it would do
no good.”” This is the ‘“loving and indulgent husband” described to you by the
counsel for the defense. In the very hour of her sorest trial, with cold-hlooded in-
difference he abandons his wife even in her dying agony. He sheds no tears: he
utters no word of consolation or hope; he exhibits no emotion. He coolly abides
the supreme hour of dissolution, and impatiently awaits the moment when he can
hide in the grave the victim of his awful crime.

Nor, gentlemen, is this all? Knowing the fearful circumstances by which he is
surrounded, consciousof his guilt, he appeals to Emma Crozier, his daughter-in-law,
tosave him. His wife must be proved a suicide. The lasting disgrace of self-
destruction must be fastened upon her memory. To do this he would suborn his
own child. - To do this he frantically appeals to Emma Crozier to testify falsely.
In his frenzy he offers to place her beyond pecuniary want if she will falsely swear
that Mrs. Crozier had tol(f her that she thought she had a cancer in her stomach; as
the foundation for the theory of his defense. Not only would he fasten this disgrace
upon the memory of that dead wife, but he would suborn his own children to
escape the implacable Nemesis that forever pursues the guilty.

. Gentlemen, my duty in this case.is done. I have performed it conscientiously.
The responsibilities of the next hour are with this honorable court and with you.
Into your hands will be committed the destiny of George E. Crozier. It is an awful
- responsibility, and I doubt not that it will be faithfully and fearlessly discharged,
and if you are satisfied of this defendant’s guilt, that you will render a verdict that
-will reassure the people of Yates county that they are to be protected hereafter
against premeditated and deliberate murder.

- The court here adjourned until Wednesday morning at 9 o’clock.

: 4;111; 1§:45?0n Wednesday Mr, Hicks concluded his argument, having spoken about
B1LX nours,
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- Charge to the Jury.

The Court then charged the Jury as follows: :

Gentlemen of the Jury—You have listened to the details of the evidence in this
case with great patience, and you have apparently listened with all fairness to the
comments of the counsel. "You sit here under the oaths you have taken to make a
true deliverance between the prisoner at the bar, who stands charged with the
offence of murdering his wife, and the people; and this you are to do in view of the
evidence in the case upon a calm, cautious inspection of it in all its parts; and I
have no doubt that you will bestow upon it that degree of care which the importance
of the case, not only to the defendant, but also fo the people demands. You are
called upon as jurors, not to pass upon the testimony al.]lone which has been given
before you; you are called here because you are men familiar with the ordinary
affairs of life.. You know the motives, the objects, the intentions, and all the ordinary
circumstances that cluster around the affairs of men. You bring into the jury box
the observations you have made in life, and they go into the consideration of the
case, together with the facts proved by the evidence. In view of this knowledge,
and of these facts, you should look carefully, analyze critically, and see what the
evidence in the case does prove, and when you have thus determined what conclu-
sions are to be drawn from the facts in the case, regardless of every other considera-
- tion except the question of abstract right, you are to render that verdict, doing your
duty like men. | |

he prisoner stands charged with the offence of murder. It is necessary in com-
mencing an examination into the case, that we should understand fully what the
offence is. It is defined in the law as murder in the First Degree, and murder in the
Second Degree. I will read to you the definitions as given in the statutes:

‘“ Such killing, unless it be manslaughter or excusable or justifiable homicide, as
- hereinafter provided, shall be murder in the first degree in the following cases:
““ First, when perpetrated from a deliberate and premeditated design, to effect the
““ death of the person killed or of any human being; second, when perpetrated by
““‘an act imminently dangerous to others, and evincing a depraved mind regardless
“ of human life, although without any design to effect the death of any particular
‘““ individual; third, when perpetrated without any design to effect death, by a
“ person engaged in the commission of a felony.” |

If the prisoner is found guilty of this offence, it must be in this degree.

““ Such killing, unless it be murder in the first degree, or manslaughter, or excus-
‘“ able or justifiable homicide, as hereinafter provided, shal' be murder in the second
% Eiegree”whqn perpetrated intentionally, but without deliberation and premedi-

ation. |

In one case, it 1s done with a deliberate and premeditated design; in the other
case it is.done intentionally but without any deliberate design;—as if two persons were
quarrelling and one kills his antagonist on the instant, intending to do so, but with-
out deliberation. If this man has deliberately administered this poison to his wife,
and from its effects she died, he is guilty of murder in the first degree. The
fact of administering poison to an individual with the intention of killing, neces-
sarily involves premeditation and deliberation. You will, therefore, confine your
attention to this definition of murder in the first degree and whether this case comes
within that definition.

The death of Fannie H. Crozier stands undisputed. The question arises, in the
first Instance, what was the cause of her death? A large amount of evidence has
been spread before you in regard to the medicine administered to her, and the cir-
cumstances under which she died. You have been told by the witnesses what these
were, and you have heard their description of the effect of these drugs upon the
human system. 1t has been told to you that on the occasion of { ¢ sickness of this
woman, she had administered to her sub-nitrate of bismuth, in the liquid and pow-
dered state. Aconite was also administered to her, known among the medical pro-
fession as a virulent poison. These are medicines in common-use by the profession.



54 EVIDENCE IN THE

If it were not for one other fact that stands out here in bold relief, it might be of
some 1mportance for you to consider what would have been the probable effect of
sub-nitrate of bismuth or aconite in the case. It is said that the crude ore of bis-
muth contains arsenic to a greater or less extent than when it iis prepared for medical
use. So far as it may be done, the arsenic is eliminated from, the ore, that the bis-
muth is then comparatively harmless. Evidence has been giiven, showing that bis-
muth taken from the stores here and in Rochester, has been analyzed, and one of
the persons who analyzed it found arsenic, while the other siays he could not find it
in sufficient quantities to re-strain it and put it upon the porcelain vsed for that pur-
pose. Both these men tell you that they did not find in it any amount of arsenic
sufficient to endanger human life. When they tell you thati, they probably tell you
what will relieve vou from one examination, and that is, w'hether the death of this
woman resulted from the use of this sub-nitrate of bismuth. But when another
fact, which appears in the case, is placed before you, it reliesves the case very much
from any discussion of any of the symptoms of sub-nitrate of bismuth of aconite.

- Some two months after the deceased was buried, her bo dy was taken up, and her
stomach and a portion of her liver were delivered to Professor Towler for analy-
s1s. The evidence on the subject comes from the persons wrho made the postmortem
examination, and you are to decide whether any arsenic was placed in the parts
thus delivered to Mr. Towler.  Dr. Tompkins tells you he added nothing. He says
he placed the parts in a glass jar, and delivered them to Prof. Towler. Mr, Towler
analyzed the contents of the stomach and liver,and he tells you that by the tests of the
chemist, he is enabled to pick out the different parts of tihe matter examined; and
it may be well for you to remember that all the medical men in the case tell you
whatever is taken into the human stomach is absorbed duxing life, and passes into
~other portions of the system by absorption; that when lif’e ceases, and that what-
ever remains in the stomach at that time, remains unchaaged; and that if any por-
tion of the substance is absorbed, it is scattered through the system. 1t will readily
occur to you that portions of a poison or anything else t'hus scattered through the
system could not be placed there after death, because :all absorption ceases when

eath occurs; so that, if Prof. Towler found within the walls of the stoemach, with -
in the substance of the mucous membrance lining the stomach, or in the liver, any
portions of the poison, they were there before death. Poriions of it, however, he tells
you, he found in the stomach unabsorbed. This fact is important only for the pur-
pose of leading you to reflect whether any portion of that arsenic was placed in her
remains after she was exhumed from the grave. If any were so placed in the re-
mains it could not have been that which was taken froin the substance of the mu-
cous membrane, or from the portion of the liver which hwe analyzed. When Professor
Towler brings before you the evidence of the fact that he found within the body of
that woman a drachm or over of arsenic—enough, according to the testimony of
every medical witness in the case, to have caused the death of twelve persons—
you will have no doubt that the death was occasioned by arsenic, It would seem
that there could be scarcely room for doubt that this death was caused by arsenic
administered to her by herself or some one else. Indeed the counsel agree that her
death was occasioned by arsenic. |

Then arises the question, by whom was that arsenic: administered? The peo%:le,
in this prosecution, claim that it was administered o her by the prisoner. he
- question for your determination is whether or not it was so administered to her by
him. If it was not, that is an end of the case. She is dead, and dead from the
effects of arsenical poison ; but the prisoner is affected by that only, as you shall
find that the evidence brings home to him the fact of the administration of the
a.rstlanic. If she took it either intentionaly or by accident, the prisoner is not
guilty. ' |

Right here comes a question, raised by the counsel for the defense, which you
should consider and determine, whether this wonian did cause her own death,
either by suicide or mistake. The theory of the defense is that she committed
suicide. That theory they seek to sustain by evidence that she thought she had a
disease of the stomach which would eventually terminate her life, and that, fear-
ing the effect of that disease, she voluntarily took this arsenic for the purpose of
“inducing her own death. Ifshe did that, George E. Crozier did not administer it
to her. You will look through the evidence in the case, and see whether there is
any evidence to lead you fairly to the conclusion that she voluntarily took her own
life. The evidence on that subject, whether she would or not take her own life is
derived from two sources. Her son tells you that the night before she was taken
sick, he had a conversation with her, while she was going from her home to
Remer’s, and that she said she though she had a cancer in the stomach, and said
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she would talke something to ninke way with herself if she thought she had.,  Her
husband says she several times éxpressed to bim, on different occasions, the belief
that she had this disease. It 1s upon the testimony of these two witnesses . that the
counsel builds up the theory that she took the arsenic intentionally, for the pui-
pose of escaping the pain and suffering of such a disease. In addition to that, you
have the testimony of John Truesdell, Elizabeth Truesdell and David Crozier, who
tell you that ffom twd to four years ago, they had been to see a relative of Trues-
dell’s—Mrs. Bush—and they were detailing i the presence of Mrs, Crozier the
agony endured by that woman by reason of her cancer, and that Mrs. Crozier, on
that occasion, sdid if she knew that she had a cancer, and that it was to kill her,
she would take Something to make way with herself rather than be eaten up by
disease as that wbman had been. You will see that this statement of hers is hypo-
thetical. One of the witnesses says he understood that to be an expression of the
horror she had of the disease, simply. If that is so, the expression has no point,
and the only manner in which it can have a point is upon the supposition that she
actually thought she had a cancer. In connection with this, you are to consider
the evidence of ¥'rank Crozier and George Crozier that she thought she had a can-
cer. ‘George Crozier, the prisoner, is a witness. The law allows him to testify,
that ke may explain the circumstances surrounding him and the case. An inno-
cent person may- detail the circumstances of a transaction in such a manner that a
Jury may be eniibled to believe he tells the truth. You are to look at his testimony
fairly and hone stly, and give such degree of weight to it as it is entitled to. But
you eannot avo id the fact that this man stands here testifying with such a degree
of interest as n o human being can have, except when his life is at stake. If the
story he tells iss such an one as commends itself to you as bearing the impress of
+ truth, you shuld believe it, although he has this great interest in the case. In ad-

«dition to this ‘you have the testimony of Frank, who tells you that on the occasion
L have referred to, the night before she was taken sick, his mother told him she
thought she had a cancer in her stomach. You will bear in mind the manner in
which that ;yjoung man testified. I only advert to it that you may recollect his
manner, arixl then consider whether upon the strength of the story of these
two persons, you can believe the tale they tell that that woman did think she had
a cancer in the stomach, and that therefore the contingency had arrived in which
she had said, she would make way with herself.

You will ‘bear in mind that Emma Crozier has been called as a witness, and has
testified in regard to several transactions between herself and the prisoner. She
tells you that after the death of his wife, the prisoner and she had a conversation,
in which e told her he had arsenic in the house, that he got that spring to kill
rats with ; ‘that he said he was afraid his wife had taken it, for she was afraid she
had a cancesr in the stomach, and if so she was going to put herself out of the way.
He says thore was arsenic in the house, and he went to look for it after she died,
and found. it was all gone. On the cross-examination she says he said they had
used part of the arsenic—that it was kept on a shelf in the pantry, and thatihe
found the 'bottle, but that the arsenic was all gone. .This, she says, was before the
body of thie: deceased was exhumed. After the prisoner was put in jail, she says he
asked her if Fanny had not told her that she had a cancer in the stomach, and she
said she had not. “‘He asked me if I wouldn’t say she had told me so, and he said
if I would swear for him, I should never want for anything.”

This testimony is brought here for the purpose of showing a consciousness of
guilt on the part of the prisoner. It is important for the purpose of ase¢ertaining
whether t he deceased did in fact entertain the idea that she had in her stomach a
cancer. The law with regard to that, is this: If the defendant has been engaged
in the act of fabricating testimony—if he has been undertaking to pervert those
sources ot truth which jurors are required to resort to, it is a suspicious circum-
stance against him. Such an effort naturally excites suspicion, and ought to be
carefully considered in estimating the credit to be given, not only in regard to the
fabrication of the evidence, but to other evidence which may come here from a
doubtful or suspicious source. If a man has endeavored to extract false evidence
from one source, you have the right to believe he would do it from another source.
It is true that it does not necessarily contaminate the other testimony ; it does not
necessarily show that the testimony of Frank or of the prisoner himself, in regard
to her having a cancer, is untrue, but it leaves you to look with suspicion upon it.
You will remember, also, that innocent men will sometimes resort to strange expe-
dients. Men of weak nerves or of a timid nature are very apt to resort to such
things, but it leaves, nevertheless, the suspicion surrounding the prisoner who thus
~attempts 1o fabricate testimony. You will take the testimony of these witnesses,
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and determine from gt whether the testimony thus given by Crozier and his son,
that this woman suppbsed she had a cancer in her stomach is reliable, and if you
find it is reliable, then the contingency in which she would resort to self-destruc-
~ tion has been shown to exist, for she believed she had a cancer. But it does not
necessarily follow from the fact that she said she would kill-herself, that she did so.
1If the facts sustain that theory, however, you may infer that she has done this act
1erself, -

But, gentlemen of the jury, there is another consideration, which you will not
forget, in viewing this evidence. This woman lived in that neighborhood, and
was under the care of Dr. Barber, who was her family physician for seven years.—
You will bear in mind that in all that has occurred to this woman during the sick-
ness with which she has been afflicted, and all the complaints she ever made, no
one of these persons who have been produced upon the stand, testifies that she ever
complained to him or her that she thought she had a cancer ; and Dr. Barber says
he never heard that complaint from her. He tells you that he had advised her that
the disease was one of the stomach, arising from dyspepsia, and it is for you to say
whether it is brobable, under the circumstances, that this woman, if she had an
apprehension that she had such a disease as cancer, would not have advised her
medical attendant and her other friends of the fact. |

Did she commit suicide ? For the purpose of determining that question, if you
find that she believed she had a cancer in the stomach, and that she intended to
take her own life, you have that as a reason why she should commit suicide. If
she did not, the motive for the commission of the act by her does not exist in the
case. You should also look at the circumstances of the case and see whether
there is a reasonable probability that she did commit suicide. The evidence dis-
closes the fact that when 'she was sick on the 15th day of July, she called at the
doctor’s and gave an acco nt of it, and said it arose from eating cucumbers. ‘Some
two week’s later, she saiu, in regard to that sickness, that she ate a fried-cake and
drank a glass of lemonade and ate the peel. On the R26th day of July, she says
she.had worked all day, had eaten berries and onions for supper, and had gone to
Mr. Remer’s, and that was not all she had done that day.  She does not attribute
her gickness to cancer of the stomach, but to these things to which I have called
your attention.

In addition to this evidence, it is right that you should look to her relations in
life, and see whether from those you can find anything to induce you to believle
she did or did not take her own life. The evidence discloses a woman evidenty
respected by the whole community, a member of the chureh, who placed her hopes
for future happiness upon the truth she professed, which she must have known for-
bade self-murder. There is no evidence but that she enjoyed life, and there stands
the further fact in the case that Frank, her only child, was at that time making
- preparations for his marriage ; that she was entering into those preparations with
alacrity ; that the last work she did was to go to Remer’s to get money with which
to go to Geneva and obtain clothing for Frank for his marriage. The question
comes up, whether it is probable that such a woman, with such surroundings,
would havetaken her own life. You will also bear in mind that several witnesses speak
of the ogcurrence at her death-bed, and that during all those times she gave no inti-
mation that she had committed any act to produce her death. She talks upon the
subject of dying, and expresses no apprehension of anything hereafter, but says,
“I didn’t know I was so near dying ; I am not ready to go ; there are many things
I wished to do ;’ and she goes on with expressions of love for her family,  Mrs,
Bushnell also speaks of her saying she was not ready to die. Is it probable that
this woman, with this unreadiness to die, had voluntarily taken’this poison to pro-
duce death ? 1 submit these questions to you, as bearing upon the evidence before
you, If you believe the woman took her own life, that is an end of the case, and
the prisoner should be acquitted. If she did not do it, whether he 1s guilty depends
upon other eonsiderations. AR | |

- If this woman did not voluntarily take the poison,did she takeit by mistake ? If she
took the poison by mistake or voluntarily, the effect upon your verdict is precisely
the same—the prisoner is not to be convicted. Upon this sucject you have the tes-
timony in regard to the medicines which the deceased was in the habit of taking. It
‘is undoubtedly true that she was in the habit of taking medicine from a bottle, and
Frank says she turned out some medicine from a bottle into a teaspoon and put it
into some water, which she drank previous to starting for Remer’s. He says the water
in which she put the medicine became milky when it was stirred up. You
have seen the color of magnesia and arsenic in water, as exhibited by the witnesses.
Is it probable that as this woman was about to start upon a ride of six miles to
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Remer’s, she would deliberately turn out a poison that must inevitably produce
death, and that when she came back she took a similar quantity, and that in the
presence of her son?

But, did she do this by accident? You have seen the bottles—the one the mag-
nesia was in, and the one which contained the arsenic, which are produced here
before you. Is it probable that the deceased took it by mistake, having reference to
the size of these two bottles—the magnesia bottle, six or seven inches high, found
in the bureau drawer, and the other, which is a smaller bottle? You will consider
whether the woman could by mistake have taken the wrong bottle, under the cir-
cumstances. | | | :

These are all the facts I deem it necessary to call to your mind upon the question
whether this woman took her own life. You will remember and consider all the
facts in the case bearing upon the question, and gou will decide whether the deceased
did intentionally take this poison and thus produce her death.

If you find that she intentionally or untentionally destroyed her own life, the
prisoner must be acquitted. If you find, however, that she did not destroy her life
in either of these ways, the question arises whether you have here satisfactory
evidence that the arsenic was admisistered to her by the defendant. Crime is
always committed in secret. The criminal seeks to cover -his tracks. It is neces-
sary, in most cases, where we seek to arrive at evidence of alcrime, to resort te cir-
cumstantial evidence ; and that is what the people have done in this case. = There
is nothing strange or unusual in circumstantial evidence. It has no technical
meaning among lawyers, different from the one impressed upon every layman.—
You are as competent to judge of it as any other person. Ivis a class of evidence
upon which men in every day life rely. They resort to it day after day, and a large
proportion of the transactions of life are governed and controlled by circumstantial
evidence. There is no particular number of links in circumstantial evidence, nec-
essary to bring home to a person a convincing knowledge of a fact. One, or two,
or three circumstances, if they have sufficient forge to identify the crime and the
criminal, are sufficient, and one circumstance may be entirely satisfactory evidence
as to who committed a crime. You are farmers; you (})ass by a field of grain and
find the fence down; you go in and find the crop trodden down, and you look
around and find no person and no cattle there ; you find the tracks of the caftle,
and the tracks of a man following those of the cattle out of the gap through which
they necessarily entered ; the circumstances show you that cattle have broken
down the fence, and that they have gone in‘and eaten and destroyed the crop, and
that they have been driven out by a person who entered after them. It satisfies
you that cattle have entered and destroyed your crop, and that they have been
driven out. - You meet, directly afterwards, an individual who tells you, “I saw a
man coming out of the gap, driving cattle ; I didn't know him or the cattle;
I saw the cattle had a brand of S. J, on the hip.”” You know your neighbor has
cattle branded in that way, and you go down to your neighbor’s and find the cattle
there, and the man recognizes them, You have there circumstantial evidence that
your crop has been destroyed by this neighbor’s cattle, and it is as satisfactory evi-
dence to you as if you had seen them enter. D |

All the circumstances adduced for the purpose of proving a particular fact,
should tend to the establishment of this particular fact. and not to the estab-
ment of a contrary fact. In this case the circumstances lead - directly
to' -the fact that Crozier 1s guilty of the offense, and it should not lead
the mind to anybody else as the guilty one, or he cannot be convicted. - When you
have circumstances sufficient to convince your understanding that he was or was
' not the person who committed the act, your verdict will be rendered according to

that fact. You are to look at the facts in this case, and say whether the prisoner at
the bar caused the death of his wife. If he did, he is guilty of murder ; if he did
not, he should be acquitted by you. = R CE S i, Sndk T
1t 18 scarcely necessary that I should adyert to all the evidence in the case intro-
duced for the purpose of sustaining one or the other of these propositions. ~ You
have the testimony of the witnesses before you. This woman is dead from arsenic,
and the question 18, who administered it to her ? | By el S ek AR
1t is another principle of law that men who perpetrate an offense generally have
a'motive for the act they commit. If it is a crime, they have a motive for its com-
mission, Men should be slow to believe a crimeé has been committed, unless some
motive can be conceived for its commission. Motive is not indispensably necessary
to the commission of a crime, but men sometimes act upon motives others know
nothing about. - It is a strong item in a case if you can find a motive which, accord-
- ing to your knowledge of mankind, is sufficient in the mind of the person commit-
ting the act. In this case, the people, understanding the importance of establish.-
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ing a motive; have undertaken to do it by showing what is so often spread before
jurors, the influence gf woman over the actions of men. It is not for me to tel-
you of the strange influence sometimes exercised by women over men. The peol
ple have attempted to satisfy you that this man was influenced by his illicit affec-
tion for the woman who has been named. I leave it for you to decide upon the
evidence as it stands, and upon the arguments which have been adduced, whether
you find a sufficient motive on the part of the defendant to lead him to commit the
offense with which he is charged. If you do, that branch of evidence is here ; if
you do not, he may still be guilty, although you cannot discover the motive. If
y%u cannot find the motive, you should hesitato before you find him guilty of the
offense.
. The only remaining questions arise upon the facts drawn out by the prosecu-
tion for the purpose of indicating that the defendant was the person who adminis-
tered the arsenic to the deceased. @ The arsenic was in the house. @ The evidence
that this man is guilty is derived from his peculiar actions and conduct during the
time of her sickness, and it is made up of a large number of minute circumstances
to which it 1s not necessary that I should particularly call your attention. One of
the circumstances is that he went to the dostors’s and got the powders himself. and
that he took the powders into his own charge. and insisted upon having the admin-
istration of them. Dr. Barber says he left them upon the stand, and gave general,
directions to the persons there how they should be administered. Crozier tells
you he understood that he gave directions to him to administer them. He did
administer them, and you have heard how he did it, and the result which followed,
as testified to by Mrs. Squires, which results were the same as those which follow
the use of arsenic. You have also heard the number of times he administered the
powders ; one he administered on Wednesday forenoon, and another on the even-
ing of the same day. She tells you the manner in which he prepared the powders,
and where he wént to do it.  She also tells you that she was suspicious, and fol-
lowed him to see what he wad doing, and that when she got into the pantry
where he was with the bowl of the spoon in his hand partially closed, he turned
vartially away from her, and afterwards went and gave the powder to his wife,—
ou are not to decide the case upon the suspicion of that witness—that was
the motive which led her to go into the pantry, and observe what he was doing.
Is the evidence, taken in connection with the other evidence in the case, sufiicient
to satisfy you that he was preparing poison at the time?

Another circumstance is introduced in the evidence of Dr. Barber, who  says
he and the prisoner were at David Crozier’s barn, and that David said that Fanny
would probably not last long, and the defendant said he did not want her to be ex-
amined, and that she had an aversion to being cut up, as others had been. - The
people claim that the defendant had the desire to cover up the evidence of his
crime. The defense insist that the defendant did what was exceedingly natural,
and had stated the wish she had, that she should not be cut up, as she expressed
the same in life. The weight of the evidence is entirely for your consideration,
and it has been so fully adverted to that it must be fresh in your recollection. You
are to look at it carefully, and see whether it tends to prove that this man has been
guilty of the offense with which he 1s charged, and if the poison was administered
by him your verdict will be that he is guilty. - - 1 ]

Another branch of the evidence is this : They have produced before you every
person engaged about that woman’s death-bed, and they all tell you that they did
not administer this poison to her. It is necessary. in cases of circumstantial evi-
dence, that it should point to the prisoner as the individual guilty of the offense,
and it should not point to any other person. If the prisoner and these other per-
sons were there, in the absence of proof you might infer that some other person did
it. -~ By calling them as witnesses to the fact the people attempt to excinde any
~such presumption. It is consonant with common sense that a man will not de
scend from a high position obtained by good character, at one step, to crime.  The
defendant has furnished evidence that down to the time this charge was made
against him, his character was good. The effect of this evidence is for you to deter-
mine. If the evidence is doubtful, or if it slightly preponderates against the pris-
oner, it is your duty to presume from his former good characterthat he is not guilty.
But, gentlemen, if the evidence is conclusive that he is guilty. and by the proof of
circumstances adduced here you are satisfied of that fact, then good character will
not avail the prisoner to shield him from the consequences of his crime. It depends
upon the fact, -therefore, whether the circumstances are sufficient in your judg-
ment to satisfy you conclusively that this man is guilty. If heis, your verdict will
be that he has committed the crime of murder. The evidence of his good charac-
teris sufficient to acquit him, however, if the evidence against him but slightly
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yreponderates, by raising a reasonable doubt of his guilt. A reasonable doubt :—
‘he prisoner, in all cases, is entitled to the benefit of every reasonable doubt in

regard to his guilt. You should understand what a reasonable doubt is. Itis not
& mere whim, or a mere guess, or a mere suspicion, but it is such a doubt as
remains when you have looked calmly and dispassionately at the circumstances of
the case, those tending to show that he has committed the crime, and those tend-
ing to show that he did not. If, after such examination, there still remains a
doubt of his guilt, you are to give him the benefit of it. LRt

1 can lend you no aid in your deliberations upon these questions of fact.” . You
are to take the evidence in the case and, looking into your own hearts, examining
your own judgment, say whether you are satisfied that the prisoner is guilty of the
offense of administering this poison to his wife, and: thus depriving her of life, and
if you are so satisfied, it is your duty to convyict him. If you think he-is guiltless of
the offense you are to acquit him. He has rights which are dear to him and which
should be maintained. His wife had rights which were precious to the people, and
this investigation is for the purpose of determining whether a member of society
has been cut off by the hand of a murderer.  The life of the prisoner is precious to
him and to the people, under the law, and he should not ‘be convicted unless you
are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt of his guilt. And when you reach your
conclusion do your duty as jurors and men. g | B! o

Mr. Morris excepted to the charge that every person present at the time of Mrs.
Crozier's sickness had sworn that she did not administer the arsenic. ) g

The Court: I do not mean to be so understood. 1Ileavethat question to the
jury. and they will remember the evidence and be governed by it. '

The jury then retired to deliberate.

The Verdict—Guilty !

- A1 5:30 P, M. the jury came into Court. and after the roll was called, the clerk
asked the usual question, * Gentlemen of the jury, have you agreed upon your ver-
dict?” Peter L. Dinturff, the foreman, arese and replied, ‘We have.” Clerk :—
“* What is your verdict ? Do you find the prisoner at the bar guilty of the felony
and murder whereof he is indicted, or not guilty ¥ Foreman: * GUILTY !” Ry

The jury were polled, and each declaredsthat to be his verdict.

Mr. Morris then moved that sentence be deferred until the next ‘morning, to give
him time to prepare to move for a new trial upon the minutes, The ‘motion was
granted, and the prisoner was remanded to the custody of the Sheriff. The Court
then took a recess until the following (Thursday) morning, at 81§ o’clock. -

On Thursday morning, by 814 o’clock, the court room was completely filled with
spectators, anxious to witness the final proceedings in ‘‘the great trial.” . AR

A thousand eager eyes were upon George K. Crozier as he was ushered in to
hear from judicial lips the decree condemning him to death; and his keen con-
sciousness of the position was evident in his wan and dejected appearance. oo
- Mr. Morris briefly addressed the Court, stating that for twelve hours he had
been denied the privilege of a private interview with his c¢lient in. the jail. The
Court conceded that he might now have such an interview in the grand jury room.
When the prisoner and his counsel retired for eonsultatio . District Attorney Stew-
art explained that the night before Sheriff Bogart had. g ven a general order to
allow nobody to have access to the prisoner, but it was not intended to” prevent Mr.
Morris communicating with him. . |

When the prisoner returned.into court with his counsel, Mr. Morris moved a
suspension of sentence until Friday morning, that he might have time to prepare
for a motion for a new trial. The motion was denied. - | & ot P

He then moved for a new trial upon the minutes. The Court also denied that
motion, stating that since the conviction they had looked carefully through the
case, and could discover no ruling which prejudiced the rights of the prisoner.

Mr, Morris then asked for sufficient time previous to the execution to allow him
Lo prepare a writ of error. |

AIstrict Attorney Stewart then moved that sentence be pronounced upon the
prisoner, in accordance with the verdict of the jury.

His Honor, Judge Rumsey, then said :

GEORGE CROZIER, STAND UP! You have been convicted of the offense of murder.
What have you to say why. upon that conviction, the sentence of the law should
now be pronounced upon you? | .

~ CROZIER.—Your Honor, 1stand before you. and T expect to stand before my
Heavenly Father, to answer for what I have done here. 1 claim my innocence, 1
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claim that the testimony given by Emma Crozier, my daughter-in-law, against me
is utterly false. I stand before God and before these witnesses and protest my
innocence,

The Sentence.

CouRrT.—We hope your assertion that you are innocent in this matter is true; but
you have been convicted on the verdict of your peers, twelve citizens of your
own county, of having, on the 29th dayof July last, murdered your wife, Fanny H,
Crozier, by administering to her a deadly poison—arsenic. It is manifestly a con-
clusion forced upon them, contrary to their inclinations, by the convincing evidence
of your guilt, spread before them during this protracted trial.

~ This crime of which you are convicted has in it some features which render it
exceedingly unpleasant to contemplate. The woman against whom i1t was com-
mitted gave you her early love, and trusted to your care her earthly happiness ;
she was the mother of your child, and you solemnly promised to love, cherish and
protect her. So far as we can judge from the evidence in the case, she merited other
and kindlier treatment from you than she received; for she wasa loving and trusting
wife, an affectionate mother, and a Christian woman. This trust on her part you
abused, and she took unquestioned from your hand the deadly drug which con-
signed her too soon to her grave. I trust that inthis hour of your calamity it may
be a pleasant reflection for you that, relying fully upon the hopes held out to her by
the religion she professed, she was not unprepared for her entrance into eternity.
Her anxiety was not for her own safety, but for the happiness of her husband and
her child. May your own end be as peaceful, and your entrance into that eternity
to which you wiﬂ soon go, be as calm and reliant as was hers.

I refer to your offence, only that you may fully realize the awful situation in
which you are placed. The crime of which you have been convicted is one upon
which the world looks with no allowance,—for which it has no charity,—for it
involves treason against the highest and holiest relations known to human society.
You can, therefore, have no reasonable expectation or even hope that executive
clemency will be extended to you, or that you can in any way escape the dread pen-
alty which the law enforces upon you for your crime. If you are wise, you will at
once prepare for the event which awaits you. = L ShE ain i h

. Commending you to the kindly care of your Creator, and to the means which He
has provided for your salvation from . your sins and your crimes, it only remains
that I pronounce the sentence which the law imposes upon your offence, which is,
that you be taken hence to the county jail of the county of Yates, there to remain
until Friday, the 5th day of May next, and that on that day, at some convenient
place, to be provided by the sheriff of that county, between the hours of ten o’clock

in the forenoon and two o’clock in the afternoon, you be hanged by the neck until
you are dead. _

As the solemn and terrible conclusion of the sentence was uttered, an audible
groan was expressed by the doomed man, and his son, sitting near him, was con-
vulsed with emotion. Crozier was then taken back to the jail, there to await the
final consummation in the chain of tragic and melancholy events which has led to
this conviction. ' Since the sentence Crozier has uniformly asserted his innocence of
the monstrous erime of which the jury have declared him guilty, and contends that
he is the victim of ¢ircumstances, which, however strong they may appear, have
been unjustly interﬁtéd' against him. But the popular verdict very generally
is in harmony with' that of the jury. |
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